

MS-831: Jack, Joseph, and Morton Mandel Foundation Records, 1980 – 2008. Series E: Mandel Foundation Israel, 1984 – 1999.

Box	Folder
D-1	2045

CJENA. A Time to Act. Drafts, 1990.

For more information on this collection, please see the finding aid on the American Jewish Archives website.

> 3101 Clifton Ave, Cincinnati, Ohio 45220 513.487.3000 AmericanJewishArchives.org

Kire hilver

A TIME TO ACT

עת לעשות

The Report of

the Commission on Jewish Education in North America

DRAFT

September 1990

אלול חשין

Convened by the Mandel Associated Foundations, JWB, and JESNA in Collaboration with CJF

THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

The Commission on Jewish Education in North America was established to launch an unprecedented undertaking -- to pool the emergies and resources of all sectors of the Jewish community in a common effort to enlarge the scope, raise the standards, and improve the quality of Jewish education.

The idea of forming the Commission was conceived by Mortom L. Mandel and his brothers Jack N. Mandel and Joseph C. Mandel of Cleveland, Ohio and financed by the Mandel Associated Foundations.

The Commission reflected the diversity of the North American Jewish community and included outstanding community leaders, scholars, educators, rabbis, leaders of the Orthodox, Conservative, Reconstructionist, and Reform denominations, and the heads of the principals of leading family foundations.

A partnership of the communal and private sectors, the Commission was convened by the Mandel Associated Foundations, the JCC Association, and JESNA in collaboration with CJF. It met six times over a period of two years, from August 1, 1988 to June 12, 1990.

* * * *

JCC Association

The Jewish Community Center Association of North America (formerly JWB) is the leadership body for the North American network of JCCs and Ys.

JESNA

The Jewish Education Service of North America is the organized community's planning, service, and coordinating agency for Jewish education.

CJF

The Council of Jewish Federations is the umbrella organization for Jewish community federations in North America.

MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION

Morton L. Mandel Chairman		
Mona Riklis Ackerman		President of the Riklis Family Foundation
Ronald Appleby		Active in Toronto Jewish Congress, Jewish Nation-
		al Fund, Council of Jewish Federations, United
		Jewish Appeal
David Arnow		North American Chair, New Israel Fund
Mandell L. Berman		President, Council of Jewish Federations
Jack Bieler	**	Chairman of High School Judaic Studies, Hebrew
		Academy of Greater Washington
Charles R. Bronfman		Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation
John C. Colman		President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan
		Chicago
Maurice S. Corson	**	President, the Wexner Foundation
Lester Crown	*-	Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theologi- cal Semimary of America
David Dubin		Executive Director, JCC on the Palisades
Stuart E. Eizenstat		President of the Jewish Community Center of
		Greater Washington and Homorary Vice-President
		of the American Jewish Committee
Joshua Elkin		Headmaster, Solomon Schechter Day School of
		Greater Boston in Newton
Eli N. Evans	••	President, Charles H. Revson Foundation
Irwin S, Field		Director, Jewish Agency for Israel
Max M. Fisher		Former Chairman, Board of Governors, the Jewish
		Agency for Israel
Alfred Gottschalk		President, Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute
		of Religion
Arthur Green		President, Reconstructionist Rabbinical College
Irving Greenberg	**	President, the National Jewish Center for Learning
		and Leadership
Joseph S. Gruss		Founder, Fund for Jewish Education
Robert I. Hiller		President, the Zanvyl Krieger Fund
David Hirschhorn	••	Businessman, active in national and local Jewish communal affairs
Carol K. Ingall		Executive Director, Bureau of Jewish Education of
Cator In Ingon		Rhode Island
Ludwig Jesselson		Past President and Chairman, UJA/AFederation of
		Jewish Philanthropies of New York Joint
		Campaign
Henry Koschitzky		Past Chairman, Board of Jewish Education,
yy		Toronto
Mark Lainer		Vice-President, Jewish Education Service of North
		America
Norman Lamm		President, Yeshiva University

Safa S. Lee		Director, Rhea Hirsch School of Education, Hebrew Union College
Seymour Martin Lipset	**	Caroline S.G. Munro Professor of Political Science and Sociology and Senior Fellow, Hoover
Haskel Lookstein		Institution, Stanford University Principal, Ramaz Schook; Rabbi, Congregation Kehilath Jeshurun
Robert E. Loup		Past National Chairman, National Center for
Matthew J. Maryles		Learning and Leadership (CLAL) Chairman, Fund for Jewish Education,
wiaumew J. Waryles		UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of
		New York
Florence Melton		has initiated projects in Jewish and secular education
Donald R. Mintz	••	President, Jewish Comunity Centers Association of
		North America
Lester Pollack	* +	President, Jewish Community Centers Association
		of North America
Charles Ratner		Chairman, Cleveland Commission on Jewish
		Continuity
Esther Leah Ritz	**	Past President of Jewish Comunity Centers
and building and a		Association of North America
Harriet L. Rosenthal	~*	Vice-President, JCC Association
Alvin I. Schiff		Executive Vice-President, Board of Jewish
		Education of Greater New York
Ismar Schorsch	••	Chancellor and Professor of Jewish History, Jewish
D		Theological Seminary of America
Daniel S. Shapiro		Past President, Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York
Margaret W. Tishman		Immediate Past President, UJA/IFedenation of
Margaret W. 11200030	*-	Jewish Philanthropies of New York
Isadore Twersky		Rabbi, Professor and Director of the Harvard
Provinging the thirt of the t		University Center for Jewish Studies
Bennett Yanowitz		President, Jewish Education Service of North
Erweitigt & Million Ite		America (JESNA)

COMMISSION STAFF AND CONSULTANTS

Senior Policy Advisors

David S. Ariel		President, Cleveland College of Jewish Studies
Seymour Fox		Professor of Education, the Hebrew University,
		Jerusalem
Annette Hochstein	**	Director, Nativ Policy and Planning Consultants,
		Jerusalem
Stephen H. Hoffman		Executive Director, Jewish Community Federation
		of Cleveland
Martin S. Kraar		Executive Vice-President, Council of Jewish
		Federations
Arthur J. Naparstek		Professor of Social Work, Case Western University
Arthur Rotman		Executive Vice-President, JWB
Carmi Schwartz		Executive Vice-President Emeritus, Council of
		Jewish Federations
Herman D. Stein		Professor, Case Western Reserve University
Jonathan Woocher	**	Executive Vice-President, JESNA
Henry L. Zucker		Director, Commission on Jewish Education in
		North America

Director

Henry L. Zucker

Research and Planning

Seymour Fox, Director Annette Hochstein, Associate Director

Staff

Estelle Alberg		Research Assistant, Nativ Consultants, Jerusalem
Mark Gurvis	-	Director of Social Planning and Research, Jewish
		Community Federation of Cleveland
Virginia F. Levi		Program Officer, Premier Industrial Foundation
Debbie Meline		Research Assistant
Joseph Reimer		Assistant Professor, Benjamin S. Hornstein
		Program in Jewish Communal Service, Brandeis
		University
		Consultants
Prof. Michael Inbar	**	Basst Dean, Faculty of Social Sciences, the Hebrew
		University, Jerusalem (Research and Methodology)
David Finn		Chairman of the Board, RuderFinn
		(Communications)
Dena Merriam		Editorial Director, RuderFina (Communications)
David Finn		Bast Dean, Faculty of Social Sciences, the Hebrew University, Jerusalem (Research and Methodology) Chairman of the Board, RuderHimm (Communications)

Former

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUM	MARY
CHAIRMAN'S PRE	FACE
CHAPTER 1: Facin	g the Crisis2
CHAPTER 2: The F	Realities of Jewish Education Today88
CHAPTER 3: Estab	lishing Priorities and Developing a Plan24
CHAPTER 4: A Blu	eprint for the Future
CHAPTER 5: A Tin	ne to Act
ACKNOWLEDGEN	(ENTS
APPENDIX A:	MembersoofthecCommissionoonJewishEEdaca tion in North America
APPENDIX B:	Staffand@onsultantstochbe@onmisisioroon Jewish Education in America
APPENDIX C:	PappersCommissionedfoothheCommissionon Jewish Education in America
APPENDIX D:	SSourcesaaddRR & ferances
APPENDIX E:	ConsultationsaddM4eeinggs
APPENDIX F:	OdderForm

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

[Now being prepared; to include statement by Twersky]

.

CHAIRMAN'S PREFACE

[To be written following Commission's comments on report]]

CHAPTER 1: FACING THE CRISIS

The Crucial Importance of Jewish Education in Contemporary Jewish Life

There is a deep and widespread concern in the Jewish community today that the commitment to basic Jewish values, ideals, and behavior may be diminishing at an alarming rate. A substantial number of Jews no longer seem to believe that Judaism has a role to play in their search for personal fulfillment and communality. This has grave implications not only for the richness of Jewish life but for the very continuity of the Jewish people.

Throughout history Jews have faced dangers from without with courage and steadfastness; now a new kind of commitment is required. The Jews of North America live in an open society that presents an unprecedented range of opportunities and choices. This extraordinary environment confronts us with what is proving to be an historic dilemma; while we cherish our freedom as individuals to explore new horizons, we recognize that this very freedom poses a dramatic challenge to the future of the Jewish way of life. The Jewish community must meet the challenge at a time when young people are not sure of their roots in the past or of their identity in the future. There is an urgent need to find better ways to ensure that Jews maintain and strengthen the commitments that are central to Judaiism. In our uniquely pluralistic society, where there are so many philosophies and ideologies competing for attention, and where the pursuit of Judaism increasingly involves a conscious choice, the burdem of preparation for such a decision resides with education. Jewish education must be compelling == emotionally, intellectually, and spiritually -- so that Jews, young and old, will say to themselves: "I have decided to remain engaged, to continue to investigate and grapple with these ideas, and to choose an appropriate Jewish way of life." Jewish education must be sustained, expanded, and vastly improved if it is to achieve this objective. It must become an experience that inspires greater numbers of Jews to learn, feel, and act in a way that reflects a deep understanding of Jewish values.

A System Under Strain

The difficulties facing Jewish education bear some resemblance to the problems of education in general in North America. Well-known reports have documented the serious lack of teaching talent and a slackening of academic standards, as well as other problems facing the educational system. A severe lack of funds, resources, status, and vision is causing the system to strain and crack. Jewish education is equally impoverished in regard to these basic requirements.

In North America today, Jewish education is often limited in scope: at times it is confined simply to teaching facts about Jewish history and holidays and some study of the Hebrew language. Many additional elements that should be central to the mission of Jewish education -- such as Jewish values and ideals, the attachment to the State of Israel and concern about Jews throughout the world, the meaning of prayer, the relationship with God and community -- are often lacking. It is imperative that at this moment in history Jewish education become a formative rather than merely an informative experience. Without such change, it will be increasingly difficult to pass on to future generations a strong identity with and commitment to Judaism.

Motto

The core of Jewish education must be character education. Its goall must be no less than shaping the inner lives of people. It must find a way to transmit the essence of what Jewish life is all about, so that future generations of Jews will be impelled to search for meaning through their own rich traditions and institutions. Judaiism must present itself as a living entity and give the Jews of today the resources to find answers to the fundamental questions of life as readily as it did for their ancestors through the centuries. Otherwise it could eventually be overtaken in the minds of many people by other systems of thought they feel are more meaningful for the modern world.

This dangerous state of affairs is in no small measure the result of the historical, social, and cultural factors that have affected the prioritizes of the Jewish community. While there has always been support for Jewish education from the religious denominations (the Orthodox, the Conservative, and the Reform), and while many outstanding schools, community centers, and summer camps have been established, the leaders of the organized Jewish community have focused that stock to deal with other, tion on other serious issues, which explain that completing fax cuse the present situation

Competing Demands

At the turn of the century, the chief emphasis was on financial support for the indigent newcomers and on their Americanization. In the '20s and "30s, the Jewish community focused on providing health and social services and to dealing with problems of anti-Semitism. During the post-war period, the highest priority was given to the life-saving work of Jewish relief, rehabilitation, and reconstruction, and to building the state of Israel. Subsequently, the succession of wars in the Middle East became the primary concern. Currently, the Jewish community is mobilized for the rescue and resettlement of Soviet Jewry.

In the face of such life-and-death issues, the needs of education have seemed to be less urgent, less insistent, more diffused; a problem that could be dealt with at some point in the future when more pressing problems have been solved. This is an illusion. We may continue to live with emergencies indefinitely, but we can no longer postpome addressing the needs of Jewish education, lest we face an irreversible decline in the vitality of the Jewish people.

The attitudes of the Jewish community have also been influenced over the years by the desire of many to become fully integrated into American society, and by their belief that an intensive Jewish education was not consistent with the achievement of this goal. One of the $C^{A}LdA^{A}O^{B}$ consequences of this outlook is the rise in intermarriage and the turning away from Jewish traditions in the search for fulfillment and meaning in life. According to a recent Gallup (Israel) Poll of American Jews, conducted in December 1989, the number of intermarriages has sharply increased in the past couple of decades. Currently, 28% of Jews under the age of 40, more than one in four, are intermarried, compared with 16% of Jews between the ages of 40 and 59. These figures affects affects with studies of individual communities in North America undertaken in recent years.

A Weakening Commitment to Jewish Life

Research data indicate that Jews who intermarry are significantly less likely to provide their children with a Jewish education. NA study of children of intermarriages shows that only 24% of children in dualfaith households identify themselves as Jews A Ω_{12} compared in M = dZr = 4fT m live + i y $\int_{\Omega_{12}} \Omega_{12} = 0$

Another symptom of the problem is that while a large majority of Jewish children have at one time or another received some form of ' KaAiMUL' I''' Jewish education, if thas often been so sporadic field it has had little impact on their lives. A recent study found that over half of Jewish school age children in the United States are not currently enrolled in any kind of Jewish schooling. Inevitably, children with little or no Jewish schooling will grow up with a relatively weak identification with and understanding of Judaism, and have difficulty passing on to

their children an appreciation of the beauty and richness of Jewish life.

In the past, the Jewish family and the Jewish community had certain bonds that gave them remarkable inner strength. Jews grew up in families and neighborhoods with a strong Jewish ambiance. They were constantly surrounded by the symbols and customs of Jewish life. They came into contact with their cultural and spiritual heritage in a variety of institutions and settings. Thus young people received a strong sense of Jewish identity through experiences in their everyday life. Today these neighborhoods and the way of life they represented have all but disappeared, as has the lifestyle that brought ongoing contact and interrelationship with grandparents and extended family members.

The weakening commitment to Jewish life, which can already be seen in the lives of the current generation of young adult Jews, may become even more apparent among their children and grandchildren. This painful prospect, which community leaders can foresee in their own families as well as in the community at large, has brought to a head concern about the quality and mission of Jewish education.

It was to meet this estallenge that the idea of creating the Commission on Jewish Education in North America was born.

mond ~

CHAPTER 2: THE REALITIES OF JEWISH EDUCATION TODAY

Coming to Grips with the Problem

The underlying assumption that guided the Commission was that the North American Jewish community had the capacity to mobilize itself for education as it had in the past for the building of the State of Israel, the rescue of Jews in distress, and the fight against discrimination. This would require that all sectors of North American Jewry join forces, pool their energies and resources, and launch an unprecedent ed undertaking to enlarge the scope, raise the standards, and improve the quality of Jewish education. To accomplish this, the Commission would first the current state of Jewish education in its $=/t_{0.0}$ int.

The Diversity of the Field

It is clear that Jewish education today encompasses a broad range of learning experiences. Hundreds of thousands of American Jews of all ages are currently involved in one way or another in formal and informal educational programs. A multitude of institutions offer a wide variety of educational activities. Many of these institutions are under the auspices of individual religious denominations -- the Orthodox, the Conservative, the Reconstructionist, the Reform. Others are

tearse

part of communal or ideological organizations. Altogether they inelude day schools, yeshivot, supplementary schools, synagogue-based programs of study and informal activities, community centers, programs at colleges and universities, youth movements, summer camps, educational visits to Israel, early childhood programs, adult and family programs, retreat centers, and museums. Thousands of educators some estimates say 30,000 -- staff these institutions and activities. [See Table 1, next page.]

In addition, there are many other ways in which Jewish content is communicated to the Jews of North America -- through the print and broadcast media, cultural events, films, books, and lectures. All of these combined contribute to the diversity and richness of the field of Jewish education.

Shortcomings in Specific Settings

Despite the extensive range of activities, Jewish education is not activeling4to missiofil Exposure to existing Jewish educational programs leaves many North American Jews indifferent to Judaism, and unwilling or unable to take an active part in Jewish communal living.

Why is this happening?

what are the reasons?

Although all of these institutions and areas of activities offer great promise for Jewish education, they are each plagued by serious problems. Supplementary schools, for instance, have for years reached the

TABLE 1: THE KNOWN FACTS AND FIGURES OF JEWISH EDUCATION

JEWISH POPULATION

	United States (1987)	Canada (1989)
Total	5,944,000	310,000
j School age 1 (ages 3-17)	880-950,000	57,000

- 1. Day Schools
- 2. Supplementary Schools
- 3. Jewish Community Centers
- 4. Camping
- 5. Youth Movements
- 6. Educational visits to Israel
- 7, Early Childhood Programs
- 8. Adult Education
- 9. Retreat or Conference Centers
- 10. Family Education
- 11. College-age Programs

600-800 schools, 120,000 participants

1600-1800 schools, 280,000 participants

220 centers and branches, close to 1 million members, many more occasional partici pants in activities

120,00 children in day camps; 85,000 children in residential camps

75,000 members; another 25,000 occasional participants

25,000 participant in a large variety of programs

50,000 participants

5% 108% of the adult population participate in formal and informal programs

in 50 cities in North America

over one hundred family programs ranging from one-time activities to family camps or year-long courses

over 600 colleges and universities offer courses and academic programs in Judaica. About 100,000 students are served by Jewish agencies on campus. largest number of Jewish children in the United States. Yet they continue to face difficulties in motivating students who have spent a full day at public school, who have ongoing homework responsibilities, and who have a variety of competing interests such as televisiom, sports, music, and other leisure-time activities. Over the past several decades, there has been a significant decline in the role and quality of such schools, and there is a wide perception among American Jews that this kind of education is not succeeding. The curriculum and the educational impact are very uneven. As one commissioner put it, "As long as Sunday school is something you have to live through, rather than enjoy, it cannot be valuable. So many of Jewish-Americans have had an impoverished Sunday school experience as their only Jewish education."

Day schools have been increasing in number and size of student body; however, they still only reach 12% of the total Jewish student population. At present, the vast majority of Jewish parents are unwilling to enroll their children in a school environment they perceive as parochial. Moreover, policy makers question the prospects of continued growth in light of the high cost of tuition, which is prohibitive even for many middle class families.

Jewish Community Centers are engaged in a major effort to make Jewish education a central element in their programming; the challenge facing them is whether it will be possible to convert this institution into a major force for Jewish education within a framework that is primarily recreational, social, and cultural.

Early childhood programs under Jewish auspices have been growing in number because increasingly both parents work. However, many of these programs have not made Jewish education their primary focus.

Jewish education programs on college campuses could potentially reach a large portion of the estimated 400,000 Jewish students who attend colleges and universities. Yet at the present time, they reach only a fraction of this audience. Therefore, on most campuses, the impact of these programs is limited.

It is well known that Israel speaks powerfully to its visitors, but it is extremely underutilized as a resource for Jewish education. The majority of American Jews have never been to the country, and many formal and informal Jewish educators have not availed themselves of Israel's educational resources.

Both family and adult education are growing in importance and participation; however, at present there is an insufficient body of knowledge about how to make these programs work. For the most part, they involve infrequent meetings and suffer from a dearth of appropriate educational materials. Youth movements, which at one time were powerful feeders for community leadership and Jewish professional life, have lost a good deal of their vigor and are suffering from a declining membership.

Although there have been some remarkable success stories in Jewish summer camps, such camps tend to be expensive, and many do not have Jewish education as their central purpose.

Finally, there is no question that the print and broadcast media, and imnovative forms of learning through the use of computers, museum exhibitions, films, and videocassettes, offer tremendous opportunities for the future of Jewish education. But this is still a virtually untapped field, and few quality programs have been created.

Overall Problems

In addition to the shortcomings specific to each area of Jewish education, there are overall problems that affect the entire field. Sporadic participation, deficiencies in educational content, a-lack of reliable data, inadequate community support, and an undeveloped profession of Jewish education -- all of these problems manifest themselves in each of the settings, forms, and age groups.

a topical discontinuity]

Sporadie Participation

Jewish education is a voluntary system. This means that unlike the obligation for continuing participation that is accepted in general education for given age groups, in Jewish education attendance is discretionary. With so many diversions and competing interests at work in North American society today, sustained involvement can only be achieved when there is genuine engagement and commitment. The lack of such involvement has resulted in a general pattern of sporadic participation for all types of Jewish educational activities. This state of affairs is in conflict with the fundamental commitment that Judaism requires for lifelong learning.

There are close to one million Jewish children of school age in North America. Most of these children, perhaps as many as 80%, have attended some form of Jewish schooling at least one time in their lives. However, for many, attendance is often short-lived and sporad-TVe *pyltcJU* ic. Close to 600,000 children currently do not receive any form of Jewish schooling. Only some 400,000 in the U.S. (about 40% of all Jewish children), and 32,000 in Canada (about 55%) are currently enrolled in any Jewish school. The problem is more pronounced with children over Bar Mitzvah, Bat Mitzvah, or confirmation age, when attendance drops by more than 60%. (See Figure 1)



FIG 1: AVERAGE ENROLLMENT IN SUPPLEMENTARY SCHOOL PER AGE AND GRADE LEVEL (U.S., 1982/3)

14

Over a twenty-year period, from 1962 to 1982, total enrollment in Jewish schools in the U.S. declined by nearly 35%. It is estimated that about half of this decline reflects a lessening interest in Jewish schooling, the other half negative demographic trends (the end of the baby boom). It is interesting to note that during this time period the most extensive form of Jewish education in the U.S., the supplementary school, declined by about 50%, from 540,000 to 280,000, while day school enrollment rose from 60,000 to 110,000, a rise of 80%. (See Figure 2) However, even for day school, attendance falls off sharpily after elementary school.



FIG. 2: ENROLLMENT U.S.: 1962 & 1982

Part of the difficulty encountered in Jewish schools, particularly the supplementary school, is the discrepancy between what takes place in the school setting and the environment at home. If there is no appreciation or respect for Jewish values and traditions in the home environment, it is indefisitant able why children will not be motivated to participate seriously and continuously in Jewish schooling.

A study based on direct observation of supplementary schools reveals a clear connection between a child's home life and the effectiveness of Jewish education:

... the explanation for failure of students in the Jewish school lay in their parents' and their own perception that there was no compelling reward to be expected from their education.... The 12-year-olds who complained that "Hebrew school doesn't matter" were speaking truthfully about the attitudes and behaviors they saw valued at home and in the community. For them, going to Harvard "counted"; studying a portion of the Torah did not (Schoem. 1982, p.318).

Studies show that interest in Jewish learning continues to drop as Jews enter adulthood. Among college-age students, no more than an estimated 25% avail themselves of Jewish education services. And only one in ten Jewish adults continues to be involved in any type of orgamized Jewish learning.

Deficiencies in Educational Content

Much of the subject matter presented in Jewish education fails to inspire students. One reason is that Jewish education has not yet had the benefit of enough high-quality professional thinking and plamming in the areas of curriculum development and educational content.

Although general education is beset by many problems in this regard, it continues to invest substantial resources to create centers that specialize in such areas as science education, the teaching of the humanities and social sciences, and the development of methods of language instruction. Very little of a comparable nature is being done in the field of Jewish education.

For example, there are few centers that specialize in developing effective methods for teaching the Hebrew language, Jewish history, and the great Jewish texts -- the Bible, the Talmud, and the key philosophical writings from the medieval period to the present day. Very few teachers have been encouraged to specialize and take leadership in any of these areas. Nor have they been supported in their efforts to create educational materials for Jewish schools and informal educatiom. Consequently, there is a dearth of appropriate curricular and educational materials for early childhood education, the day and supplementary schools, informal education, and adult education.

As a result of this deficiency, the vast majority of Jews are not adequately exposed to the great ideas of the Jewish tradition. And without such awareness it is virtually impossible to develop a deep and lasting commitment to Jewish learning.

17

The Lack of Reliable Data

Very little research on Jewish education is being carfied out in North America. There is a paucity of data about the basic issues, and almost no evaluation has been made/to assess the quality and impact of programs.

Because of this, decisions are taken without the benefit of clear evi-A dence of need, and major resources are invested with insufficient monitoring. We do not know what people want to learn, and we seldom know what works in Jewish education. We do not even know much about what students know at different stages of their education. There are not enough standardized achievement tests. There is not suffliciently accurate information on the number of teachers in the system, their qualifications, and their salaries.

We also need more extensive investigation into the history and philosophy of Jewish education in order to enrich the creative process that will help design the Jewish education of tomorrow.

Inadequate Community Support

The Jewish community has not yet recognized the indispensable role it must play in order for Jewish education to achieve its goal. Community leaders have often failed to make the connection between the educational process and the knowledge that leads to commitment. It is for this reason that the top community leadership in North America has, for the most part, not rallied to the cause of Jewish education as it has to other pressing needs of the Jewish people. The constituencies of so many national and local organizations have also not yet recognized that Jewish education is indispensable to their futures.

As a result, the environment in the Jewish community is not favorable to the kind of massive investment that is required to bring about systemic change. This affects the priority given to Jewish education, the status of the field of Jewish education, and the level of funding that is granted.

Inevitably, the lack of community support limits the aspirations, inhibits the vision, and stifles the creativity of those involved in all aspects of Jewish education.

The Undeveloped Profession of Jewish Education

There is a severe shortage of talented, trained, and committed personnel for the field of Jewish education. It is estimated that there are some 30,000 positions for Jewish education in North America, of which 5,000 are full-time. There will be several thousand positions in the school system that are unfilled when school opens in September. Yet only 101 students graduated in 1989 from all Jewish education training programs. The vast majority of the available teaching positions will be filled by individuals who have not been trained as Jewish educators. Most of those who enter the field do so with far less education tham their counterparts in the public education system. Thus, while over half of public school teachers hold a Master's Degree, this is true of only a small percentage of teachers in Jewish day schools. It is estimated that nearly one out of every five (17%) teachers in day schools do not have a college degree. Fewer than half of the teachers in the supplementany schools have had a high school Jewish education. Informal educators are trained in various disciplines but receive almost no pre-service training in Jewish education.

One reason for the difficulty in attracting serious professionals to the field is the part-time nature of many of the teaching positions. Of the total number of Jewish school teachers, it is estimated that only about 15% to 20% hold full-time positions. Isa Aron and Bruce Phillips have reported in "Findings of the Los Angeles Bureau of Jewish Education Teachers Census" that only 23% of all the teachers in Los Angeles teach more than 20 hours per week, while 54% teach under 10 hours.

Low salaries, a serious problem in general education, is even more prevalent in Jewish education. Only 14% of Jewish educators in Los Angeles earn \$20,000 or more, while 41% earn under \$3,000 a year. Only 20% receive health benefits. In 1988 supplementary school teachers, carrying a 12-hour work load per week, earned an average annual salary of \$9,000. Early childhood teachers earned \$8,000 to \$10,000. Full-time day school teachers, carrying a 30-hour work load per week, earned an average annual salary of \$19,000. These figures

ĉ

are lower than the average public school teacher's salary of \$25,000 for kindergarten teachers and \$30,000 for elementary school teachers (according to the latest National Education Association figures), which in itself is recognized as woefully inadequate.

Moreover, throughout the United States, supplementary Jewish education experiences a high rate of teacher turnover. According to the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland's Report on Jewish Comtinuity, in 1986 there was an annual teacher turnover rate in Cleveland schools of approximately 20%, and other communities around the country have a similar pattern. By some many many teacher K W4A -- :

Another problem is that often the best teachers in the schools find themselves promoted to the role of school principals. The ladder of advancement in Jewish education is essentially linear — from teacher to assistant principal to principal. There is almost no opportunity for advancement that would enable talented teachers to assume leadership roles and specialize in the teaching of such subjects as Hebrew, the Bible, Jewish history, or in the fields of early childhood, family education, and special education. This lack of specialization is yet another deterrent for many individuals who might otherwise enter the field: it limits both the professional and intellectual growth of teachers.

Few Jews today are choosing Jewish education as a career, and this will leave the next generation of young Jews educationally impoverished unless something is done to reverse this trend. Arych Davidson, in "The Preparation of Jewish Educators in North America," reports that teaching faculty at the training institutes are also in short supply. This year, all training programs together have only eighteen full-time faculty who specialize in Jewish education. It is obvious that so small a faculty cannot possibly undertake the many assignments that the training institutions must fill.

As one considers these problems, it becomes obvious that the salariess, training, working conditions, and status of Jewish educators have an important bearing on the problems of recruitment and retention of qualified personnel for the field of Jewish education. For Jewish education to become an attractive profession, it will have to develop clearly defined standards, appropriate terms of employment, a high level of training, and a network of collegial support.

Prospects for the Future

The review of the field of Jewish education presents a disturbing but not necessarily discouraging picture. When faced with the realities of Jewish education today, the commissioners recognized that while there g e t are great shortcomings that need to be overcome, there are also significant examples of outstanding successes in every one of the settings in which Jewish education takes place.

> Behind them are the

Above all they were mindfal that there are many dedicated and inspiring educators who, despite their difficult working conditions and lack of recognition in the community, succeed in engaging the minds of their students, and help them find their way within the Jewish tradittion.

The challenge facking The Commission was to study the conditions that would make it possible for such successful programs to be replicated and for outstanding educators to serve as models for the entire field.

the commissioners recogniged that

problems that beset the field were faced squarely. Only then could the Commission develop"a-plan that would enable Jewish education to achieve its mission and become a powerful force in contemporary Jewish life.



CHAPTER 3: ESTABLISHING PRIORITIES AND DEVELOPING A PLAN

A Way to Begin

The source of many aspects of Jewish education which stigently peeding of factors with the strength of the state of the strength of the state of the strength of the state of the strength of

as m

Focusing the Work of the Commission

Comglissioners identified 23 specific areas of education (see Table 2), each of which would be important enough in itself to warrant the attern." A tion of a special commission. The question wasihow to select those that would have the most significant impact and be most likely to effect $\frac{1}{1}$ substantial change in the field of Jewish education. The 23 areas were analyzed in terms of this question.

TABLE 2: Areas Suggested for the Commission's Agenda

- 1. The early childhood age group
- 2. The elementary school age group
- 3. The high school age group
- 4. The college age group
- 5. Young adults
- 6. The family
- 7. Adults
- 8. The retired and the elderly
- 9. The supplementary school
- 10. The day school
- 11. Informal education
- 12. Israel experience programs
- 13. Integrated programs of formal and informal education
- 14. The Hebrew language, with special initial emphasis on the leadership of the Jewish community
- 15. Curriculum and methods
- 16. The use of the media and technology (computers, videos, etc.) for Jewish education
- 17. The shortage of qualified personnel for Jewish education
- 18. The Community -- its leadership and its structures --
- as major agents for change in any area
- 19. Assistance with tuition
- 20. The physical plant (buildings, laboratories, gymnasia)
- 21. A knowledge base for Jewish education (research of various kinds: evaluations and impact studies,
 - assessment of needs, client surveys, etc.)
- 22. Innovation in Jewish education
- 23. Additional funding for Jewish education

The Community field but Example, it would not make sense for the Community for the concentrate on a particular educational setting, since each of these-touch only a segment of the Jewish population. Similarly, the form this concers were reluctant to focus on V specific age group, since sll-ages are important. $AxAl.deA^{A}$ Attention was particularly dfawn that affect the entire system -- sporadic participation, deficiencies in educational content, lack-officiable data, an underdeveloped profession of Jewish education, and inadequate community support.

Upon analysis, it became clear that the mosnfundamental problems facing Jewish education are an underdeveloped profession of Jewish education and inadequate community support.

There is a shill have of Wellt trained and dedicated educators the every area of Jewish education. They are needed in order to motivate and engage children and their parents, to create the necessary educational materials and methods, to design and carry out a wide variety of research studies.

Ko attact

Thus

However, only-if there is a fundamental change in the nature of comminity support for Jewish education is it likely that large numbers of talentsid young people will taken tracted to careers in Jewish educar." tion. Only if community leaders will give Jewish education the high" priority it deserves on the local and national agenda will the resources necessary for a program of major improvement be obtained. Only if the climate in the community is supportive of Jewish education will

ilfuste colucato - hules

qualified teaching personnel be attracted to its new career opportuni-

ties.

When the line both both of the Common scharte of an Here then was the that to teveloping a comprehensive plam. The *ktcMJ be Unclair* Commission's of work focas of these two necessary conditions for the change and improvement: T

tense

- Personnel -- developing a genuine profession of Jewish education
- o The community -- recruiting leadership, securing funding, and developing appropriate structures.

Becault These two areas would touch upon all of the others. They could therefoperbe considered whe "building blocks" of Jewish education, upon which major improvement of the entire Jewish educational system rests: defend.

Developing a Comprehensive Approach

There have been noteworthy attempts in the past to deal with the serious shortage of qualified educational personnel. Efforts have been made to raise salaries and to recruit students for training programs; however, dealing with single elements has not met with success. Indeed, talented people will not be recruited to training programs, unless these lead to attractive positions. Reasonable salaries will not solve the problem of retention unless there are prospects for advancement and growth.

In fact, the commissioners mainsult hat any plan developed by them would have to be comprehensive and devoted simultaneously to recruiting and training large numbers of qualified educators as well as to building career opportunities and offering reasonable salaries and

(came to the conclusion

benefits. The Commission of plath would not mote with successIEit

addressed only one of these elements; they must be addressed simultaneously.

The commissioners also Redfeed that personnel and the community were interrelated, each being dependent on the other for success for Jewish education to attract talented and dedicated Jews to the field, these individuals must believe that the Jewish community will give them the resources necessary to make the difference.

Ley also exceed that one should paced on that a source of the same time the community will only be mobilized for the cause of Jewish education iff it believes that a highly qualified profession of Jewish educators is being developed.

the Judge outlook of the Commission Was that As work with the "building blocks" proceeds, it will provide the foundation for improvements in programmatic areas -- schools, JCCs, summer camps, Israel experience programs, curriculum development, and the sophisticated use of the electronic media. With large numbers of talented and well-trained educators entering the field, new and creative approaches in these areas will be developed. yMAUAA curry A lend Keuseles to developed.
Short-Range and Long-Range Strategies

Because of the vast scope of the field of Jewish education (\$20,000 educators, thousands of educational institutions) it would be a meelute difficult to bring about across-the-board changes throughout North America within a short time period. Moreover, education takes place locally, in communities and in institutions., Thus both a part of four short-range and long-range strategy would need to be disveloped and they would include both local and continental components.

an ist marted

fy/

The short-range plan would concentrate on creating local models $w_j UL$ through which the Jewish community could learn what works best in Jewish education. It would demonstrate in a small group of communities what could happen if sufficient numbers of outstanding personnel are recruited and trained, if their efforts are supported by the community and its leadership, and if the necessary funds are secured to maintain such an effort over a period of several years.

The long-range plan we little out on establishing a North American infrastructure for recruiting and training increasing numbers of qualified personnel. This would involve working with training institutions to expand their faculties and facilities, to develop innovative training programs, and to establish extensive on-the-job training programs.

The plan weak also call for a major effort in the community to take the steps that would raise Jewish education to the top of the

communal agenda and create a better environment -- a better climate -for Jewish education.

Implementing the Plan

pligueld thus revolve cround the dea high The core of the Commission's plan weak-be to infuse Jewish educa-CL b of the state of the second state of the s Simila dedicated, and well-trained educators. These educators must be able to work in a congenial environment, sustained by a Jewish community that recognizes Jewish education as the most effective means for perpetuating Jewish identity and creating a commitment to Jewish values and behavior.

To accomplish this objective, an entity would have to be created to ensure the enactment of the many phases of the Commission's plan. A research capability would also have to be established to provide reliable data on work being done and monitor the impact of various activities.

The ultimate goal would be to bring about across the board improvement in as many aspects of Jewish education as possible for all segments of the Jewish community.

CHAPTER 4: A BLUEPRINT FOR THE FUTURE

A series of concrete steps were worked out by the Commission as a

blueprint to achieve the objectives of its overall plan. These steps r (i)IAstr would have plan would be more than a list of worthw goals. coll 5 # 111. K 4 4 0 and would set in motion a process that extil bring about tangible resuits over a period of time.

The plan includes the following elements:

- I. Building a Profession of Jewish Education
- II. Mobilizing Community Support
- III. Establishing Lead Communities

Recruitment

- IV. Developing a Research Capability
- V. Creating the Council for Initiatives in Jewish Education

I: Building a Profession of Jewish Education

Profession building will be accomplished by taking steps in the areas of recruitment, developing new sources of personnel, training, improve-

ment of salaries and benefits, career track development, and the

empowerment of educators. Effort alled. Will filming increte meanes

A major marketing study will be conducted to identify those segments of the Jewish population in which there are potential candidates for careers in Jewish education, and to determine what motivations or incentives would be most likely to attract gifted people to the field. Thus, for instance, while it is obvious that equitable salary levels are an important motivating factor, there is some evidence that the empowering educators to have an increased impact on the lives of students is even more significant.

The marketing study will help determine how to reach the key target groups for recruitment -- graduates of day schools, students participating in Jewish camps, college students studying in serious Judaica departments, students participating in Israel experience programs, and professionals at mid-career who are looking to make career changes.

Based on the results of the mariffitting study, a major recruitment plan will get underway. This may involve visits by educational consultants and trained recruiters to the major colleges and universities that have large Jewish populations. It may also include visits to Jewish summer camps, consultations with participants in work/study programs in Israel, and meetings with participants in community center activities.

An important part of the recruitment plan will be spreading the word through articles, speeches, seminars, and other forms of communications that Jewish education is about to undergo a major transformation. These efforts will help stimulate the interest of potential candidates in key target groups. Promotional materials (newsletters, brochures, videos, etc.) may be produced to maintain a constant flow of informa-



tion to these groups, thereby creating an awareness of the exching changes that are taking place in the field.

Developing New Sources of Personnel

There is a reservoir of young Jews who are outstanding academics and professionals in such fields as education, philosophy, sociology, and psychology who would welcome the opportunity to make a contribution to Jewish life for a few years. Such individuals will be recruited as Fellows of Jewish Education, bringing their expertise to the field of Jewish education in areas such as curriculum, teaching methods, and the media. They will serve as consultants to educators and educational institutions, and will help monitor and evaluate specific programs.

Another source of talent will be outstanding college students who are specializing in Judaica at colleges and universities, or are graduates of day schools and of Flebrew speaking camps. Although they may be heading for careers in law, medicine, or business and are not planning a yA, lifelong career in education, many such students weakly be attracted to A attracted to the idea of joining a Jewish Education Corps. This will involve spend tag several years of service in the Jewish educational system -= as teachers in supplementary or day schools and as educators in community centers and other informal programs. The Jewish Education Corps will be similar in some respects to the Peace Corps. Agreements will be made in which these young people commit themselves to a fixed number of teaching hours a week for a set number of years. They will undergo special training and agree to pursue studies in Judaica during

mild

Excelled

this time period, while also continuing their general studies. In exchange for their teaching services, they will receive appropriate remuneration.

Fast-Track Programs will be created for young men and women majoring in Judaica at colleges and universities who are attracted to the new opportunities in Jewish education. Because of their knowledge of Jewish subjects, they can be prepared in a relatively short period of time to assume important educational positions. It is estimated that there are hundreds of potential candidates for such positions wheo are urrently studying Judaica subjects. Unlike the Jewish Education Corps, Fast-Track Programs will prepare students to enter full-time careers in Jewish education. They will steer students toward some of the prime educational positions that will be created as a result of the Commission's plan.

Career-Changers are also a promising source of new personnel for Jewish education. These are individuals in their thirties and forties who are interested in making major career changes to find more personally satisfying and more emotionally rewarding work. People from the corporate world, the legal profession, the arts, and other fields are turning to general education as a way to make a serious impact on the next generation. Those with good Jewish backgrounds represent an important potential for Jewish education. They bring with them a degree of maturity and life experience that can be extremely valuable.

34

Such individuals will be recruited for Jewish education as part of the Commission's program.

Training

To expand the The X comfills stonis plan at for-an-expansion of training opportunities W A ... the plan cells for several measures the in North Americal Student bodies and faculties of current training institutions will be enlarged; new training programs for specialized fields and subjects will be developed; leadership training programs will be established; and in-service education for practicing educators will be expanded. To accomplish this, substantial funding will be secured for program development, for additional faculty positions, and for student fellowships. One foundation participating in the Commission's work has already made significant grants to help initiate such efforts.

The immediate target is to increase the number of graduates of the training institutions from the current level of 100 annually to at least 400. Thus over a 10-year period, significant progress will be made in filling the estimated 5,000 full-time positions in the Jewish educational system with well-trained personnel.

This expansion will require the enlargement of the full-time educational faculty in training institutions. New faculty positions will be filled by recruiting outstanding practitioners in the field, scholars from yeshivot, and academics from universities. Specialized programs will be created to prepare educators for new positions in such fields as informal educa-

tion, early childhood education, family education, and the teaching of Bible, history, Hebrew, and other subjects.

A cadre of leaders will be prepared to assume key positions in Jewish education -- professors of Jewish education, researchers, curriculum developers, teacher trainers, directors of bureaus, heads of community centers, and principals for model and experimental schools. Promissing candidates will be selected at mid-career to participate in tailor-made programs. Other programs will be developed in North America, similar to the Jerusalem Fellows in Israel and the Senior Educators at the Hebrew University in Jerusalem, which have succeeded in recruiting, training, and placing more than 100 educators in leading positions throughout the world.

In-service education through seminars and conferences will be organized by the training institutions as well as departments of Judaica at warious general universities in North America and in Israel. Financial assistance will be provided to individuals in the Jewish educational system in order to make it possible for them to participate in these new programs. In time, this should become standard practice and basic to the professional growth of all of those who are working full-time in formal and informal education.

Improvement of Salaries and Benefits

Salaries and benefits for educational personnel must be substantially increased in order to be competitive with other fields attracting talentr-

For this provide a



ed Jews today. Unless this problem is addressed, it will be difficult to convince our most gifted young people to devote their lives to Jewish education will be made as to appropriate remuneration levels necessary to retain dedicated and experienced educators, and funds will be raised to cover the additional costs. There are a number of communities and institutions which have already takem steps in this direction and can provide helpful models for this process.

The role of federations in this area will be crucial. Once standards are developed for different salary levels and bemefits, local federations will be encouraged to incorporate these in their fundraising targets and allocations. Public reports will be issued periodically on the progress being made in regard to increasing salary and benefits in Jewish education throughout North America.

Career Track Development

A career development program for educators will be created to provide for professional advancement. Front line educators such as teachers will be offered a variety of career path options. At present, the only path of advancement open to teachers is linear -- from teacher to assistant principal to principal. The new options will make it possible for teachers to assume leadership roles without having to move into admimistration. An expert in early childhood education or in teaching the Bible or Hebrew can make as important a contribution to Jewish education as the principal of a school. Appropriate positions will be created to enable such experts to play a larger role in the school system and thus have influence beyond his or her classroom.

The Empowerment of Educators

Gifted educators need to be empowered to have an influence on curriculum, teaching methods, and the educational philosophy of the institutions in which they work. Active programs will be undertaken with the institutions and agencies involved with Jewish education to develop ways of granting educators the opportunity to be involved in the decision-making process and play a meaningful role in the administration of schools and community centers.

This will require a reorientation of educational policy. Schools will be encouraged to develop incentives for teachers who show special promise in this regard. New positions with appropriate status will be developed for those who have the desire and ability to contribute significantly to the educational direction of their schools. Progress is already being made along these lines: one family foundation involved in the work of the Commission has already developed a program that will provide awards to creative educators who have developed outstanding programs.

Each of these elements will contribute significantly to building a profession of Jewish education. Talented people will be attracted to the W_{-} AVEXUE f, M_{-} AVEXUE f, $M_$

adequate salaries and benefits, and berecognized as playing a leading role in determining the future of the Jewish people.

II: Mobilizing Community Support

A number of strategies will be developed to increase community support for Jewish education. Efforts will be made to recruit top community leaders, to increase funding, and to bring about a fundamental change in the community's attitude toward Jewish education.

Recruiting Community Leaders

Credeavor

Top community leaders will be recruited individually to the cause of Jewish education by members of the Commission and other influential personalities who are able to convey the urgency of providing support for Jewish education. The North American Jewish community has demonstrated an unusual capacity to deal with major problems when they are addressed by the very top community leaders.

Efforts will be made to involve lay leaders who are members of the boards of Jewish schools, synagogues, and JCCs in the Commission's plan. Members of local federations will be made aware of the steps that have to be taken in their local communities in order to improve Jewish education.

The star 15 Telear. As one commissioner observed, a majority of

community leaders must rally to the cause of Jewish education. "The

39

chances are," he said, "that in 1980, only a few of these leaders thought Jewish education was the burning issue, many thought it was important, and the rest didn't spend much time thinking about it. In 1990, it may well be that there are significantly more community leaders who think that education is a burning issue, more who think it is important, and fewer who don't give it too much attention. The challenge is that by the year 2000, the vast majority of these community leaders should see Jewish education as the burning issue and the rest should think it is important. When this is achieved," the commissioner concluded, "Magney will be available to figure the massive program envisioned by the Commission."5

Increased Funding for Jewish Education

The revitalization of Jewish education will require a substantial increase im funding – to raise teachers' salaries and benefits, to provide new positions, to increase the faculty of training institutions, to provide fellowships for students, and to develop new training programs and expand in-service education.

Long-term support for Jewish education will be provided by current sources, tuition income, congregational and organizational budgets, and fundraising, as well as by gradually increasing federation allocations. An exciting new development that holds great promise for the field is the serious entry of strong private foundations into Jewish education. This is unprecedented. A number of foundations, some represented on the Commission, have decided to invest substantial sums in Jewish education and indeed are already doing so. They have agreed to support specific elements of the Commission's action plan. Also, federations, through their endowment funds and other fundraising initiatives, will be encouraged to support key aspects of this plan.

Changing the Community's Attitude toward Jewish Education The very creation of the Commission on Jewish Education in North America in 1988 which brought together for the first time scholans, community leaders, educators, heads of family foundations, and the leaders of the Orthodox, Conservative, Reconstructionist, and Reform Movements visignaled the readiness of the Jewish community to join together in a massive effort to reform Jewish education. Over a twoyear period, its deliberations have themselves helped to create a climate in which major change can take place.

A potential base of larger support in communities in North America is evidenced by a number of local commissions on Jewish education/ continuity that have been established in the past few years (there are already more than 10 such commissions). The important work being done by the JCC Association through its Commission on Maximizing the Jewish Educational Effectiveness of Community Centers demomstrates the results that can be achieved when community support is galvanized. The regional conferences recently organized by JESNA ---which will culminate in a continental conference --- is heightening community awareness of the crucial significance of Jewish education to meaningful Jewish continuity. The Commission's report will inform all segments of the Jewish community that Jewish education will be undergoing a period of genu- $1 \quad y \quad 1 \quad tj$, ine revitalization. It will be given wadespread distribution so that ip JA user that the Jr Jewish leadership throughout the country will be aware that this plan is not just another symbolic gesture or limited endeavor, but is the initiation of a broadscale effort. The report will be made available to and members of the boards of congregations and schools, and tofleaders of all Jewish religious, educational, social, and communal organizations.

As the plan developed by the Commission gets underway, a continuing flow of information will inform community leaders about the progress being made. Communications through all available channels will be sustained in the months and years ahead concerning the implementation of the programs.

Seminars and conferences will be organized for community leaders to acquaint them with the many different aspects of the plan that are will lbc vuyr being carried out. It wilf be important for them to be aware of the role they can play in helping to build a profession of Jewish education.

W GV The Commission has-decided-to continue its existence and to meet once a year, at which time it will issue an update to inform the Jewish community on the progress of its plan. These annual reports will also be widely distributed to important sectors of the Jewish community,

42

Ht?

しう

III: Establishing Lead Communities

Many of the activities described above for the building of a professiom of Jewish educators and the development of community support will take place on a continental level. However, the plan also calls for intensified local efforts.

Local Laboratories for Jewish Education

Three to five model communities will be established to demonstrate what can happen when there is an infusion of outstanding personnel into the educational system, when the importance of Jewish education is recognized by the community and its leadership, and when the necessary funds are secured to meet additional costs.

These models will be called "Lead Communitiess," because their sachigyengets will serve a leadership function for other communities throughout North America. They will become laboratories in which to discover the educational practices and policies that work best. They will become the testing places for "best practices" -- exemplary or excellent programs -- in all fields of Jewish education.

0

Each of the Lead Communities will engage in the process of redesigning and improving the delivery of Jewish education through a wide array of intensive programs.

Selection of Lead Communities

Fundamental to the success of the Lead Communities will be the commitment of the community and its key stakeholders to this endeawor. The community must be willing to set high educational standards, raise additional funding for education, involve all or most of its educational institutions in the program, and thereby become a model for the rest of the country. Because the initiative will come from the community itself, this will be a "bottom-up" rather than a "top-dowm" effort.

A number of cities have already expressed their interest, and these and other cities will be considered. The goal will be to choose those that provide the strongest prospects for success. An analysis will be made of the different communities that have offered to participate in the program, and criteria will be developed for the selection of the sites.

Once the Lead Communities are selected, a public announcement will be made so that the Jewish community as a whole will know the promann is underway. - the sale selected. e

Getting Started

Among the first steps to be taken in each Lead Community will be the creation of a local planning committee consisting of the leaders of the organized Jewish community, rabbis, educators, and lay leaders in all New I the organizations involved in Jewish education. They will prepare a report on the state of Jewish education in their community Based definition. They find find a final find fings, a plan of action will be developed that addresses the

specific educational needs of the community, including recommendations for new programs.

An inventory of best educational practices in North America will be prepared as a guide to Lead Communities (and eventually made available to the Jewish community as a whole). Each local school, community center, summer camp, youth program, and Israel experience program in the Lead Communities will be encouraged to select elements from this inventory. After deciding which of the best practices they will UA' adopt, the community will develop the appropriate training program so that these can be introduced into the relevant institutions. An important function of the local planning group will be to monitor and evaluate these innovations and to study their impact.

The Lead Communities will be a major testing ground for the new sources of personnel that will be developed. They will be a prime target for those participating in the Fellows program as well as the Jewish Education Corps. In fact, while other communities around the country will reap the benefits of these programs, the positive effects will be filest apparent in the Lead Communities.

The injection of new personnel into a Lead Community will be made for several purposes: to introduce new programs; to offer new services, such as family education; and to provide experts in areas such as the teaching of Hebrew, the Bible, and Jewish history.



45

By recruiting people from these and other sources, the Lead Communities will be able to effect a major change in the quality of Jewish education. The experience will also provide an opportunity for newly recruited educatops to participate in this historic endeavor.

Thus Lead Communities will serve as pilot programs for continental efforts in the areas of recruitment, the improvement of salaries and benefits, the development of ladders of advancement, and generally in the building of a profession.

IV. Developing a Research Capability

A research capability for Jewish education in North America will be developed to create the theoretical and practical knowledge base that is indispensable for change and improvement. A comprehensive, longrange research agenda will be outlined by the best thinkers to the continent. It will involve ongoing studiestis weftras the creation of settings where scholars and practitioners can think together systematically about the goals, the content, and the methods of Jewish education, frwill include procedures for the evaluation of each component of the Commission's plan and the gathering of new information concerning the state of Jewish education generally.

The research will be carried out by professional research organizations and by departments at universities, as well as by individual scholars. The results will be disseminated throughout the Jewish community for use in short-term and long-term planning. Data on Lead Communities will be analyzed to ensure that their individual programs are educationally sound and are meeting with success.

V: Establishing the Council for Initiatives in Jewish Education

Pif Q

A new entity, the Council for Initiatives in Jewish Education, will be created to see to it that the plan of the Commission is implemented, both on continental and local levels.

The Council will be a significant enterprise but modest in size organizationally. It will not be established as a direct service provide fto the Oxe with the operate as place any existing institution or organization. It will instead operate as a catalytic agent, working through the efforts of others -- JESNA, JCC Association, CJF, the institutions of higher Jewish learning, the demomimational departments of education, and the professional educational organizations. No existing organization plays this role today in Jewish education, and the professional education of the operational

To carry out its mission, the Council will be a strong advocate on behalf of Jewish education. It will develop comprehensive planning programs and experimental initiatives for the two building blocks -- personnel and community -- to achieve breakthroughs in Jewish education. It will designate the Lead Communities and work with them to initiate their programs. It will provide a setting in which creative people in institutions, organizations, and foundations can work together to develop new undertakings in Jewish education.

The Council will be an independent body. Its Board of Trustees will be drawn from among the leaders of the foundation community, continemtal lay leaders, outstanding Jewish educators, and leading Jewish scholars. The initial annual operating budget of the Council will cover the cost of staff and facilities to carry out its work.

Spreading the Word: The Diffusion of Innovation

Another major function of the Council will be to set up a processs whereby communities around the country will be able to learn, adapt, and replicate the ideas, findings, and results of the Lead Communities. In this phase of the Council's work, continental organizations -- espedally JESNA, JCC Association, CJF, and the denominations ---will play a critical role, since they will provide the means by which this processs can be effected.

The Council will encourage these organizations to develop procedures that will accomplish this objective through published reports, seminars, editorial coverage in the Jewish and general media, on-site visits to Lead Communities by community leaders and educators, and eventually through training programs for community leaders around the country.

48

As Lead Community programs begin to bear fruit, plans will be developed by the Council to establish new Lead Communities. At the end of the first five years, it is expected that the initial Lead Communitiess will have matured and developed a momentum of their own towards a continually improving educational system. By that time, another three or four Lead Communities may be added to the plan. These communities will be able to move forward at a more rapid pace, based on what is learned in the first communities.

The process of adding new communities should be a continuing one, so that in time there will be a growing network of active participants in the program. It also may be possible to establish a new category of Lead Communities that will function as associates of the original communities. This program will thus have a ripple effect, and as time goes on, be extended into an increasing number of communities throughout North America.

CHAPTER 5: A TIME TO ACT

During the two-year process of working out the details of a blueprint for the future, an underlying question surfaced from time to time as to whether -- in the present environment -- even the most successful achievement in Jewish education could make a fundamental difference in the outlook of a new generation of Jews.

It was clear that there continues to be a core of deeply committed Jews whose very way of life ensures meaningful Jewish continuity from generation to generation; however, the entire thrust of the Commission's thinking was directed at the much larger segment of the Jewish population which is finding it increasingly difficult to define its future in terms of Jewish values and behavior.

The commissioners realized that there was no way to guarantee that education is going to resolve this issue for the majority of Jews today. But it is also clear that education is the only means by which this goal can be achieved. The same is true in other fields of human endeavor. Thus, while there is no guarantee that the medical profession will find the cure to all diseases, we know that without effective hospitals, welltrained doctors, and systematic medical research, it will not be possible $x^2 \frac{1}{10}$ to achieve any progress in health care. Similarly, without effective educational institutions, outstanding educators, and the meaningful presentation of the great ideas of the Jewish tradition, it will not be possible to bring about a deepening involvement of Jews with Judaiism. Perhaps the most important question the Commission faced was: How seriously can the Jewish community in North America be committed at this time to such a mission? The Commission was confident that the blueprint it developed was realistic and could, indeed, provide the foundation for a new era in Jewish education. However, results could only be achieved if there was the will and determination to make an enormous investment of resources and energies in the decades ahead. At the conclusion of their deliberations, the commissioners were convinced that the will is there and that the time to act is now.

As the commissioners evolved their ambitious plan for the future, they *dJb Mvofree* became increasingly excited about the wide range of educational possibilities it would arise once the building blocks were firmly estab-'tx[#] lished. They foresaw a time when the field would attract some of the most creative Jewish minds of our era, bringing entirely new approaches to education.

One of the most dramatic opportunities for future development diseussed during the Commission's meetings iffin the area of telecommunications. The enormous success of recent television programs of Jewish content on both public and commercial networks, is a clear indication of the vast potential of this new field. The explosion of cable television suggests that one day it may be possible with the flick of a dial to tune in to programs of Jewish dance, music, drama, interviews with Jewish writers and political figures, and to receive daily programs from Israel. Indeed a new "electronic village," as described by one of the commissioners, will in the near future enable Jews of all ages to interact with many aspects of their Jewish heritage on a continuing basis.

Many other technological developments -- such as the use of computers, video disk technology, multi-media exhibitions -= will provide a firamework in which great educators can communicate with vast audiences. This will be particularly significant in regard to that segment of the Jewish population which is not involved in organized Jewish life.

Equally impressive developments will take place in other programmatic areas, as the Commission's plan gets under way. The infusion of educartional institutions, such as schools and community centers, with new energy, and the expansion of educational programs in other institutions such as museums and libraries, will open up new vistas for Jewish education.

The timeliness of this whole endeavor was dramatized by the great upheavals that are taking place on the world stage and in Jewish life == communist dictatorships are being supplanted in Eastern Europe, the U.S. and the U.S.S.R. are moving towards a reduction of armaments and tensions, a great exodus is taking place of Jews from the Soviet Union to Israel.

The Commission's work was not occasioned by any of these historic developments, but it was not immune to their impact. They gave even

greater weight to its purpose, for it is the values and learning central to Jewish education that bind our people together around the globe and make us sensitive to the repercussions of external events. It is these values and this fearning from which Jews in the Soviet Union have been cut off for generations, and for which they are now thirsting. North American Jewish communities are also awakening to their own need to provide these underpinnings for themselves and their children.

Ultimately, the Commission recognized as it completed its work that the measure of its achievement would be the degree to which its program would enable contemporary Jews to fulfill the biblical injunction: "And these words, which I command thee this day, shall be upon thine heart; and thou shalt teach them diligently unto thy children, and shalt talk of them when thou sittest in thine house, and when thou walkest by the way, and when thou liest down, and when thou risest up."

(Deuteromomy 6:4-9)

APPENDIX A:

MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

<u>Mona Riklis Ackerman</u> (Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Dr. Ackermann is a clinical psychologist and President of the Riklis Family Foundation. She is active in UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York and American Friends of Rechov Sumsum.

<u>Ronald Appleby</u> (Q.C.), Toronto, Ontario -: Mr. Appleby is Chairman of the law firm of Robins, Appleby & Taub, involved mainly in business income tax consultations; he speaks and writes regularly on this subject. He is active in many civic and Jewish causes, including the Toronto Jewish Comgress, Jewish National Fund, Council of Jewish Federations, and United Jewish Appeal.

<u>David Arnow</u> (Ph.D.), New York, NY "- Dr. Arnow is a psychologist, North America Chair of the New Israel Fund, and Chair of the UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York Subcommittee on Governance.

<u>Mandel L. Berman</u>. Southfield, MI -- Mr. Berman is formerly President of Dreyfus Development, a real estate development company. He is immediate past Chairman of the Skillman Foundation, President of the Council of Jewish Federations, and a past President of the Detroit Federation. He served as Chairman of the American Association of Jewish Education and is Honorary Chairman of JESNA. He is a member of the Board of the Dreyfus Corporation.

Jack <u>Bieler</u> (Rabbi), Silver Spring, MD -- Rabbi Bieler is Coordinator of High School Judaie Studies and Lead Teacher at the Hebrew Academy of Greater Washington. He has served as Chairman of the Talmud Department at the Joseph H. Lookstein Upper School of Ramaz, Permanent Scholar-in-Residence of Congregation Kehilath Jeshurun, and is a Jerusalem Fellow.

<u>Charles R. Bronfman</u>. Montreal, Quebee =- Mr. Bronfman is Co-Chairman and Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Seagram Company, Ltd., Chairman of the CRB Foundation, President of UIA Canada, and Honorary Chairman of Canada-Israel Securities, Ltd. He is active in many other civic and Jewish causes. John C. Colman. Glencoe, IL -- Mr. Colman is a private investor and business consultant. He is a member of the Executive Committee of the American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee, President of the Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago, Chairman of the Center for Social Policy Studies in Israel, and is active in a wide variety of Jewish and general institutions.

<u>Maurice S. Corson</u> (Rabbi, D.D.), Columbus, OH -- Rabbi Corson is President of the Wexner Foundatiom. He was a Director of the Jewish Community Relations Council of Philadelphia, Executive Director of the United Israel Appeal of Canada, and Associate Director of Development for B'naii B'rith International. He is active in many Jewish and civic causes. Prior to entering the field of communal service, Rabbi Corson served as a congregational rabbi in Baltimore, Maryland; Ventnor, New Jersey,; and Seattle, Washington.

Lester Crown. Chicago, IL ---Mr. Crown is President of Henry Crown and Company, Chairman of the Board of Material Service Corporation, and Executive Vice-President of General Dynamics. He has served as Chairman of the Board of the Jewish Theological Seminary of America.

<u>David Dubin</u>. Tenafly, NJ -- Mr. Dubin is Executive Director of the Jewish Community Center on the Palisades and author of several articles in <u>The Journal of Jewish Communal Serv-</u> ice on Jewish education within Jewish community centers.

Stuart E, Eizenstat. Washington, D.C. -- Mr. Eizenstat practices law in Washington, D.C. and teaches at the Kennedly School of Government at Harvard University. He was Director of the Domestic Policy Staff at the White House under the Carter Administration. He is President of the Jewish Community Center of Greater Washington and Honorary Vice President of the American Jewish Committee.

<u>Joshua Elkin</u> (Rabbi, Ed.D.), Newton, MA -- Rabbi Elkin is Headmaster of the Solomon Schechter Day School of Greater Boston, Newton, Massachusetts. He has taught in the Jewish Education concentration of the Hornstein Program in Jewish Communal Service at Brandeis University and is a Jerusalem Fellow.

<u>Eli N. Evans.</u> New York, NY -- Mr. Evans is President of the Charles H. Revson Foundation which supports programs in urban affairs, Jewish and general education, and biomedical research policy. He has written two books on the history of Jews in the American South. Irwin S. Field. Cerritos, CA -- Mr. Field is President of Liberty Vegetable Oil and Director of Luz International, Ltd. He is Vice-Chairman of the Jewish Federation of Los Angeles and a past National Chairman of the United Jewish Appeal. He serves many other national and international organizations.

Max M. Fisher. Detroit, MI -- Mr. Fisher was Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Jewish Agency for Israel, President of the Council of Jewish Federations, and President of the United Jewish Appeal. He was Chairman of United Brands Company and has been involved with many other corporations and civic and Jewish organizations.

Alfred Gottschalk (Rabbi, Ph.D.), Cincinnati, OH -= Dr. Gottschalk is President of the Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion and Professor of Bible and Jewish Religious Thought. He is founder of the School of Jewish Communal Service and Chairman of the Academic Committee of the U.S. Holocaust Memorial Council. He also serves as Vice-President of the World Union for Progressive Judaissm. He has written extensively on education and Jewish intellectual history.

<u>Arthur Green</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), Wyncote, PA -- Dr. Green is President of the Reconstructionist Rabbinical College and the author of many books and articles, including <u>Tormented</u> <u>Master: A Life of Rabbi Nahman of Bratslaw.</u>

<u>Irving Greenberg</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Rabbi Greenberg is President and co-founder of CLAL: the National Jewish Center for Learning and Leadership. He founded and chaired the Department of Judaic Studies at City College. He has taught and written widely on Jewish thought and religion and is author of <u>The Jewish Way</u> (New York 1988).

Joseph S. Gruss. New York, NY -- Mr. Gruss is former head of Gruss & Company. He established the Fund for Jewish Education in New York in association with UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies. He has provided full medical and financial support to Jewish educators, grants to 400 Jewish Day Schools and Yeshivot and to community organizations dedicated to Jewish outreach, and funds for school building renovations. He supports Jewish educators through scholarships for high school and college students.

<u>Robert L Hiller</u>. Baltimore, MD -- Mr. Hiller is a consultant to nonprofit organizations and President of the Zamvyl Krieger Fund. He has been Chief Professional Officer of the Council of Jewish Federations and the Jewish Federations in Pittsburgh and Baltimore. <u>David Hirschhorn</u>. Baltimore, MD -- Mr. Hirschhorn is Viee-President of American Trading and Production Corporation. He is active in national and local Jewish communal affairs, including Jewish education in Baltimore.

<u>Carol K. Ingall.</u> Providence, RI -- Mrs. Ingall is Executive Director of the Bureau of Jewish Education of Rhode Island and curriculum consultant to the Melton Research Center of the Jewish Theological Seminary of America.

Ludwig Jesselson. New York, NY -- Mr. Jesselson has served as Chairman of Philipp Brothers, Inc., is Chairman of the Board of Governors of Bar Ilan University, and is Chairman of the Board of Yeshiva University.

<u>Henry Koschitzky</u>. Toronto, Ontario -- Mr. Koschitzky, a former Rhodes Scholar, is President of Iko Industries, Ltd. He has served as Chairman of the Board of Jewish Education in Toronto.

<u>Mark Lainer</u>. Encino, CA -- Mr. Lainer is an attormey and real estate developer. He is an officer of the Jewish Federation of Los Angeles and Vice-President of JESNA. He was founding President of Abraham Joshua Heschel Day School, Vice-President of Education at Temple Valley Beth Sholom, Encino, and Chairman of the Bureau of Jewish Education of Los Angeles.

<u>Norman Lamm</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY "- Dr. Lamm is President of Yeshiva University, founder of <u>Tradition</u> magazine, and the author of many books, including <u>Torah Umadda</u>: <u>The Encounter of Religious Learning and Worldly Knowledge in</u> <u>the Jewish Tradition</u>. He was a member of the President's Commission on the Holocaust and lectures extensively on Judaism, law, and ethics.

Sara S. Lee. Los Angeles, CA -- Mrs. Lee is Director of the Rhea Hirsch School of Education at Hebrew Union College in Los Angeles and President of the Association of Institutions of Higher Learning in Jewish Education. She is a frequent contributor to conferences and publications on Jewish education.

<u>Sevmour Martin Lipset.</u> (Ph.D.), Stanford, CA --- Professor Lipset is the Caroline S.G. Munro Professor of Political Science and Sociology and Senior Fellow at the Hoover Institution at Stanford University. He has been co-editor of <u>Public</u> <u>Opinion</u> and author of many books, including <u>Political Man</u> and <u>The Politics of Unreason</u>. Haskel Lookstein (Rabbi. Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Rabbi Lookstein is Principal of Ramaz School and Rabbi of Congregation Kehilath Jeshurun. He teaches at Yeshiva University and has served in leadership roles with the National Rabbinic Cabinet of UJA, the New York Board of Rabbis, the Coalition to Free Soviet Jews, and the UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York.

<u>Robert E. Loup</u>. Denver, CO -- Mr. Loup is a real estate developer. He is life President of the Allied Jewish Federation of Denver, past National Chairman of CLAL, a member of the Board of Governors of the Jewish Agency, and past National Chairman of the United Jewish Appeal.

Morton L. Mandel. Cleveland, OH -- Mr. Mandel is Chairman of the Board of Premier Industrial Corporatiom. He founded and chaired the Commission on Jewish Education in North America. He has been President of the JCC of Cleveland, the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland, the Council of Jewish Federations, and the JCC Association.

<u>Matthew J. Maryles</u>. New York, NY -- Mr. Maryles is a Managing Director of Oppenheimer & Company, Inc., a New York investment banking firm. He is former President of Yeshiva of Flatbush, Chairman of the Fund for Jewish Education, and an active Board Member of UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York.

Florence Melton. Columbus, OH -- Mrs. Melton is the founder of the R.G. Barry Corporation, where she serves as Design Consultant. She has served on the Board of Huntington National Bank, Columbus, and is an inventor who holds a number of patents. Through her philanthropic efforts, she has initiated numerous innovative projects in Jewish and secular education, including a research project at Ohio State University designed to increase the self-image of junior high school children. She has served on mamy national education boards.

<u>Donald R. Mintz</u>. New Orleams, LA -- Mr. Mintz is a senior partner of Sessions & Fishman and a Professor at Tulane University Law School. He was President of the Jewish Federation of Greater New Orleams and is the immediate past President of Jewish Community Centers Association of North America (formerly JWB). Lester Bollack, New York, NY -- Mr. Pollack is a General Partner of Lazard Freres & Company, Chief Executive Officer of Centre Partners, and Senior Managing Director of Corporate Partners. He is President of the JCC Association and Vice-President of UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York.

<u>Charles Ratner</u>. Cleveland, OH -- Mr. Ratner is Executive Vice-President of Forest City Enterprises, Inc. He is Vice-President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland, Chairman of the Cleveland Commission on Jewish Continuity, and Chairman of the Cleveland Jewish Welfare Fund campaign. He is also active in other civic and Jewish organizations.

Esther Leah Ritz. Milwaukee, WI -- Mrs. Ritz has beem Pressident of the JCC Association and Vice-President of the Council of Jewish Federations. She is past President of the Milwaukee Jewish Federation and has served on the boards of the Shalom Hartman Institute, JDC, HIAS, UJA, CLAL, and the Wurzweiler School of Social Work.

<u>Harriet L. Rosenthal</u>. South Orange, NJ -- Mrs. Rosenthal is a Vice-President of the JCC Association. She was a delegate of the National Council of Jewish Women to the Conference of Presidents and serves on the Board of the National Conference on Soviet Jewry.

<u>Alvin I. Schiff</u> (Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Dr. Schiff is Executive Vice-President of the Board of Jewish Education of Greater New York, a much-published author, editor of <u>Jewish</u> <u>Education</u>, former Professor of Jewish Education and head of the Graduate Department of Education at Yeshiva University, and past President of the Council for Jewish Education.

<u>Ismar Schorsch</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Dr. Schorsch is Chancellor and Professor of Jewish History at the Jewish Theological Seminary of America. He has served as President of the Léo Baeck Institute and has published in the area of European Jewish history.

<u>Daniel S. Shapiro</u>. New York, NY -- Mr. Shapiro is a partner in Schulte, Roth & Zabel. He has served as President of the Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York and Vice-President of the Council of Jewish Federations. <u>Margaret W, Tishman</u>. New York, NY -- Mrs. Tishman was the first President of the Combined UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York from 1986-89. She has served in leadership roles with the Jewish Community Relations Council of New York, the Jewish Theological Seminary, Yeshiva University, and the Jewish Home and Hospital for the Aged, of which she is a past Vice-President. She is a past President of the Central Bureau for the Jewish Agency. She is a Director of the Jewish Agency for Israel, the American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee, the Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society, and serves on various committees, both in New York and in Israel.

<u>Isadore Twersky</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), Cambridge, MA -- Professor Twersky is Nathan Littauer Professor of Hebrew Literature and Philosophy and Director of the Center for Jewish Studies at Harvard University. Author of numerous scholarly books and studies in Jewish philosophy and law, he is also Rabbi of the Talner Bet Midrash in Brookline, Massachusetts.

Bennett Yanowitz. Cleveland, OH -- Mr. Yanowitz is a principal in the firm of Kahn, Kleinman, Yanowitz, and Arnson. He is immediate past President of Jewish Education Service of North America (JESNA). He has served as Vice-President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland and Chairman of the National Jewish Community Relations Advisory Council.

APPENDIX B:

STAFF AND CONSULTANTS TO THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

[To be done]

APPENDIX C:

PAPERS COMMISSIONED FOR THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

Ackerman, W. "The Structure of Jewish Education in North America," 1990.

Aron, Isa. "Towards the Professionalization of Jewish Teadhing," 1990.

Aron, Isa, and Bruce Phillips. "Findings of the Los Angeles BJE Teacher Census," 1990 (unpublished).

Davidson, Arych. "The Preparation of Jewish Educators in North America: A Research Study," 1990.

Fox, Joel. "Federation-Led Community Planning for Jewish Education, Identity, and Continuity," 1989.

Gallup (Israel). "A Pilot Poll of the Jewish Population of the U.S.A.," May 1990 (unpublished).

Markovic, Debra and Isa Aron. "Studies of Personnel in Jewish Education: A Summary Report Prepared for the Commission on Jewish Education in North America." 1990 (unpublished).

Reimer, Joseph. "The Synagogue as a Context for Jewish Education," 1990.

Reisman, Bernard. "Informal Education in North America," 1990.

Scheffler, Israel and Seymour Fox. "The Relationship between Jewish Education and Jewish Continuity," 1990.

Zucker, Henry L. "Community Organization for Jewish Education -- Leadership, Finance, and Structure," 1989.

APPENDIX D: SOURCES AND REFERENCES

[Incomplete]

Aviad, Janet, ed. <u>Studies in Jewish Education</u>, vol. 3. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, 1988.

The Board of Jewish Education of Greater New York. <u>Jewish</u> <u>Supplementary Schooling</u>: An Educational System in Need of <u>Change</u>. NY: The Board of Jewish Education, 1988.

Carnegie Forum on Education and the Economy. <u>A Nation</u> <u>Prepared: Teachers for the 21st Century</u>, 1986.

Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. <u>An</u> <u>Imperiled Generation</u>. 1988.

Chazan, Barry, ed. <u>Studies in Jewish Education</u>, vol. 1. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, 1983.

Davis, Moshe. Memorandum on the university teaching of Jewish civilization, July 1988.

Della Pergola, Sergio and Nitza Genuth. "Jewish Education Attained in Diaspora Communities for 1970s." Research Report Number 2. The Institute of Contemporary Jewny: Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1983.

Dubb, Allie. "First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora 1981/2-1982/3: Canada." Research Report Number 5. The Institute of Contemporary Jewry: Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1987.

Dubb, Allie and Sergio Della Pergola. "First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora 1981/2-1982/3." Research Report Number 4. The Institute of Conbtemporary Jewy, Project for Jewish Educational Statistics, and JESNA: Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1986.

Fishman, Sylvia Barack. <u>Learning About Learning: Insights</u> on <u>Contemporary Jewish Education from Jewish Population</u> <u>Studies</u>. Maurice and Marilyn Cohen Center for Modern Jewish Studies: Brandeis University, December 1987. Fox, Seymour. "Jewish Education," in: <u>The Future of the</u> Jewish <u>Community in North America</u>. D. Sadorsky, ed. Basic Books, 1973.

Fox, Seymour. "The Vitality of Theory in Schwabs' 'Conception of the Practical.'" <u>Curriculum Theory</u>. 1987.

Genuth, Nitza, Sergio Della Pergola, and Allie Dubb. "First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora 1981/2-1982/3: International Summary." Research Report Number 3. The Institute of Contemporary Jewry: Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1985.

Goodman, Roberta and Ron Reynolds. "Field Notes." Consultation of 17 Jewish educators, members of CAJE, for the Commission on Jewish Education in North America, 1990.

Himmelfarb, Harold S. "Symposium on the Jewish School Teacher: Today and Tomorrow." Jewish Education 55:1 (Spring 1987).

Himmelfarb, Harold S. and Sergio Della Pergola. "Enrollment in Jewish Schools in the Diaspora Late 1970s." Research Report Number 1. The Institute of Contemporary Jewny, Project of Jewish Education Statistics: The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1982.

Himmelfarb, Harold S. and Sergio Della Pergola (eds.)). Jewish Education Worldwide: Cross-Cultural Perspectives. NY: University Press of America, 1989.

Himmelfarb, Milton and David Singer. <u>American Jewish Year-book</u>, vols. 81-86. NY and Philadelphia: American Jewish Committee and the Jewish Publication Society, 1987-88.

Hochstein, Annette. "Senior Personnel for Jewish Education Progress Report -- December 1986." The Jewish Education Committee of the Jewish Agency, 1986 (unpublished).

The Holmes Group. Tomorrow's Teachers: A Report of the Holmes Group. Michigan: The Holmes Group, 1986.

JESNA. "Budgeting and Financing in Jewish Day Schools, 1984."

JESNA: "Budgeting and Financing in Jewish Supplementary Schools, 1983."

JESNA: "Statistical Highlights of Jewish Schooling in the U.S." <u>Trends</u> 11 (Spring 1986).
JWB. "Directory of Jewish Resident Camps," 1988.

Kosmin, Barry. "Contemporary American Jewny: Implications for Planning." North American Jewish Data Bank, Occasional Paper 4 (June 1988).

Kosmin, Barry, Paul Ritterband, and Jeffrey Scheckner. "Jewish Population in the United States, 1986." <u>American</u> <u>Jewish Yearbook 1987</u>. vol. 87. NY: American Jewish Committee & Jewish Publication Society, 1987.

Liebman, Naomi. <u>Federation Allocations to Jewish Education</u> <u>1980-84</u>. NY: CJF Statistics Unit, 1985.

Liebman, Naomi. <u>Federation Allocations to Jewish Education</u> <u>1980-86</u>. NY: CJF Statistics Unit, 1986.

National Commission on Excellence in Education. <u>Meeting the</u> <u>Challenge of a Nation at Risk</u>. Cambridge, MA: USA Research, 1984.

National Commission on Excellence in Education. <u>A Nation at</u> <u>Risk: The Full Account</u>. Cambridge, MA: USA Research, 1984.

Reimer, Joseph. "The Great Family Debate: Implications for Jewish Education," 1990.

Rosenak, Michael, ed. <u>Studies in Jewish Education</u>, vol. 2. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, 1984.

Schiff, Alvin I. <u>Contemporary Jewish Educatiom: Issachar</u> <u>American Style</u>. NJ: Rossel Books, 1988.

Schiff, Alvin I. "Jewish Education at the Crossroads: The State of Jewish Education," 1983. Report prepared for the Joint Program for Jewish Education, in conjunction with CJF, JWB, and JESNA.

Ukeles, Jacob B. "Senior Educator: A Career Option for Jewish Studies Students." The Jewish Education Committee of the Jewish Agency, Publication Number 5, October 1987.

APPENDIX E:

CONSULTATIONS AND MEETINGS

The staff of the Commission benefited from the advice of the commisssioners and other experts. The experts participated in individual and group consultations. The following is a list of those individuals who generously gave of their time to participate in these consultations:

[[Incomplete]

Dr. Robert Abramson		United Synagogue of America
Chaim Botwinick		UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of
		New York
Prof. Steven M. Cohen		Queens College of CUNY
Prof. David Cohn		Michigan State University
Prof. James Coleman		University of Chicago
Prof. Lawrence A. Cremin	Teach	eTe Colleg Collegevol ColUniversity
Dr. Linda Darling-Hamm		Columbia ColivolainyUniversity
Prof. Moshe Davis		International Center for the University Teaching of
		Jewish Civilization
Mrs. Sylvia Ettenberg	~ *	Jewish Theological Seminary of America
Dr. Paul Flexner	- +	JESNA
Rabbi Paul Friedman		United Synagogue of America
Alan Hoffman		The Hebrew University, Jerusalem
Dr. Steve Huberman		Jewish Federation Council of Greater Los Angeles
Dr. Leora Isaacs	• -	JESNA
Mitchell Jaffe	••	JCC Association
Dr: Barry Kosmin	Norti	h American Jewish Data Bank
Prof. Hank Levin		Stanford University
Dr. Zeev Mankowitz		Jerusalem Fellows
Prof. Daniel Pekarsky		University of Wisconsin
Arthur Rotman	• •	JCC Association
Leonard Rubin		JCC Association
Jeffrey Scheekner		0.F
Prof. Israel Scheffler	- +	Harvard University
David Schlucker		·
Prof. Donald Schon		Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Prof. Theodore Sizer		Brown University
		-

The following meetings were held in the United States and Israel:

- September 28, 1988, Jenusalem, Educators' Forum: Walter Ackerman, Barry Chazan, Seymour Fox, Annette Hochstein, Alan Hoffman, Barry Holtz, Avraham Infeld, Debbie Meline, David Resnick.
- 2. October 14, 1988, Boston CJP, Research Fomm: Jack Bieler, Josh Elkin, Seymour Fox, Annette Hochstein, Sara Lee, Debbie Meline, Art Neparstek, Alvin Schiff, Barry Schrage, Jonathan Woocher.
- October 27, 1988, Jerusalem, Educator's Forum: Walter Ackerman, Barry Chazan, Sol Greenfield, Sam Heilman, Barry Holtz, Avraham Infeld, Jonathan Kestenbaum, Menachem Revivi, David Resnick, Don Scher.
- 4. Detemberber54-1989989ACAJEJe@edaetand: CAJE participants to write field notes -- Harlene Appelmam, Ephraim Buchwald, Lynda Cohen, Lavey Darby, Elliot Dorph, Seymour Fox, Marvell Ginsburg, Robert Goodmam, Janet Harris, Charles Herman, Jo Kay, Earl Lefkowitz, Lemmy Matamky, Joseph Reimer, Ron Reynolds, Lifsa Schacter, Bobi Stern, Joy Wasserman, Gary Wexler, Ron Wolfson, Lois Zachary.
- 5.Decembercernber9895,C10801abilevBlandr Restarch:Forum: Hanan Alexander, Isa Aaron, Jack Bieler, Aryeh Davidson, Sharon Feinman-Nemser, Alan Hoffman, Barry Holtz, Michael Inbar, Alvin Schiff, Eliot Spack, Jonathan Woocher.

The following consultations took place:

- 1. Wardh 2, 1989: Sylvia Fishman, Art Naparstek, Joseph Reimer, Susan Shevitz, Larry Sternberg.
- 2. August 15, 1989, CAUE, Swattle: Hanan Alexander, Mark Gurvis, Betsy Katz, Ron Reynolds, Elliot Spack.

APPENDIX F: ORDER FORM

[To be completed]

*

AWMETOACT

nitions pt

MERICAN JEWISH

Ths Export of

the Commission on Jewish Education in North America

November 1990

Heshvan 5751

Convened by the Mandd Associated Foundations, JCC Association, and JESNA in Collaboration with GJF

THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

Not seen

The Commission on Jewish Education in North America was established to launch an unprecedented undertaking -- to pool the energies and resources of all sectors of the Jewish community in a common antieffort to enlarge the scope, raise the standards, and improve the quality of Jewish education:

The idea of forming the Commission was conceived by Morton L. Mandel and his brothers Jack N. Mandel and Joseph C. Mandel of Eleveland, Ohio and financed by the Mandel Associated Foundations.

The Commission reflected the diversity of the North American Jewish community and included outstanding community leaders, scholars, educators, rabbis, leaders of the Orthodox, Conservative, Reconstructionist, and Reform denominations, and the heads or the principals of leading family foundations.

A partnership of the communal and private sectors, the Commission was convened by the Mandel Associated Foundations, the JCC Association, and JESNA in collaboration with CJF. It met six times over a period of two years, from August 1, 1988 to June 12, 1990.

3129

JCC Association

The Jewish Community Center Association of North America (formerly JWB) is the leadership body for the North American network of JCCs and Ys.

JESNA

A CHARACTER STATES

RUV V

> The Jewish Education Service of North America is the organized community's planning, service, and coordinating agency for Jewish education.

CJF

The Council of Jewish Federations is the umbrella organization for Jewish community federations in North America.



MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION

A DOMESTIC

1.1

10.01

18.01

INCLUDED C ATRA

Morton L. Mandel Chairman		
Mona Riklis Ackerman	-	President of the Riklis Family Foundation
Ronald Appleby	and a	Active in Toronto Jewish Congress, Jewish Nation-
Monand Appacoy		al Fund, Council of Jewish Federations, United
		Jewish Appeal
David Arnow	-	North American Chair, New Israel Fund
Mandell L. Berman		President, Council of Jewish Federations
Jack Bieler	-	Chairman of High School Judaic Studies, Hebrew
Canal Arteriot		Academy of Greater Washington
Charles R. Bronfman		Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation
John C. Colman		President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan
		Chicago
Maurice S. Corson		President, the Wexnsr Foundation
Lester Crown	-	Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theologi-
		cal Seminary of America
David Dubin		Executive Director, JCC ou the Palisades
Stuart E. Eizenstat		President of the Jewish Community Center of
		Greater Washington and Honorary Vice-President
		of the American Jewish Committee
Joshua Elidn	-	Headmaster, Solomon Schechter Day School of
		Greater Boston in Newton
Eli N. Evans	0.0	President, Charles H. Revson Foundation
Irwin S. Field	-	Member, Board of Governors, the Jewish Agency
		for Israel
Max M. Fisher	1.00	Founding Chairman, Board of Governors, the
		Jewish Agency for Israel
Alfred Gottschalk		President, Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute
		of Religion
Arthur Green	-	President, Reconstructionist Rabbinical College
Irving Greenberg	-	President, the National Jewish Center for Learning
Joseph S. Grtiss		and Leadership (CLAL) Founder, Fund for Jewish Education
Robert I. Hiller	-tanka	President, the Zanvyi Krieger Fund
David Hirschhom	-	Past Vice-President, American Jewish Committee:
David Husenion	-	active in national and local Jewish communal
		affairs
Carol K. Ingall		Executive Director, Bureau of Jewish Education of
Caror ne ingan		Rhode Island
Ludwig Jesselson	-	Past President and Chairman, UJA/Federation of
Evanue accession	-	Jewish Philanthropies of New York Joint
		Campaign
Henry Koschitzky	-	Past Chairman, Board of Jewish Education,
LICHLY INCOUNCERY		Terente
Mark Lainer		Vice-President, Jewish Education Service of North
		America

TO 90121

*

Noman Lamm	-	President, Yeshiva University	
Sara S. Lee		Director, Rhea Hirsch School of Education,	
		Hebrew Union College	
Seymour Martin Lipset	-	Caroline S-G. Munro Professor of Political Science	
		and Sociology and Senior Fellow, Hoover	
		Institution, Stanford University	
Haskel Lookstein	-	Principal, Ramaz School; Rabbi, Congregation	
		Kehilath Jeshtu un	
Robert E. Loup	-	Past National Chairman, National Jewish Center	
		for Learning and Leadership (CLAL)	
Matthew J. Maryles	-	Chairman, Fund for Jewish Education,	
		UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of	
		New York //cA)=++	
Florence Melton	-	Founder, the Florence Melton/Mini School, the	
		Hebrew University, Jerusalem	
Donald R. Minfcz	-	Honorary President, Jewish Comunity Centers	
		Association of North America	
Lester Pollack	1 4+1 E	President, Jewish Community Centers Association	
		of North America	
Charles Ratner	-	Chairman, Cleveland Commission on Jewish	
		Continuity	
Esther Leah Rite	-	Past President of Jewish Comunity Centers	
		Association of North America	
Harriet L. Rosenthal	weat-	Vice-President, Jewish CommunityCenters	
		Association of America *North	E
Alvin I. Schiff		Executive Vice-President, Board of Jewish	
		Education of Greater New York	
Ismar Schorsch	-	Chancellor and Professor of Jewish History, Jewish	
		Theological Seminary of America	
Daniel S. Shapiro	-	Past President, Federation of Jewish Philanthropies	
		of New York	
Margaret W. Tishman		Immediate Past President, UJA/Federation of	
		Jewish Philanthropies of New York	
Isadorc Twersky	-	Rabbi, Professor and Director of the Harvard	
		University Center for Jewish Studies	
Bennett Yanowitz		Immediate Past President, Jewish Education	
		Service of North America (JESNA)	
Bennett Yanowitz	••		

COMMISSION STAFF AND CONSULTANTS

Senior. Policy Advisors

David S. Ariel	-	President, Cleveland College of Jewish Studies	
Seymour Fox	**	Professor of Education the Habrew University Jaruselam	
Annette Hochstein		Director, Nativ-Polky and Planning Consultants, Jerusalem	
Stephen H. Hoffman	fixe on	Wice-President, Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland	Executive
Martin S. Kraar	-	Executive Vice-President, Coundl of Jewish Federations	
Arthur J. Naparstek		Professor of Social Work, Case Western Reserve University	
Arthur Rotman	-	Executive Vice-President, JCC Association	
Carmi Schwartz	-	Executive Vice-President Emeritus, Coundl of Jewish	
		Federations	
Herman D, Stein	-	University Professor and Provost Emeritus, Case Western	
		Reserve University	
Jonathan Woocher	-	Executive Vice-President, JESNA	
Henry L. Zucker	**	Director, Commission on Jewish Education in North	
		America	
		Director	
		Henry L. Zucker	

Research qr3 Panning

Seymour Fox, Director Annette Hochstein, Associate Director

Staff

(auna)

00.2

		(Journa	
Estelle Albeg	**	Technical Support, Nativ Cousultants, Jerusalem	
Mark Gurvis	-	Director of Social Planning and Research, Jewish	
		Community Federation of Cleveland	
Virginia F. Levi	-	Program Director, PremierinduAal Foundation	200
Debbie Meline	and the second s	Research Assistant, Native Astantin ves alem	1
Joseph Reimer	ade	Assistant Professor, Benjamin S. Hornstein Program	in
		Jewish Communal Service, Brandcis University	

Ling and Planning

Consultants

Research and Methodology

Prof. Michael Inbar	 Former Dean, Faculty of Social Sciences, the Hebrew University, Jerusalem
Communications	

David Finn		Chairman of the Board, Ruder'Finn, Inc., New Yor	k
Dena Merriam	-	Editorial Director, Ruder'Fmn, Inc., New York	



EXECUTIVE SU	MMARY
CHAIRMAN'S PR	77 TEFACE
CHAPTER 1: Fac	ing the Crisis100
CHAPTER 2: The	e Realities of Jewish Education Today1177
CHAPTER 3: The	e Building Blocks of Jewish Education,
CHAPTER 4: A I	Blueprint for the Future
CHAPTER 5: A 7	Fime to Act
APPENDIX A:	Wentlessoft the Commission on Jewish Education in North America
APPENDIX B:	Staff and Consultantsstorthe Commission on Jewish Education in North America
APPENDIX C:	Papers Commissioned for the Commission on Jewish Education in North America
APPENDIX D:	Sourcess and Referencess
APPENDIX E;	Consultations and Weetings
ATKNOWLEDG	жж . № 19
ORDER FORM	

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Jewish community of North America is facing a crisis of major proportions, Large numbers of Jews have lost interest in Jewish values, ideals, and behavior, and there are many who no longer believe that Judaism has a role to play in their search for personal ful-Alilment and communality. This has grave implications, not only for the richness of Jewish life, but for the very continuity of a large segment of the Jewish people, Over the last several decades, intermarriage between Jews and non-Jews has risen dramatically, and a major proportion of children of such marriages no longer identify themselves as Jews.

It is clear that there is a core of deeply committed Jews whose very way of life ensures meaningful Jewish continuity from generation to generation. However, there is a much larger segment of the Jewish population which is finding it increasingly difficult to define its future in terms of Jewish values and behavior. The responsibility for developing Jewish identity and instilling a commitment to Judaism for this population now rests primarily with education,

The Jews of North America have built an extensive and diverse system of education that takes place in many formal and informal settings. Outstanding educators who are excellent teachers and role models for young people and adults can be found throughout North

America in classrooms and community centers, on educational trips to Israel, and in summer camps. However, the system of Jowish education is plagued by many problems, and because of its inadequacies it is failing to engage the minds of a critical segment of the Jewish population who have no other way of experiencing the beauty and richness of Jewish life.

Careful study of the current state of Jewish education reveals that the whole system, in all its forms and settings, is beset by five problems --sporadic participation; deficiencies in educational content; an underdeveloped profession of Jewish education; inadequate community support; the absence of a research function to monitor results, aliocate resources, and plan improvements,

Recent developments throughout the continent indicate that a climate exists today for bringing about major improvements. However, a massive program will have to be undertaken in order to revitalize Jewish education so that it is capable of performing a pivotal role in the meaningful continuity of the Jewish people. It was to achieve that goal that the Commission on Jewish Education in North America was established.

After analyzing the problems, the Commission decided to focus its effort on the two building blocks upon which the entire system rests := developing the profession of Jewish education and mobilizing community support to meet the needs and goals of Jewish education,

In order to secure these essential building blocks, a blueprint for the future consisting of a series of concrete steps was worked out by the Commission. The plan includes both short* and long-range elements, and implementation can begin immediately with initial funding al* ready provided.

The core of the Commission's plan is to infuse Jewish education with a new vitality by recruiting large numbers of talented, dedicated, and well-trained educators. These educators need to work in a congenial environment, sustained by a Jewish community that recognizes Jewish education as the most effective means for perpetuating Jewish identity and creating a commitment to Jewish values and behavior.

The plan developed by the Commission includes the following elements:

1. <u>Building a profession of Jewish education</u> ". By creating a North American infrastructure for recruiting and training increasing numbers of qualified personnel; expanding the faculties and facilities of training institutions; intensifying on the-job training programs; raising salaries and benefits of educational personnel; developing new career track opportunities; and increasing the empowerment of educators.

2. <u>Mobilizing community support</u> "- By recruiting top community leaders to the cause of Jewish education; raising Jewish education to the top of the communal agenda; creating a positive environment for effective Jewish education; and providing substantially increased funding from federations, private family foundations, and other sources.

3. <u>Butblishing three to five Lead Communities</u> —To function as local laboratories for Jewish education; to determine the educational practices and policies that work best; to redesign and improve Jewish education through a wide array of intensive programs; to demonstrate what can happen when there is an infusion of outstanding personnel into the educational system, with a high level of community support and with the necessary funding.

4. Developing a research capability =By drawing up a comprehensive research agenda for Jewish education; creating the theoretical and practical knowledge base needed to monitor results and make informed decisions; conducting ongoing studies on the state of Jewish education in general, and on the progress of each component of the Commission's plan.

5. <u>Creating the Council for Initiatives in Jewish Education</u> -- A new entity that will operate as a catalytic agent, working mainly through the efforts of others to ensure the implementation of the Commiss^{*} siom's plan; helping to secure necessary funding; overseeing the establishment of Lead Communities; coordinating research activities; providing a setting in which creative people, Institutions, organiza^{*} tions, and foundations can work together to develop new undertakings in Jewish education; and helping to replicate the successful experifences in Lead Communities throughout North America.

The Commission is confident that its blueprint is realistic and feasible, and will indeed provide the foundation for a new era in Jewish education. An enormous investment of resources and energies will be re quired to bring this about, but the Commission is convinced that the will is there and the time to act is now.

CHAIRMAN SPREFACE

Where?

MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION

Morton L. Mandel			
Chairman Dillio Asland		Bracklass - fals Billis Barrily Barradation	
Mona Riklis Ackerman	••	Recsident of the Riklis Family Foundation	()
Ronald Appleby	**	Active in Toronto Jewish Congress, Jewish Nation-	(3 1et))
		al Fund, Council of Jewish Federations, United	
2.44		Jewish Appeal	1 2
David Arnow	1	North American Chair, New Israel Fund	
Mandell L. Berman	mak	President, Council of Jewish Federations	
Jack Bieler		Chairman of High School Judaic Studies, Hebrew	
6.36.5.4		Academy of Greater Washington	
Charles R. Bronfman	and .	Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation	
John C. Colman	**	President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan	
		Chicago	
Maurice S. Corson		President, the Wexner Foundation	
Lester Crown		Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theologi-	
		cal Seminary of America	₫ ~ Фġ+
David Dubin		Executive Director, JCC on the Palisades	
Stuart E. Eizenstat		President of the Jewish Community Center of	
		Greater Washington and Honorary Vice-President	
•		of the American Jewish Committee	
Joshua Elkin		Headmaster, Solomon Schechter Day School of	K-
Eli N. Evans	-	14 gissident, Charing HR Bowson Foundation	Member, board of Baxernors.
Irwin S. Field		Director, Jewish Agency for Israel	Member, Boar ors .
Max M. Fisher		Former Chairman, Board of Governors, the Jewish)FO.WET
		Agency for Israel	Fairli
Alfred Gottschalk	**	President, Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute	Founding
ritted Gottsendin		of Religion	
Arthur Green		President, Reconstructionist Rabbinical College	4
Aving Greenberg		President, the National Jewish Center for Learning	
HANK OLGENDELR	**	and Leadership (CLAL)	
Togonh & Course		Founder, Fund for Jewish Education	
Joseph S. Gruss	-		President,
Robert I. Hiller		President, the Zanvyl Krieger Fund Basinessingly active in national and local Jewish	Pad Vice Jewissi
David Hirschhorn	**		American ee;
6. 147 4. 11		communal affairs	(onni
Carol K. Ingall	**	Executive Director, Bureau of Jewish Education of	
		Rhode Island	
Ludwig Jesselson		Past President and Chairman, UJA/Producation of	
		Jewish Philanthropies of New York Joint	
		Campaign "	
Henry Koschitzky	**	Past Chairman, Board of Jewish Education,	
		Toronto	
Mark Lainer		Vice-President; Jewish Education Service of North	
		America	a
Norman Lamm		President, Yeshiva University	

4/29

		» 29
Sara S. Lee	Director, Rhea Hirsch School of Education,	
Seymour Martin Lipset	 Hebrew Union College Caroline S.G. Munro Professor of Political Science and Sociology and Senior Fellow, Hoover 	
Haskel Lookstein	Institution, Stanford University Principal, Ramaz School; Rabbi, Congregation	K
Robert E. Loup .	Kehilath Jeshurun Jawashi Past National Chairman, National Center for	Kr. I.
ж	Learning and Leadership (CLAIL)	
Matthew J. Maryles	Chairman, Fund for Jewish Education, ULA/Actionation of Jewish Philanthropies of	(Faundieo +4e Elormars
A . A 6 h	· New York	
Florence Melton	hominifiered projecterie Jewish and jecolar education	12.3. HEGREW UNIVERSIALY
Donald R. Mintz	^{**009} , Presiaeilt, Jewish Comunity Centers Association of North America	Permigikerry,
Lester Pollack	President, Jewish Community Centers Association of North America	
Charles Ratner	Chairman, Cleveland Commission on Jewish Continuity	
Esther Leah Ritz	Past President of Jewish Comunity Centerss Association of North America	monthy Centers
Harriet L. Rosenthal	Vice-President, JGC Association A Sisteria tie	on of Nor th America)
lvin I. Schiff	Executive Vice-President, Board of Tewish	
	Education of Greater New York	r ti
smar Schorsch	Chancellor and Professor of Jewish History, Jewish	
	Theological Seminary of America	
Daniel S. Shapiro	Past President, Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York	
Margaret W. Tishman	Immediate Past President, UJA/Faderation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York	
sadore Twersky	Rabbi, Professor and Director of the Harvard	1
	University Center for Jewish Studies	Past 1
Bennett Yanowitz	- President, Jewish Education Service of North	Jamediate Bast
	Amorica (JESNA)	a
		- 15 21 12
	•	
	6	
	` .	
		- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		t i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i

COMMISSION STAFF AND CONSULTANTS

Senior Policy Advisors

David S. Ariel		President, Cleveland College of Jewish Studies
Seymour Fox		Professor of Education, the Hebrew University, Jerusalem
Annette Hochstein	••	Director, Nativ-Policy and Planning Consultants,
		Jerpisatinaj-
Stephen H. Hoffman	••	jaxecutive Director, Jewish Community Federation
•	•	A of Cleveland
Martin S. Kraar		Executive Vice-President, Council of Jewish
		Federations Reserve
Arthur J. Naparstek	••	Professor of Social Work, Case Western Amivorsity
Arthur Rotman	**	Executive Vice-President, JCC Association
Carmi Schwartz		Executive Vice-President Emeritus, Council of
		Jewish Federations
Herman D. Stein	••	University Professor and Provost Emeritus, Case
		Western Reserve University
Jonathan Woocher	-*	Executive Vice-President, JESNA
Henry L. Zucker		Director, Commission on Jewish Education in
~~		North America

Director

Henry L. Zucker

Research and Planning

- 2

Seymour Fox, Director Annette Hochstein, Associate Director

Staff

Estelle Albeg Mark Gurvis Virginia F. Levi Debbie Meline Joseph Reimer Research and Methodol Prof, Michael Inbar	 	Technical Sector 1 Research-Assistant, Nativ-Consultants, Jerusalem Director of Social Planning and Research, Jewish Community, Federation of Cleveland Program Officer, Premier Industrial Foundation Research Assistant, Nativ-Consultants, Jerusalem Assistant Professor, Benjamin S. Hornstein Program in Jewish Communal Service, Brandeis University <u>Consultants</u> 4 Former Past Dean, Faculty of Social Sciences, the Hebrew University, Jerusalem
Communications		
David Finn Dena Merriam	••	Chairman of the Board, Ruder Finn' Ancy vew York Editorial Director, Ruder Finn Tax: Vew York

vice Pipsident 4

←

6 29

←

L

NERSION 1

7 29

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CHAIRMAN'S PREFACE

CHAPTER 1:	Facing the Crisis	×
CHAPTER 2:	The Realities of Jewish Education Today	Senser
CHAPTER 3:	The (B0) I don 3 Brocks of Javish Education	2 colle 2
CHAPTER 4;	A Blueprint for the Future	co, tegezin
CHAPTER 5:	A Time to Act	I

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

APPENDIX A:	Members of the Commission on Jewish Education in North America
APPENDIX B:	Staff and Consultants to the Commission on Jewish Education in North America
APPENDIX C:	Papers Commissioned for the Commission on Jewish Education in North America
APPENDIX D;	Sources and References
APPENDIX E:	Consultations and Meetings
APPENDIX F:	Order Form

Titles and Subtitles

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CHAIRMAN'S PREFACE

CHAPTER 1: FACING THE CRISIS The Crucial Importance of Jewish Education in Contemporary Jewish Life A System Under Strain A Weakening Commitment to Jewish Life

CHAPTER 2: THE REALITIES OF JEWISH EDUCATION TODAY Coming to Grips with the Problem The Diversity of the Field Shortcomings in Specific Settings Overall Problems Sporadic Participation Deficiencies in Educational Content The Lack of Reliable Data Inadequate Community Support The Underdeveloped Profession of Jewish Education Prospects for the Future

CHAPTER 3: THE BUILDING BLOCKS OF JEWISH EDUCATION A Way to Begin Focusing the Work of the Commission Developing a Comprehensive Approach Short-Range and Long-Range Strategies Implementing the Plan

CHAPTER 4: A BLUEPRINT FOR THE FUTURE

Building a Profession of Jewish Education I: -Recruitment -Building a Profession of Jewish Education -Developing New Sources of Personnel -Training -Improvement of Salaries and Benefits -Career-Track Development -The Empowerment of Educators II: Mobilising Community Support -Recruiting Community Leaders -Incréased Funding for Jewish Education -Changing the Community's Attitude toward Jewish Education III: Establishing Lead Communities -Lordal Laboratories for Jewish Education -Selection of Lead Communities -Getting Started IV: Developing a Research Capability V: Establishing the council for Initiatives in Jewish Education

-Spreading the Word: The Diffusion of Innovation

5/29



CHAPTER 5: A TIME TO ACT

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

APPENDIX A: MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA / -

APPENBIX B: STAFF AND CONSULTANTS TO THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

APPENDIX C: PAPERS COMMISSIONED FOR THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

APPENDIX D: SOURCES AND REFERENCES

- APPENDIX E: CONSULTATIONS AND MEETINGS
- APPENDIX F: ORDER FORM

APPENDIX A:

MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

<u>Mona Riklis Ackerman</u> (Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Dr. Ackerman is a clinical psychologist and President of the Riklis Family Foundation. She is active in UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York and American Friends of Rechov Sumsum.

<u>Ronald Appleby</u> (Q.C.), Toronto, Ontario -• Mr. Appleby is Chairman of the law firm of Robins, Appleby & Taub, involved mainly in business income tax consultations; he speaks and writes regularly on this subject. He is active in many civic and Jewish causes, including the Toronto Jewish Congress, Jewish National Fund, Council of Jewish Federations, and United Jewish Appeal.

<u>David Arnow</u> (Ph.D.) New York, NY = Dr. Arnow is a psychologist, North America Chair of the New Israel Fund, and Chair of the UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York Subcommittee on Governance.

Mandel L. Berman. Southfield, MI = Mr. Berman is formerly President of Dreyfus Development, a real estate development company. He is immediate past Chairman of the Skillman Foundation, President of the Council of Jewish Federations, and a past President of the Detroit Federation. He served as Chairman of the American Association of Jewish Education and is Homorary Chairman of JESNA. He is a member of the Board of the Dreyfus Corporation.

<u>Jack Bieler</u> (Rabbi), Silver Spring, MD ==Rabbi Bieler is Coordinator of High School Judaic Studies and Lead Teacher at the Hebrew Academy of Greater Washington. He has served as Chairman of the Talmud Department at the Joseph H. Lookstein Upper School of Ramaz, Permanent Scholar-in-Residence of Congregation Kehilath Jeshurun, and is a Jerusalem Fellow.

<u>Charles R. Bronfman</u>, Montreal, Quebec = Mr. Bronfman is Co-Chairman and Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Seagram Company, Ltd., Chairman of the CRB Foundation, President of UIA Canada, and Honorary Chairman of Canada-Israel Securities, Ltd. He is active in many other civic and Jewish causes. Amer ire, fi

÷

 \sim

←

)@t#29

John C. Colman. Glencoe, IL - Mr. Colman is a private investor and business consultant. He is a member of the Executive Committee of the American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee, President of the Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago, Chairman of the Center for Social Policy Studies in Israel, and is active in a wide variety of Jewish and general institutions.

<u>Maurice S. Corson</u> (Rabbi, D.D.), Columbus, OH =- Rabbi Corson is President of the Wexner Foundation. He was a Director of the Jewish Conynunity Relations Council of Philadelphia, Executive Director of the United Israel Appeal of Canada, and Associate Director of Development for B'nai B'rith International. He is active in many Jewish and civic causes. Prior to entering the field of communal service, Rabbi Corson served as a congregational rabbi in Baltimore, Maryland; Ventnor, New Jersey; and Seattle, Washington.

Lester Crown. Chicago, IL -- Mr. Crown is President of Henry Crown and Company, Chairman of the Board of Material Service Corporation, and Executive Vice-President of General Dynamics. He has served as Chairman of the Board of the Jewish Theological Seminary of America.

<u>David Dubin</u>, Tenafly, NJ = Mr. Dubin is Executive Director of the Jewish Community Center on the Palisades and author of several articles in <u>The Journal of Jewish Communal Serv-</u> ice on Jewish education within Jewish community centers.

Stuart E. Eizenstat. Washington, D.C. ** Mr. Eizenstat practices law in Washington, D.C. and teaches at the Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. He was Director of the Domestic Policy Staff at the White House under the Carter Administration. He is President of the Jewish Community Center of Greater Washington and Honorary Vice President of the American Jewish Committee.

Joshua Elkin (Rabbi, Ed.D.), Newton, MA "- Rabbi Elkin is Headmaster of the Solomon Schechter Day School of Greater Boston, Newton, Massachusetts. He has taught in the Jewish Education concentration of the Hornstein Program in Jewish Communal Service at Brandeis University and is a Jerusalem Fellow.

Eli N. Evans. New York, NY "- Mr. Evans is President of the Charles H. Revson Foundation which supports programs in urban affairs, Jewish and general education, and biomedical research policy. He has written two books on the history of Jews in the American South.

ż

n/ /2204

It is a nember se in good of seconorsfigist againcy but stall

Qub a trostee z=f Qcc.?Ro.XAII C=olii?ye Irwin S. Field. Cerritos, CA - Mr. Field is President of Liberty Vegetable Oil, and Director of Luz International, Ltd/ HeSs. Vice-Chairman of the Jewish Federation of Los Angeles, and Ppast National Chairman of the United Jewish Appear, He serves many other national and international organizations.

Max M. Fisher, Detroit, MI - Mr. Fisher and Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Jewish Agency for Israel, President of the Council of Jewish Federations, and President of the United Jewish Appeal. He was Chairman of United Brands Company and has been involved with many other corporations and civic and Jewish organizations.

<u>Alfred Gottschalk</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), Cincinnati, OH -- Dr. Gottschalk is President of the Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion and Professor of Bible and Jewish Religious Thought. He is founder of the School of Jewish Communal Service and Chairman of the Academic Committee of the U.S. Holocaust Memorial Council. He also serves as Vice-President of the World Union for Progressive Judaism. He has written extensively on education and Jewish intellectual history.

Arthur Green (Rabbi, Ph.D.), Wyncote, PA -- Dr. Green is President of the Reconstructionist Rabbinical College and the author of many books and articles, including <u>Tormented</u> <u>Master: A Life of Rabbi Nahman of Bratslav</u>,

Irving Greenberg (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY "- Rabbi Greenberg is President and co-founder of CLAL: the National Jewish Center for Learning and Leadership. He founded and chaired the Department of Judaic Studies at City College. He has taught and written widely on Jewish thought and religion and is author of <u>The Jewish Way</u> (New York) 988).

Joseph S. Gruss, New York, NY -- Mr. Gruss is former head of Gruss & Company. He established the Fund for Jewish Education in New York in association with UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies. He has provided full medical and financial support to Jewish educators, grants to 400 Jewish Day Schools and Yeshivot and to community organizations dedicated to Jewish outreach, and funds for school building renovations. He supports Jewish educators through scholarships for high school and college students.

<u>Robert I. Hiller</u>. Baltimore, MD -* Mr. Hiller is a consultant to nonprofit organizations and President of the Zanvyl Krieger Fund. He has been Chief Professional Officer of the Council of Jewish Federations and the Jewish Federations in Pittsburgh and Baltimore.



£-

David Hirschhorn. Baltimore, MD - Mr. Hirschhorn is Vide-ecuation President of American Trading and Production Corporation. I He is active in national and local Jewish communal affairs, of including Jewish education in Baltimore.

> <u>Carol.K. Ingall</u>, Providence, RI -- Mrs. Ingall is Executive Director of the Bureau of Jewish Education of Rhode Island and curriculum consultant to the Melton Research Center of the Jewish Theological Seminary of America.

> Ludwig Jesselson, New York, NY -- Mr. Jesselson has served as Chairman of Philipp Brothers, Inc., is Chairman of the Board of Governors of Bar Ilan University, and is Chairman of the Board of Yeshiva University.

> <u>Henry Koschitzky</u>, Toronto, Ontario - Mr. Koschitzky, a former Rhodes Scholar, is President of Iko Industries, Ltd. He has served as Chairman of the Board of Jewish Education in Toronto.

<u>Mark Lainer</u>. Encino, CA – Mr. Lainer is an attorney and real estate developer. He is an officer of the Jewish Federation of Los Angeles and Vice-President of JESNA. He was founding President of Abraham Joshua Heschel Day School, Vice-President of Education at Temple Valley Beth Sholom, Encino, and Chairman of the Bureau of Jewish Education of Los Angeles.

Norman Lamm (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Dr. Lamm is President of Yeshiva University, founder of <u>Tradition</u> magazine, and the author of many books, including <u>Torah Umaddar</u>. <u>The Encounter of Religious Learning and Worldly Knowledge in</u> <u>the Jewish Tradition</u>. He was a member of the President's Commission on the Holocaust and lectures extensively om Judaism, law, and ethics.

<u>Sara S. Lee</u>. Los Angeles, CA -- Mrs. Lee is Director of the Rhea Hirsch School of Education at Hebrew Union College in Los Angeles and President of the Association of Institutions of Higher Learning in Jewish Education. She is a frequent contributor to conferences and publications on Jewish education.

<u>Seymour Martin Lipset</u> (Ph.D.), Stanford, CA -- Professor Lipset is the Caroline S.G. Munro Professor of Political Science and Sociology and Senior Fellow at the Hoover Institution at Stanford University. He has been co-editor of <u>Public</u> <u>Opinion</u> and author of many books, including <u>Political Man</u> and <u>The Politics of Unreason</u>.

He is Gist Hiese Anssident of the American travish committie We is 4150 Octive in noitherical Gist lago Janish northing the Astocion poich contains Astocion poich since the Astocion poich since the Astocion poich studies

13/29

 \leq

1905 (residend 900 Chairman, 1907) FRETAtion of Davish Bibito Athropies of 1984 York Joint (ompaign, ((IIMSERT 1, p.31))

Build a profession of Jewish education

Profession building as envisioned by the Commissioners, will be accomplished by creating a North American infrastructure for recruiting and training increasing numbers of qualified personnel; expanding the faculties and facilities of training institutions; developing on-the job training programs; raising salaries and benefits of educational personnel; developing new career track (*idel opportunities; and increased empowerment fory educators. Speciffically, the following concrete measures have been offered for consideration:

((Imsert 2, p.33))

The belief that major improvements are possible, that people can be affected by what they experience and learn characterizes those who are attracted to the field of educatigm. Jewish education must build upon the nascent idealism of many young peole and attract them to the profession.

Lester Pollack, New York, NY -- Mr. Pollack is a General Partner of Lazard Freres & Company, Chief Executive Officer of Centre Partners, and Senior Managing Director of Corporate Partners. He is President of the JCC Association and Vice-President of UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York.

<u>Charles Ratner</u>. Cleveland, OH -- Mr. Ratner is Executive Vice-President of Forest City Enterprises, Inc. He is Vice-President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland, Chairman of the Cleveland Commission on Jewish Continuity, and Chairman of the Cleveland Jewish Welfare Fund campaign. He is also active in other civic and Jewish organizations.

Esther Leah Ritz. Milwaukee, WI -- Mrs. Ritz has been President of the JCC Association and Vice-President of the Council of Jewish Federations. She is past President of the Milwaukee Jewish Federation and has served on the boards of the Shalom Hartman Institute, JDC, HIAS, UJA, CLAL, and the Wurzweiler School of Social Work.

<u>Harriet L. Rosenthal</u>, South Orange, NJ == Mrs. Rosenthal is a Vice-President of the JCC Association. She was a delegate of the National Council of Jewish Women to the Conference of Presidents and serves on the Board of the National Conference on Soviet Jewry.

Alvin I. Schiff (Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Dr. Schiff is Executive Vice-President of the Board of Jewish Education of Greater New York, a much-published author, editor of Jewish Education, former Professor of Jewish Education and head of the Graduate Department of Education at Yeshiva University, and past President of the Council for Jewish Education.

<u>Ismar Schorsch</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY -= Dr. Schorsch is Chancellor and Professor of Jewish History at the Jewish Theological Seminary of America. He has served as President of the Leo Baeck Institute and has published in the area of European Jewish history.

<u>Daniel S. Shapiro</u>. New York, NY -- Mr. Shapiro is a partner in Schulte, Roth & Zabel. He has served as President of the Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York and Vice-President of the Council of Jewish Federations. Margaret W. Tishman. New York, NY -- Mrs. Tishman was the first President of the Combined UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York from 1986-89. She has served in leadership roles with the Jewish Community Relations Council of New York, the Jewish Theological Seminary, Yeshiva Umiversity, and the Jewish Home and Hospital for the Aged; ofwhidtediging past-Vice President. She is a past President of the Central Bureau for the Jewish Agency. She is a Director of the Jewish Agency for Israel, the American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee, the Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society, and Sewes-of-various/contintMtues, both-itt-New York-and-ifi-Jsrael:

<u>Isadore Twersky</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), Cambridge, MA -- Professor Twersky is Nathan Littauer Professor of Hebrew Literature and Philosophy and Director of the Center for Jewish Studies at Harvard University. Author of numerous scholarly books and studies in Jewish philosophy and law, he is also Rabbi of the Talner Bet Midrash in Brookline, Massachusetts.

<u>Bennett Yanowitz</u>, Cleveland, OH -- Mr. Yanowitz is a principal in the firm of Kahn, Kleinman, Yanowitz, and Arnson. He is immediate past President of Jewish Education Service of North America (JESNA). He has served as Vice-President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland and Chairman of the National Jewish Community Relations Advisory Council.

a,

16/29

Ł

←

APPENDIX B:

STAFF AND CONSULTANTS TO THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

Senior Policy Advisors:

David Ariel -- President and Associate Professor at the Cleveland College of Jewish Studies. He taught at Wesleyam University and is the author of a book on Jewish mysticism.

Seymour Fox -- Professor of education and chairmam of the academic board of the Samuel Mendel Melton Centre for Jewish Education in the Diaspora at the Hebrew University of Jerusalem. Academic director of the Jerusalem Fellows.

Mark Gurvis -- Director of Social Planning and Research at the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland. He is professional director of Cleveland's Commission on Jewish continuity.

Annette Hochstein -- Director, Nativ-Policy and Planning Consultants, Jerusalem, Israel; Humphrey Fellow in public policy at MIT, 1983-84.

Stephen H. Hoffman -- Executive Vice President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland.

Martin S. Kraar -- Executive Vice President of the Council of Jewish Federations (CJF) since November 1989. Previously served as Executive Vice President of the Jewish Welfare Federation of Detroit, Vice President of the Jewish Federation of St. Louis, and Director General of the CJF Israel Office.

Arthur J. Naparstek -- Former Dean and currently Professor of Social Work, Mandel School of Applied Social Sciences, Case Western Reserve University.

Arthur Rotman -- Executive Vice-President, Jewish Community Centers Association of North America (UCC Association) and President, World Conference of Jewish Communal Service.

Carmi Schwartz -- Former Executive Vice President, Council of Jewish Federations. Prior to his appointment with CJF, he held various Jewish Federation executive positions in New Jersey, Baltimore, Utica, New York, Miami, and Montreal.

Herman D. Stein -- University Professor and Provost Emeritus, Case Western Reserve University. Former Chairman, Professional Advisory Committee, American Joint Distribution Connittee.

Jonathan Woocher -- Executive Vice President of the Jewish Education Service of North America (JESNA). Formerly Associate Professor in the Benjamin S. Hornstein Program in Jewish Communal Service and Director of Continuing Education for Jewish Leadership at Brandeis University.

Henry L. Zucker -- Director of Commission on Jewish Education in North America and Consultant to the Mandel Associated Foundations. Served as Executive Director and Executive Vice President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland from 1948 to 1975.

<u>Staff</u>;

Estelle Albeg -- Director, technical support services, Nativ - Policy and Planning Consultants, Jerusalem.

Virginia F. Levi -- Program Director, Premier Industrial Foundation. Previously Staff Associate to the President, Case Western Reserve University, and Associate Director of Admissions, Oberlin College.

Debbie Meline -- Research and administrative assistant--Nativ - Policy and Planning Consultants, from 1987 to 1990. Coordinator, educational seminars and special projects, the JCC Association, Israel office.

Consultants:

David Finn -- Chairman of Ruder Finn, Inc. in New York, NY, one of the largest independent public relations firms in the world. He has long been active in Jewish affairs in North America and for the state of Israel. Author of many books and articles on public affairs, the arts, and business.

Michael Inbar -- Former Dean of the Faculty of Social Sciences, the Hebrew University of Jerusalem; Professor Emeritus of Cognitive Social Psychology and Education at the Hebrew University, Jerusalem.

Dena Merriam -- Editorial director and senior writer at Ruder Finm, Inc. in New York, NY. Author of two books as well as many research reports, articles, corporate newsletters, and a variety of other publications.

19/29

PAPERS COMMISSIONED FOR THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

Ackerman, Walter. "The Structure of Jewish Education in North America, 0 1999 0".

A historical perspective on the structure of Jewish education with particular reference to the role of Bureaus of Jewish education, the religious denominations and the federation movement.

Professor Ackerman is Shane Family Professor of Education, Ben Gurion University of the Negew.

Aron, Isa. "Towards the Professionalization of Jewish Teaching,192990%.

An analysis of the status of Jewish teachers and of the issue involved in the creation of a profession for Jewish teachers

Dr. Aron is Associate Professor of Jewish Education at the Rhea Hirsch School of Education at Hebrew Union College im Los Angeles.

Arom, Isa and Bruce Phillips. "Findings of the Los Amgeles BJE Teacher Census," 1990 ((unpublished)).

An analysis of the data gathered by the Bureau of Jewish Education of Los Angeles on the teachers in the city's Jewish schools.

Dr. Phillips is Associate Professor of Jewish Communal Service at Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion, Los Angeles.

Davidson, Arych. "The Preparation of Jewish Educators in North America: A Research Study,192990%.

A study of the fourteen teacher-training institutions in North America, their student body, faculty, curriculum and plans for the future.

Professor Davidson is Assistant Professor of Education and Psychology and Head of the Department of Education at the Jewish Theological Seminary of America, New York.

Fox, Joel. "Federation-Led Community Planning for Jewish Education, Identity, and Continuity, 198989'.

A report on the status and significance of the recently established local commissions on Jewish education//Jewish continuity.

Mr. Fox is director of planning and research at the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland.

Gallup ((Isstael). "A Pilot Poll of the Jewish Population of the U.S.A.," May 1990 ((unpublished)).

The Commission participated in a Gallup Omnibus Poll of the Jewish population in North America. The questions related to issues of concern to the Commission on Jewish Education in North America, particularly participation in Jewish educational programs and the potential market.

Markovic, Debra and Isa Aron. "Studies of Personmel in Jewish Education: A Summary Report Prepared for the Commission on Jewish Education in North America," 1990 (unpublished).

A survey of the available data on Jewish educational personnel, their educational background, salary and benefitts.

Ms. Markovic holds a Masters of Education from the University of Judaism in Los Angeles.

Reimer, Joseph. "The Synagogue as a Context for Jewish Education," 1990.

A study of how synagogues differ in the ways they support their educational programs and the relationship of a congregational school's receiving favored status and its being a good school.

Professor Reimer is Assistant Professor at the Hormstein Program in Jewish Communal Services of Brandeis University.

Reisman, Bernard. "Informal Education in North America" ((forttheoming).

A study of the issues involved in informal education in North America with particular reference to the Jewish community centers, the youth movements, camping, family and adult education.

Professor Reisman is director of the Hornstein program for Jewish Communal Service at Brandeis University.

Scheffler, Israel and Seymour Fox. "The Relationship between Jewish Education and Jewish Continuity" ((forthcoming)).

This paper was commissioned in response to questions raised by commissioners concerning the link between Jewish education and Jewish continuity.

Professor Scheffler is Victor S. Thomas Professor of Education and Philosophy at Harvard University.

Professor Fox is chairman of the academic board of the Melton Centre for Jewish Education in the Diaspora of the Hebrew University of Jerusalem.

Zucker, Henry L. "Community Organization for Jewish Education--Leadership, Finance, and Structure," 1989.

An analysis of the role that the organized Jewish community has played in Jewish education as well as a projection of future trends and opportunities.

Mr. Zucker is director of the Commission on Jewish Education in North America and consultant to the Mandel Associated Foundations.

22 1029



APPENDIX D:

SOURCES AND REFERENCES

The following sources were used in the preparation of this report:

Aviad, Janet, ed. <u>Studies in Jewish</u> <u>Education</u>, vol. 3. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, 1988.

The Board of Jewish Education of Greater New York. Jewish Supplementary Schooling: An Educational System in Need of Change. NY: The Board of Jewish Education, 1988.

Carnegie Forum on Education and the Economy. <u>A Nation Pre-</u> pared: <u>Teachers for the 21st Century</u>, 1986.

Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. Am Imperiled Generation, 1988.

Chazam, Barry, ed. <u>Studies in Jewish Education</u>, vol. 1. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, 1983.

Cohenn, Stewan M. "Additional sources of American Jawas Thomand Issuadd and Issuadliss: The 1983 National Survey of American Jews and Jewish Communal Leaders." The Institute on American Jewish-Israeli Relations of the American Jewish Committee.

--"Jewish Travel to Israel: Incentives and Inhibitions Among U.S. & Canadian Teenagers & Young Adults." The Jewish Education Committee of the Jewish Agency, 1986.

-- "The 1984 National Survey of American Jews: Political and Social Outlooks." The American Jewish Committee, Institute of Human Relations, 1984.

--"Ties and Tensions: The 1986 Survey of American Jewish Attitudes Toward Israel and Israelis." The Institute on American-Jewish Israeli Relations of the American Jewish Committee, 1987.

--"Ties and Tensions: An Update: The 1989 Survey of American Jewish Attitudes Toward Israel and Israelis." The Institute on American Jewish-Israeli Relations of the AmericanJewish Committee, 1989.

Davis, Moshe. Memorandum on the university teaching of Jewish civilization, July 1988.

Della Pergola, Sergio and Nitza Genuth. "Jewish Education Attained in Diaspora Communities for 1970s." Research Report Number 2. The Institute of Contemporary Jewry: Hebrew

* Ludditions }

×

₩

University of Jerusalem, 1983.

*

Eddetion 3

*

¥

*

Bubb, Allie. "First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora 1981/2-1982/3: Canada." Research Report Number 5. The Institute of Contemporary Jewry: Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1987.

23/29

Bubb, Allie and Sergio Dellay Bengola. "First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora 1981/2-1982//3:: United States Of America." Research Report Number 4. The Institute of Contemporary Jewry, Project for Jewish Educational Statistics, and JESNA: Hebrew University of Jerusallem, 1986.

Fishman, Sylvia Barack. <u>Learning About Learning: Insights on</u> <u>Contemporary Jewish Education from Jewish Population Studies</u>. Maurice and Marilyn Cohen Center for Modern Jewish Studies: Brandeis University, December 1987.

Fox, Seymour. "Towards a General Theory of Jewish Education." In <u>The Future of the Jewish Community in North</u> <u>America</u>, edited by D. Sidorsky. NY: Basic Books, 1973.

Fox, Seymour. "The Vitality of Theory in Schwabls Conception of the Practical." <u>Curriculum Inquiry</u> 15:1 ((1985)).

> Genuth, Nitza, Sergio Della Pergola, and Allie Dubb. "First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora 1981/2-1982//3: International Summary." Research Report Number 3. The Institute of Contemporary Jewry: Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1985.

Goodman,, Roberta and Ron Reynolds.. "Field Notes.." Consultation of 17 Jewish educators, members of CAJE, for the Commis-HERELLAR Education in North America, 1990.. er: Today

Himmelfarb, Hairbill'S. "Symposium oh<the Jewish School Teacher: Today and Tomorrowy Jewissh Willicen Desn 55? D-(Spring 1987)).

Himmelfarb, Harold S. and Sergio Della pergola, eds. <u>Jewish</u> <u>Education Worldwide: Cross-Cultural Perspectives</u>, NY: University Press of America, 1989.

Himmelfarb, Milton and David Singer, eds. <u>American Jewish</u> <u>Yearbook</u>, vols. 81-86. NY and Philadelphia: American Jewish Committee and the Jewish Publication Society, 1987-88.

Hochstein, Annette. ","The Israel Experience": Educational Programs in Israel." The Jewish Education Committee of the Jewish Agency for Israel, June 1986.

> --Senior Personnel for Jewish Education Progress Report --December 1986." The Jewish Education Committee of the Jewish Agency, 1986 (umpublished).
The Holmes Group. <u>Tomorrow's Teachers:</u> A <u>Report of</u> the <u>Holmes Group</u>. Michigan: The Holmes Group, 1986.

JESNA. "Budgeting and Financing in Jewish Day Schools, 1984."

-- "Budgeting and Financing in Jewish Supplementary Schools, 1983."

*

Eaddition 3

*

 $\mathbf{1}$

Faddition3

-- "Statistical Highlights of Jewish Schooling in the U.S." <u>Trends</u> 11 ((Spring 1986)).

JWB. "Directory of Jewish Resident Camps," 1988.

-- "Maximizing Jewish Educational Effectiveness of Jewish Community Centers," 1984.

Kosmin, Barry. "Contemporary American Jewry: Implications for Planning." North American Jewish Data Bank, Occasional Paper 4 ((June 1988)).

Kosmin, Barry, Paul Ritterband, and Jeffrey Scheckmer.. "Jewish Population in the United States, 1986." <u>American</u> <u>Jewish Yearbook 1987</u>, vol. 87. NY: American Jewish Committee & Jewish Publication Society, 1987.

Liebman, Naomi. <u>Federation Allocations to Jewish Education</u> <u>1980-84</u>. NY: CJF Statistics Unit, 1985.

-- <u>Federation Allocations to Jewish Education 1980-86</u>. NY: CJF Statistics Unit, 1986.

National Commission on Excellence in Education. <u>Meeting the</u> <u>Challenge of a Nation at Risk</u>. Cambridge, MA: USA Research, 1984.

-- <u>A Nation at Rísk: The Full Account</u>. Cambridge, MA: USA Research, 1984.

Reimer, Joseph. "The Great Family Debate:: Implications for Jewish Education," 1990.

Reimer, Joseph, ed. <u>To Build a Profession: Careers in Jewish</u> <u>Education</u>. Waltham, MA: The Hornstein Program in Jewish Communal Service, Brandeis University, 1987.

Rosemak, Michael, ed. <u>Studies in Jewish Education</u>, vol. 2. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, 1984.

Schiff, Alvin I. <u>Contemporary Jewish Education: Issachar</u> <u>American Style</u>. NJ: Rossel Books, 1988.

-- "Jewish Education at the Crossroads: The State of Jewish
 -- "Lewish Education," 1983. Report prepared for the Joint Program for Jewish Education, in conjunction with CJF, JWB, and JESWA.

3



Schoem, David. <u>Ethnic Survival in America:</u> <u>An Ethnography</u> of a Jewish Afternoon School. Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1989.

-- "Explaining Jewish Student Failure," <u>Anthropology & Educa-</u> tion <u>Quarterly</u> 13:4 (Winter 1982).

Ukeles, Jacob B. "Senior Educator: A Career Option for Jewish Studies Students." The Jewish Education Committee of the Jewish Agemcy, Publication Number 5, October 1987.

4

2/0/129



APPENDIX E:

CONSULTATIONS AND MEETINGS

The Commission on Jewish Education in North America held six plenary meetings in New York City;



¥

×

¥

mann *

 August 1, 1988 -- UJA/Federation of Jewish Philantthropiess, New York
 December 13, 1988 --UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies, New York
 June 14, 1989 -- Hebrew Union College, New York
 October 23, 1989 -- UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies, New York
 February 14, 1990 -- UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies, New York
 June 12, 1990 -- American Jewish Committee, New York

In addition, the staff of the Commission benefited from the advice of the commissioners and other experts by way of imdividual and group consultations. The following is a list of those individuals who generously gave of their time to participate in these consultations:

Individual Consultations

Dr. Robert Abramson--United Synagogue of America Chaim Botwinick --UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropics of New York Prof. Steven M. Cohen-Queens College of CUNY Prof. David Cohn-- Michigan State University Prof. James Coleman--University of Chicago Prof. Lawrence A. Cremin--Teachers College of Columbia University Dr. Linda Darling-Hammond =-Teachers College of Columbia University Prof. Moshe Davis-- International Center for the University Teaching, of Jewish Civilization Mrs. Sylvia Ettenberg--Jewish Theological Seminary of America Dr. Paul Flexner--JEESSMAA Rabbi Faul Friedman -- United Synagogue of America Alan Hoffmann The Malton Centery of The Hebrew University (Sanvel Mendel Meiton) (for Javish Education if the Graspera) Jerusalem Dr. Steve Huberman -- Jewish Federation Council of Greater Los Angeles Dr. Leofa Isaacs=- JASSNA JEC ARSSCHERTPON Mitchell Jaffe =-

27/29



6

<u>Group</u> <u>Consultations</u>

¥

changes regarding names

specifically

ind, cate

2

Yron

400

ere

Mary

There have been

The following meetings were held in the United States and Israel:

- September 288, 19888, Jerusalem, Educators' Forum Participants: Walter Ackerman, Barry Chazan, Seymour Fox, Annette Hochstein, Alan Hoffman, Barry Holtz, Avraham Infeld, Debbie Meline, David Resnick.
- October 144, 199888, Boston Ressearch Forum Particippants: Jack Bieler, Joshua Elkin, Seymour Fox, Annette Hochstein, Sara Lee, Debbie Melime, Art Naparsteck, Alvin Schiff, Barry Shrage, Jonathan Woocher.
- October 277, 199888, Jerussdeem, Educators' Fromm Participants: Walter Ackerman, Barry Chazam, Seymour Fox Soll Greenfield, Sam Heilman, Annette Hochstein, Barry Holtz, Avraham Infeld, Jonathan Kesterbeum, Memachem Revivi, David Resnick, Don Scher.
- Mandh 2, 1989, Brandbiss University: Sylvia Fishman, Art Naparstek, Joseph Reimer, Susan Shevitz, Larry Sternberg.
- August 15, 1989, CADE leadershipp, Seattled: Seymour Fox, Mark Gurvis, Annette Hochstein, Betsy Katz, Morton L. Mandel, Ron Reymolds, Eliot Spack.
- 6. August 15, 1989, CADE researchers, Seattle: Hanan Alexander, David Ariel, Isa Aron, Arych Davidson, Joshua Elkin, Mark Gurvis, Annette Nochstein, Sara Leo, Alvin Schiff. ^k serEor Pox
- 7. December 44-55, 19899, CANFE convened the following group of educators for a two-day consultation in Cleveland to consider programmatic areas for the work of the Commission: Harlene Appelman, Ephraim Buchwald, Lynda Cohen, Lavey Darby, Gail Dorph, Marvell Ginsburg, Roberta Goodman, Mark Gurvis, Janet Harris, Charles Nerman, Jo Kay, Farl Lefkovitz, Lenny Matanky, Joseph Reimer, Ron Reynolds, Lifsa Schachter, Eliot Spack, Bobbi Stern, Joy Wasserman, Gary Wexler, Ron Wolfson, Lois Zachary.
- December 4-5, 1999, Cleveland, Research Forum
 Participants:
 Hanan Alexander, Isa Aaron, Jack Bieler, Arych
 Davidson, Sharon Feinman-Numser, Allan Hoffmann, Barry
 Holtz, Michael Inbar, Alvin Schiff, Eliot Spack,

ier-oyf Fok, //)mew HocksV(?i'nA

29/29

Jonathan Woocher.

9. (Unvened by Norman Lamm

Eaderhions

convened by

Jsmar

10.

schorsch

Jewish Educations Dr. Karen Bacom, Rivkah Behar, Ida Bobrowsky, Joel Boritz, Mrs. Susan Dworken, Rabbi Bavid Eliach, Br. Ephraim Frankel, Dr. Emanuel Goldman, Rabbi Shraqa Gross, Dr. Yitzhak Handel, Rabbi Robert Hirt, David Kolatch, Rabbi Eugene Kwallwasser, Morton L. Mandel, Dr. Leonard Matansky,, Dr. Joseph J. Preill,, Rabbi Jacob Rabinowitz, Art Rotman,, Rabbi Martin Schloss, Dr. Mordecai Schnaidman, Audrey Schurgim, Rabbi David G. Shapiro, Dr. Zalmam F. Wry,, Dr. Harvey Well, Rabbi Yitzhak Witty

January 25 1990. New York, Meeting with Orthodox

January 26, 1990, New York, Meeting with Conservative Movement Jewish Education Cabinets Dr. Robert Abramson, Dr. Hanan Alexander, Dr. Aryeh Davidsom, Dr. Sheldon Dorff, Dr. Paul Friedman, Mirsch Jacobson, Morton L. Mandel, Dr. Eduardo Rauch, Dr. John Ruskay, Dr. Ismar Schorsch, Judith Siegel, Dr. Eliot Spiegel, Jonathan Woocher.

February 15, 1990, New York, Meeting with Reform Jewish 11. Educators:

Eadertions convened by Rabbi Airced Gotischalk

Rabbi Howard Bogot, Rabbi Steven Gartim, Dr. Alfred Gottschalk, Mark Gurvis, Sara Lee, Morton L. Mandell, Rabbi Kerry Orlitsky, Professor Joseph Reimer, Arthur Rotman, Rabbi Jonathan Stein, Zena Sulkus, Jame West, Henry L. Zucker.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

-



OORDERFORM

,

-

•

CHAIRMANSSPREFACE

Where?

4.



A TIME TO ACT

עת לעשות

The Report of

the Commission on Jewish Education in North America

DRAFT Nove/ebeff September 1990

HIGSHVAN STASI

Convened by the Mandel Associated Foundations, JWB, and JESNA in Collaboration with CJF JCC As Sociation

THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

The Commission on Jewish Education in North America was established to launch an unprecedented undertaking -- to pool the energies and resources of all sectors of the Jewish community in a common method effort to enlarge the scope, raise the standards, and improve the quality of Jewish education.

The idea of forming the Commission was conceived by Morton L. Mandel and his brothers Jack N. Mandel and Joseph C. Mandel of Cleveland, Ohio and financed by the Mandel Associated Foundations.

The Commission reflected the diversity of the North American Jewish community and included outstanding community leaders, scholars, educators, rabbis, leaders of the Orthodox, Conservative, Reconstructionist, and Reform denominations, and the heads or the principals of leading family foundations.

A partnership of the communal and private sectors, the Commission was convened by the Mandel Associated Foundations, the JCC Association, and JESNA in collaboration with CJF. It met six times over a period of two years, from August 1, 1988 to June 12, 1990.

JCC Association

The Jewish Community Center Association of North America (formerly JWB) is the leadership body for the North American network of JCCs and Ys.

JESNA

The Jewish Education Service of North America is the orgamized community's planning, service, and coordinating agency for Jewish education.

CJF

The Council of Jewish Federations is the umbrella organization for Jewish community federations in North America.

MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION

Mona Riklis Ackerman Ronald Appleby David Arnow Mandell L. Berman Jack Bieler Charles R. Bronfman John C. Colman Maurice S. Corson Lester Crown David Dubin Stuart E. Eizenstat	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	resident of the Riklis Family Foundation Toronto Jewish Congress, Jewish Nation Fund, Council of Jewish Federations, United ewish Appeal North American Chair, New Israel Fund President, Council of Jewish Federations Chairman of High School Judaic Studies, Hebre Academy of Greater Washington Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theotog al Seminary of America
David Arnow Mandell L. Berman Jack Bieler Charles R. Bronfman John C. Colman Maurice S. Corson Lester Crown David Dubin	A P P C P C P C C F F C C F F C C F F F C C F F F F	I Fund, Council of Jewish Federations, United ewish Appeal North American Chair, New Israel Fund President, Council of Jewish Federations Chairman of High School Judaic Studies, Hebre Academy of Greater Washington Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
Mandell L. Berman Jack Bieler Charles R. Bronfman John C. Colman Maurice S. Corson Lester Crown David Dubin	J. . N . P . C . A . C . C . A . C . C . A . C . C . A . C . C . A . C . C . C . C . C . C . C . C . C . C	ewish Appeal North American Chair, New Israel Fund President, Council of Jewish Federations Chairman of High School Judaic Studies, Hebre Academy of Greater Washington Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
Mandell L. Berman Jack Bieler Charles R. Bronfman John C. Colman Maurice S. Corson Lester Crown David Dubin	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	North American Chair, New Israel Fund President, Council of Jewish Federations Chairman of High School Judaic Studies, Hebre Academy of Greater Washington Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
Mandell L. Berman Jack Bieler Charles R. Bronfman John C. Colman Maurice S. Corson Lester Crown David Dubin	- F - C - F - F - F - F	President, Council of Jewish Federations Chairman of High School Judaic Studies, Hebre Academy of Greater Washingtom Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
Jack Biæler ··· Charles R. Bronfman ··· John C. Colman ··· Maurice S. Corson ··· Lester Crown ··· David Dubin ···	- C - P - F - F - F	Chairman of High School Judaic Studies, Hebre Academy of Greater Washington Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
Charles R. Bronfman John C. Colman Maurice S. Corson Lester Crown David Dubin	- C - P - F - F - F	Academy of Greater Washington Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
John C. Colman · Maurice S. Corson · Lester Crown · David Dubin ·	- C - F - F - F - F	Chairman and Founder, the CRB Foundation President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
John C. Colman · Maurice S. Corson · Lester Crown · David Dubin ·	- F C - F - F - F	President, Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
Maurice S. Corson Lester Crown David Dubin	- F	Chicago President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
Lester Crown David Dubin	- F - F - Ē	President, the Wexner Foundation Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
Lester Crown David Dubin	- F	Past Chairman of the Board, the Jewish Theolog
David Dubin	- E - F	
	- E	al Seminary of America
	- F	*
Stuart E. Eizenstat		Executive Director, JCC on the Palisades
		President of the Jewish Community Center of
		Greater Washington and Honorary Vice-Presid
	C	of the American Jewish Committee
Joshua Elkin	- F	Headmaster, Solomon Schechter Day School of
	(Greater Boston in Newton
Eli N. Evans ·	North	resident, CharlesJH. Revson Foundation
Irwin S. Field	-	Director, Jewish34Bency for Israel
Max M. Fisher	. ,	Sormed Chairman, Board of Governors, the Jew
	ł	Agency for Israel
Alfred Gottschalk	- E	President, Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institu
	Ģ	of Religion
Arthur Green	. I	President, Reconstructionist Rabbinical College
Irving Greenberg	- 1	President, the National Jewish Center for Learn
0 0	ê	and Leadership (CLAL)
Joseph S. Gruss		Founder, Fund for Jewish Education
Robert I. Hiller		President, the Zanwyl Krieger Fund
David Hirschhorn		Businessman, active in national and local Jewish
		communal affairs
Carol K. Ingall	- 1	Executive Director, Bureau of Jewish Education
		Rhode Island
Ludwig Jesselson	. 1	Past President and Chairman, UJA//Federation
Edding Posseson		lewish Philanthropies of New York Joint
		Campaign
Henry Koschitzky		Past Chairman, Board of Jewish Education,
noury researchy		Toronto
Mark Lainer		Vice-President, Jewish Education Service of No
Mark Faultr		America
Norman Lamm	4	President, Yeshiva University

Sara S. Lee		Director, Rhea Hirsch School of Education, Hebrew Union College
Seymour Martín Lipset		Caroline S.G. Munro Professor of Political Science and Sociology and Senior Fellow, Hoover Institution, Stanford University
Haskel Lookstein		Principal, Ramaz School; Rabbi, Congregation Kehilath Jeshurun
Robert E. Loup		Past National Chairman, National Center for Learning and Leadership (CLAL)f
Matthew J. Maryles		Chairman, Fund for Jewish Education, UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthroppies of New York President, Jewish Comunity Centers Association of North America President, Jewish Community Centers Association
Florence Melton		bastinitiated projects in Jewistr and secular education Not for num -s day
Donald R. Mintz		President, Jewish Comunity Centers Association of the Hebrau University
Lester Pollack		President, Jewish Community Centers Association of North America
Charles Ratner		Chairman, Cleveland Commission on Jewish Continuity
Esther Leah Ritz	••	Past President of Jewish Comunity Centers Association of North America
Harriet L. Rosenthal		Vice-President, JCC Association
Alvin I. Schiff		Executive Vice-President, Board of Jewish Education of Greater New York
Ismar Schorsch		Chancellor and Professor of Jewish Histony, Jewish Theological Seminary of America
Daniel S. Shapiro	••	Past President, Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York
Margaret W. Tishman	•••	Immediate Past President, UJA//Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York
Isadore Twersky		Rabbi, Professor and Director of the Harvard
- r 1 ,"	List	8. University Center for Jewish Studies
Bennett Yanowitz		President, Jewish Education Service of North
		America (JESNA)

COMMISSION STAFF AND CONSULTANTS

Senior Policy Advisors

David S. Ariel		President, Cleveland College of Jewish Studies
Seymour Fox		Professor of Education, the Hebrew University,
		Jerusalem
Annette Hochstein		Director, Nativ-Policy and Planning Consultants,
		Jerusalem Vill Presi JouAr
Stephen H. Hoffman	••	Executive Director, Jewish Community Federation
		of Cleveland
Martin S. Kraar		Executive Vice-President, Council of Jewish
		Federations Qeserve
Arthur J. Naparstek		Professor of Social Work, Case Western University
Arthur Rotman	••	Executive Vice-President, JCC Association
Carmi Schwartz		Executive Vice-President Emeritus, Council of
		Jewish Federations
Herman D. Stein		University Professor and Provost Emenitus, Case
		Western Reserve University
Jonathan Woocher	**	Executive Vice-President, JESNA
Henry IL. Zucker		Director, Commission on Jewish Education in
		North America

Director

Henry L. Zucker

Research and Planning

Seymour Fox, Director Annette Hochsteim, Associate Director

Sta	ff
Tealmins	SIER T

Estelle Albeg	••	Research Assistant, Nativ-Consultants, Jerusalem
Mark Gurvis	**	Director of Social Planning and Research, Jewish
		Community, Federation of Cleveland.
Virginia F. Levi		Program Outlicer, Premier Industrial Foundation
Debbie Meline	••	Research Assistant, Nativ-Consultants, Jerusalem
Joseph Reimer		Assistant Professor, Benjamin S. Hornstein
		Program in Jewish Communal Service, Brandleis
		University
Decesses and Methodala	(2.3 .).	Consultants
Research and Methodolo	<u>er v</u>	1 St. D. C.
Prof. Michael Inbar		Mor Past Dean, Faculty of Social Sciences, the Hebrew University, Jerusalem
Communications		0
David Finn		Chairman of the Board, Ruder Finn Wildin yok Editorial Director, Ruder Finn Wild You
Dena Merriam		Editorial Director, Ruderfina July J

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

[Now being prepared; to include statement by Professor Twersky]

CHAIRMAN'S PREFACE

[To be written following Commission's comments on report]]

Gennym 1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CHAIRMAN'S PREFACE

CHAPTER 1:	Facing the Crisis
CHAPTER 2:	The Realities of Jewish Education Today. JJL1. Building \$2\9 & 5 K Jeun Education EstaWishing Priorities and Developing a Plan
CHAPTER 3:	Establishing Prioritics and Developing a Plan
CHAPTER 4	A Blueprint for the Future
CHAPTER 5	A Time to Act

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

APPENDIX A:	Members of the Commission on Jewish Education in North America
APPENDIX B:	Staff and Consultants to the Commission on Jewish Education in North America
APPENDIX C:	Papers Commissioned for the Commission on Jewish Education in North America
APPENDIX D:	Sources and References
APPENDIX E:	Consultations and Meetings
APPENDIX F:	Order Form

CHAPTER 1: FACING THE CRISIS

The Crucial Importance of Jewish Education in Contemporary Jewish Life

There is a deep and widespread concern in the Jewish community today that the commitment to basic Jewish values, ideals, and behavior may be diminishing at an alarming rate. A substantial number of Jews no longer seem to believe that Judaism has a role to play in their search for personal fulfillment and communality. This has grave implications not only for the richness of Jewish life but for the very continuity of the Jewish people.

Throughout history Jews have faced dangers from without with courage and steadfastness; now a new kind of commitment is required. The Jews of North America live in an open society that presents an unprecedented range of opportunities and choices. This extraordinary environment confronts us with what is proving to be an historic dilemmal while we cherish our freedom as individuals to explore new horizons, we recognize that this very freedom poses a dramatic ehallenge to the future of the Jewish way of life. The Jewish community must meet the challenge at a time when young people are not sure of their roots in the past or of their identity in the future. There is an MERCED to the former ways to ensure that Jews maintain and strengthen the commitments that are central to Judaism.

2

In our uniquely pluralistic society, where there are so mamy philossophies and ideologies competing for attention, and where the pursuit of Judaism increasingly involves a conscious choice, the burdem of preparation for such a decision resides with education. Jewish education must be compelling -- emotionally, intellectually, and spiritually -- so that Jews, young and old, will say to themselves: "I have decided to remain engaged, to continue to investigate and grapple with these ideas, and to choose an appropriate Jewish way of life." Jewish education must be sustained, expanded, and vastly improved if it is to achieve this objective. It must become an experience that inspires greater numbers of Jews to learn, feel, and act in a way that reflects a deep understanding of Jewish values.

A System Under Strain

The difficulties facing Jewish education bear some resemblance to the problems of education in general in North America. Well-known shorting to report have documented the serious lack of teaching talent and a slackening of academic standards, as well as Other problems fauling the Bills Calinsal system. A severe lack of funds, resources, status, and vision is causing the system to strain and crack. Jewish education is equally impoverished in regard to these basic requirements.

In North America today, Jewish education is often limited in scope times it is confined simply to teaching facts about Jewish history and holidays and some study of the Hebrew language. Many additional elements that should be central to the mission of Jewish education --

Sciville Segments of manufarmed a manufarmed a manufarmed a manufarmed a manufarmed a stand stan

WLZ- QUL Greepion

such as Jewish values and ideals, the attachment to the State of Israel and concern about Jews throughout the world, the meaning of prayer,, the relationship with God and community -- are often lacking. It is imperative that at this moment in history Jewish education become a formative rather than merely an informative experience. Without such change, it will be increasingly difficult to pass on to future generations a strong identity with and commitment to Judaism.

The core of Jewish education mgsP bg charactergulucation. Its goalinust be no loop than shaping the inner lives of people. It must find a way to transmit the essence of what Jewish life is all about, so that future generations of Jews will be impelled to search for meaning through their own rich traditions and institutions. Judaism must be "Aich present itself as a living entity and giveS the Jews of today the resources to find answers to the fundamental questions of life as readily as it did out for their ancestors through the centuries. Otherwise it could eventually be overtaken in the minds of many people by other systems of thought they feel are more meaningful for the modern world.

Competing Demands

This dangerous state of affairs is in no small measure the result of the historical, social, and cultural factors that have affected the priorities of the Jewish community. While there has always been support for Jewish education from the religious denominations (the Orthodox, the Conservative, and the Reform) and while many outstanding schools, community centers, and summer camps have been established, the

notices

leaders of the organized Jewish community have focused their attention on other serious issues.

Q o/miple/tiffg Demands

At the turn of the century, the chief emphasis was on financial support for the indigent newcomers and on their Americanization. In the '20s and '30s, the Jewish community focused on providing health and social services and to dealing with problems of anti-Semitism. During the post-war period, the highest priority was given to the life-saving work of Jewish relief, rehabilitation, and reconstruction, and to building the state of Israel. Subsequently, the succession of wars in the Middle Heastbecame-the primary concern. Currently, the Jewish community is mobilized for the rescue and resettlement of Soviet Jewry.

In the face of such life-and-death issues, the needs of education have seemed to be less urgent, less insistent, more diffused; a problem that could be dealt with at some point in the future when more pressing problems have been solved. This is an illusion. We may continue to live with emergencies indefinitely, but we can no longer postpome addressing the needs of Jewish education, lest we face an irreversible decline in the vitality of the Jewish people.

The attitudes of the Jewish community have also been influenced over the years by the desire of many to become fully integrated into American society, and by the belief that an intensive Jewish educa-

5

tion was not consistent with the achievement of this goal. One of the consequences of this outlook is the rise in intermarriage and the turning away from Jewish traditions in the search for fulfillment and meaning in life. According to a recent Gallup (Israel) Poll of Ameriican Jews, conducted in December 1989, the number of intermanniages has sharply increased in the past couple of decades. Currently, 28% of Jews under the age of 40, more than one in four, are intermanniad, compared with 16% of Jews between the ages of 40 and 59. Illiesse figures are consistent with studies of individual communities in North America undertaken in recent years,

A Weakening Commitment to Jewish Life

Research data indicate that Jews who intermarry are significantly less Dikely to provide their children with a Jewish education Asstudy of children of intermarriages shows that only 24% of children in dualfaith households-tdentify themselves as Jews.=

Another symptom of the problem is that while a large majority of Jewish children have at one time or another received some form of Jewish education, it has often been so sporadic that it has had little impact on their lives. A recent study found that over half of Jewish school age children in the United States are not currently enrolled in any kind of Jewish schooling. Inevitably, Children with little or no Jewish schooling Will grow up with a relatively weak identification with and understanding of Judaism, and have difficulty passing on to

Le une hanged

their children an appreciation of the beauty and richness of Jewish life.

In the past, the Jewish family and the Jewish community had certain bonds that gave them remarkable inner strength. Jews grew up in families and neighborhoods with a strong Jewish ambiance. They were constantly surrounded by the symbols and customs of Jewish life. They came into contact with their cultural and spiritual heritage in a variety of institutions and settings. Thus young people received a strong sense of Jewish identity through experiences in their everyday life. Today these theightborhoods and the way of life they represented have all but disappeared, as has the lifestyle that brought ongoing contact and interrelationship with grandparents and extended family members.

The weakening commitment to Jewish life, which can already be seem in the lives of the current generation of young adult Jews, may become even more apparent among their children and grandchildren. This painful prospect, which community leaders can foresee in their own families as well as in the community at large, has brought to a head concern about the quality and mission of Jewish education.

It was to meet this challenge that the idea of creating the Commission on Jewish Education in North America was born.

2

reason to be concerned that the attack which is at the core of the identity of fews, is weatening. This is particul ose who were born after the have

CHAPTER 2: THE REALITIES OF JEWISH EDUCATION TODAY

Coming to Grips with the Problem

The underlying assumption that guided the Commission was that the North American Jewish community had the capacity to mobilize itself for education as it had in the past for the building of the State of Israel, the rescue of Jews in distress, and the fight against discrimination. This would require that all sectors of North American Jewry join forces, pool their energies and resources, and launch an unprecedented undertaking to enlarge the scope, raise the standards, and improve the quality of Jewish education. To accomplish this, the Commission work fight have to review the current state of Jewish education in its = TWij UKOMM (neiXele balW) various aspects. Isuwalld have the analyze the problems, considering the americant shortcomings, and determine where the most promising opporturatives for improvement might lie.

The Diversity of the Field

It is clear that Jewish education today encompasses a broad range of learning experiences. Hundreds of thousands of American Jews of all ages are currently involved in one way or another informal and informal educational programs. A multitude of institutions offer a wide variety of educational activities. Many of these institutions are under the auspices of individual religious denominations == the Orthodox, the Conservative, the Reconstructionist, the Reform. Others are

independent

part of communal or ideological organizations. Altogether they inelude day schools, yeshivot, supplementary schools, synagogue-based programs of study and informal activities, community centers, programs at colleges and universities, youth movements, summer camps, educational visits to Israel, early childhood programs, adult and family programs, retreat centers, and museums. Thousands of educators --some estimates say 30,000 -- staff these institutions and activities. (See Table 1, next page:)

In addition, there are many other ways in which Jewish content is communicated to the Jews of North America --- through the print and broadcast media, cultural events, films, books, and lectures. All of these combined contribute to the diversity and richness of the field of It is estimated that more thank billion platlass is spent annually on Jenvish education.

Shortcomings in Specific Settings

Despite the extensive range of activities, Jewish education is not achieving its mission. Exposure to existing Jewish educational programs leaves many North American Jews indifferent to Judaism, and unwilling or unable to take an active part in Jewish communal living.

Why is this happening?

Although all of these institutions and areas of activities offer great promise for Jewish education, the each plagued by serious problems. Supplementary schools, for instance, have for years reached the

Wite	to telt leaf of that for
TABLE 1: THE KNOWN FACTS AND FIGURES OF	JEWISH EDUCATION *
JEWISH POPULATION	

Mou

5

P

20

D

3>

for

	United States (1987)	Canada (1989)
Total	5,944,000	310,000
School age (ages 3-17)	880-950,000	57,000

Ν.

-

1

-

٩

		200
1.	Day Schools	600-800 schools, 120,000 participants
2.	Supplementary Schools	4600-1800 schools, 280,000 participants
3.	Jewish Community Centers	220 centers and branches, close to 1 million members, many more occasional partici — pants in activities
4,	Camping	120.00 children in day camps; 85,000 children in residential camps
5.	Youth Movements	75,000 members; another 25,000 occasional participants
6.	Educational visits to Israel	25,000 participant in a large variety of programs
17.	Earty Childhood Programs	50,000 participants
8.	Adult Education	5% 108% of the adult population participate in formal and informal programs
9.	Retreat or Conference Centers	in 50 cities in North America
110	. Family Education	over one hundred family programs ranging from one-time activities to family camps or year-long courses
The d availa well a	. College-age Programs ata represent a compilation of sources reflecting current ble statistics on Dewish education in North America as s research undertaken for the Commission. Figures Bre-	over 600 colleges and universities offer courses and academic programs in Judaica. About 100,000 students are served by Jewish agencies on campus.
	(Sources are listed in Apaudix D	14 Faminia institution in north America
12	. Training Institutions for educators	Ho also takes plate in Israel, particularly

largest number of Jewish children in the United States. Yet they continue to face difficulties in motivating students who have spent a full day at public school, who have ongoing homework responsibilities, hotalie and who have a variety of competing interests such as television, CEPSV149 QAH Hadah & LAS " 0:2sports, music, and other leisure-time activities Mover the past several decades, there has been a significant decline in the role and quality of such schools and herice is a wide perception among American Jews theatthis kind of education 4s not succeeding. The currentlum and the etucational4mpattane webrTunewer. As one commissioner put it, "As long as Sanday school is something you have to live through, rather than enjoy, it cannot be valuable. So many Jewish-Americans have supplementary) had an impoverished Sansas' school experience as their only Jewish education."

Day schools have been increasing in number and size of student body; however, they still only reach 12% of the total Jewish student populacition. At present, the vast majority of Jewish parents are unwitting to enroll their children in a school environment they perceive as partiehial. Moreover, policy makers question the prospects of continued growth in light of the high cost of tuition, which is prohibitive even for many middle class families.

Jewish Community Centers are engaged in a major effort to make Jewish education a central element in their programming; the chalknowl loop lenge facing them is whether arwiti-be possible to convert this institu-

tion into a major force for lewish education within a framework that is primarily recreational, social, and cultural.

Early childhood programs under Jewish auspices have been growing in number because increasingly both parents work. However, many of these programs have not made Jewish education their primary focus, because of a & eof4je. Shortage of trained paramet.

Jewish education programs on college campuses could potentially reach a large portion of the estimated 400,000 Jewish students who attend colleges and universities. Yet at the present time, they reach ko make than only a fraction of this audience. Therefore On most campuses the impact of these programs is limited.

It is well known that Israel speaks powerfully to its visitors, but it is extremely underutilized as a resource for Jewish education. The majority of American Jews have never been to the country, and many foffinal and informal Jewish educators have not availed themselves of J Israel's educational resources. wAxdk. The grant point of the formation of the formati Youth movements, which at one time were powerful feeders for community leadership and Jewish professional life, have lost a good deal of their vigor and are suffering from a declining membership.

Although there have been some remarkable success stories in Jewish summer camps, such camps tend to be expensive, and many do not have Jewish education as their central purpose.

<u>(</u>-

Finally, there is no question that the print and broadcast media, and innovative forms of learning through the use of computers, museum exhibitions, films, and videocassettes, offer tremendous opportunities for the future of Jewish education. But this is still a virtually untapped (south cu) field, and few quality programs have been created.

Overall Problems

In addition to the shortcomings specific to each area of Jewish education, there are overall problems that affect the entire field. Sporadic participation, deficiencies in educational content or adk of reliable⁽⁾ Qatel inadequate community support, and an wall cooped of of siston of Jewish education - all of these problems manifest themselves in each of the settings, forms, and age groups.

Sporadic Participation

Jewish education is a voluntary system. This means that unlike the obligation for continuing participation that is accepted in general education for given age groups, in Jewish education attendance is discretionary. With so many diversions and competing interests at work in North American society today, sustained involvement cam only be achieved when there is genuine engagement and commitment. The lack of such involvement has resulted in a general pattern of sporadic participation for all types of Jewish educational activities. This state of affairs is in conflict with the fundamental commitment that Judaism requires for lifelong learning.

There are close to one million Jewish children of school age in North America. Most of these children, perhaps as many as 80%, have attended some form of Jewish schooling at least one time in their lives. However, for many, attendance is often short-lived and sporadic. Close to 600,000 children currently do not receive any form of Jewish schooling. Only some 400,000 in the U.S. (about 40% of all Jewish children), and 32,000 in Canada (about 55%) are currently enrolled in any Jewish school. The problem is more pronounced with children over Bar Mitzvah, Bat Mitzvah, or confirmation age, when attendance drops by more than 60%. (See Figure 1)



FIG 1: AVERAGE ENROLLMENT IN SUPPLEMENTARY SCHOOL PER AGE AND GRADE LEVEL (U.S., 1982/3)



Over a twenty-year period, from 1962 to 1982, total enrollment in Jewish schools in the U.S. declined by nearly 35%. It is estimated that about half of this decline reflects a lessening interest in Jewish schooling, the other half negative demographic trends (the end of the baby boom). It is interesting to note that during this time period the most extensive form of Jewish education in the U.S., the supplementary school, declined by about 50%, from 540,000 to 280,000, while day school enrollment rose from 60,000 to 110,000, a rise of 80%. (See Figure 2) However, even for day school, attendance falls off shamply after elementary school.



FIG. 2: ENROLLMENT U.S.: 1962 & 1982

Part of the difficulty encountered in Jewish schools, panticularly the supplementary school, is the discrepancy between what takes place in the school setting and the environment at home. If there is to appreciation or respect for Jewish values and traditions in the home environment, it is 4 and the school between will not be motivated to participate seriously and continuously in Jewish schooling.

A study based on direct observation of supplementary schools reveals

a clear connection between a child's home life and the effectiveness of

Enplaining Jewish Student Garly R

Jewish education?

Schem reports

... the explanation for failure of students in the Jewish school lay in their parents' and their own perception that there was no compelling reward to be expected from their education.... The 12-year-olds who complained that "Hebrew school doesn't matter" were speaking truthfully about the attitudes and behaviors they saw valued at home and in the community? For them, going to Harvard "counted"; studying a portion of the Torah did not. (Schoem, 1982, p. 18)

(1982)

Studies show that idterest in Jewish learning continues to drop as Jews enter adulthood. Among college-age students, no more than an estimated 25% avail themselves of Jewish educ itism services. And (Snly one in ten Jewish adults continues to be involved in any type of organ-

ized Jewish learning.

Deficiencies in Educational Content

Much of the subject matter presented in Jewish education fails to inspire students. One reason is that Jewish education has not yet had the

benefit of enough high-qualityaprofassiental thinking and planning in the areas of curniculum developments/dis/fyeducational content a>wd

Although general education is beset by many problems in this regard, it is a social science ducation, the teaching of the humanities and social sciences, and the development of methods of language instruction. Very little of a comparable nature is being done in the field of Jewish education.

2

For example, there are few centers that specialize in developing effective methods for teaching the Hebrew language, Jewish history, and the great Jewish texts "- the Bible, the Talmud, and the key philosophical writings from the medieval period to the present day. Very few teachers have been encouraged to specialize and take leadership in any of these areas. Nor have they been supported in their efforts to create educational materials for Jewish schools and informal education. Consequently, there is a dearth of appropriate curricular and educational materials for early childhood education, the day and supplememtary schools, informal education, and adult education.

As a result of this deficiency, the vast majority of Jews are not adequately exposed to the great ideas of the Jewish tradition. And without such in a such a suc

The Lack of Reliable Data

Very little research on Jewish education is being carried out in North America. There is a paucity of data about the basic issues, and almost no evaluation has been made to assess the quality and impact of programs.

Because of this, decisions are taken without the benefit of clear evidence of need, and major resources are invested without sufficient monitoring. We do not know what people want to learn, and we seldom know what works in Jewish education. We do not even know much about what students know at different stages of their education. There are not enough standardized achievement tests. There is not sufficiently accurate information on the number of teachers in the system, their qualifications, and their salaries.

We also need more extensive investigation into the history and philosophy of Jewish education in order to enrich the creative process that will help design the Jewish education of tomorrow.

Inadequate Community Support

The Jewish community has not yet recognized the indispensable role it must play in order for Jewish education to achieve its goal. Community leaders have often failed to make the connection between the educational process and the knowledge that leads to commitment.

MOVE TO PAGE 22

lack of understanding that has prevented

It is for this freescontibest the top community leadership in North Amerifr'ow' controlled to the cause of Jewish education is a start extand it has to other pressing needs of the Jewish people. The constituencies wich if of soanaay national and local organizations have 28% not yet recognized that Jewish education is indispensable to their futures.

As a result, the environment in the Jewish community is not favorable for the kind of massive investment that is required to bring about systemic change. This affects the priority given to Jewish education, the status of the field of Jewish education, and the level of funding that is granted.

insufficient

tors.

Inevitably, the feliact information of the second s

The Underenoped Profession of Jewish Education

There is a severe shortage of talented, trained, and committed personnel for the field of Jewish education. It is estimated that there are some 30,000 positions for Jewish education in North America, of which about 5,000 are full-time. There will be school opens in September. Yet only 101 students graduated in 1989 from all Jewish education TUX9 descriptions for Jewish education will be filled by individuals who have not been trained as Jewish educa-

au \$places

be filled by individuals who have not been trained as Jewish educ

Most of those who enter the field do so with far less education tham their counterparts in the public education system. Thus, while over half of public school teachers hold a Master's Degree, this is true of only a small percentage of teachers in Jewish day schools. It is estimated that nearly one out of every flive (17%) treadhors in day schools digs. Thus Jkawe a college degree. Fewer than half of the teachers in the supplementary schools have had a high school Jewish education. Informal educators are trained in various disciplines but receive almost no preservice training in Jewish education.

field is the part-time nature of many of the teaching positions. Of the total number of Jewish school teachers, it is estimated that only about 15% to 20% hold full-time positions. Isa Aron and Bruce Phillips have reported in "Findings of the Los Angeles Bureau of Jewish Education Teachers Census" that only 23% of all the teachers in Los Angeles teach more than 20 hours per week, while 54% teach under 10 hours.

Low salaries, a serious problem in general education, jizeven more prevalent in Jewish education. Only 14% of Jewish educators in Los Angeles earn \$20,000 or more, while 41% earn under \$3,000 a year. Only 20% receive health benefits/ In 1988, supplementary school teachers carrying a 12-hour work load per week earned an average allCAOM-jS J annual salary of \$9,000. Early childhood teachers earned SETTED ter \$10,000. Full-time day school teachers carrying a 30-hour work load per week earned an average annual salary of \$19,000. These figures
are lower than the average public school teacher's salary of \$25,000 for kiindergarten teachers and \$30,000 for elementary school teachers (according to the latest National Education Association figures)), which in itself is recognized as woefully inadequate.

Moreover, throughout the United States, supplementary Jewish education experiences a high rate of teacher turnover. According to the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland & Report on Jewish Commimuitting 1986 there was an annual teacher turnover rate in Cleveland schools of approximately 20%, and other communities around the country have a similar pattern.

Another problem is that often the best teachers in the schools find themselves promoted to the role of school principals. The ladder of advancement in Jewish education is essentially linear -- from teacher to t is difficul assistant principal to principal. There is almost no opportunity for advancement with enable talented teachers to assume leadership roles and specialize in the teaching of such subjects as Hebrew, the Bible, Jewish history, or in the fields of early childhood, family education, and special education. This lack of specialization is yet another deterrent for many individuals who might otherwise enter the field: it limits both the professional and intellectual growth of teachers.

Few Jews today are choosing Jewish education as a career, and this will leave the next generation of young Jews educationally impoverished unless something is done to reverse this trend. Arych Davidson, in

6-

"The Preparation of Jewish Educators in North Amenica," reports that teaching faculty at the training institutes are also in short supply. This year, all training programs together have only eighteen full-time faculty who specialize in Jewish education. It is obvious that so small a faculty cannot possibly undertake the many assignments that the training institutions must fill.

As one considers these problems, it becomes obvious that the salaries, training, working conditions, and status of Jewish educators have an important bearing on the problems of recruitment and retention of qualified personnel for the field of Jewish education. For Jewish education to become an attractive profession, it will have to develop clearly defined standards, appropriate terms of employment, a high level of training, and a network of collegial support.

Prospects for the Future

The review of the field of Jewish education presents a disturbing but not necessarily discouraging picture. When faced with the realities of Jewish education today, the commissioners recognized that while there are great shortcomings that need to be overcome, there are also significant examples of outstanding successes in every one of the settings in which Jewish education takes place.

Above all they were mindful that there are many dedicated and inspiring educators who, despite their difficult working conditions and lack of



mout 18

recognition in the community, succeed in engaging the minds of their students and in helping them find their way within the Jewish tradition.

inse

The challenge facing the Commission was to study the conditions that would make it possible for such successful programs to be replicated and for outstanding educators to serve as models for the entire field.

(The Commissioners recognized that

4£w35-cleant fills to this could only be accomplished if the enormous problems that beset the field were faced squarely. Only then could the Obe cleafe r AJ Commission develop a plan that would lemable Jewish education to kAOyie achieve its mission and become a powerful force in contemporary Jewish life.

The building blocks of Janish CHAPTER 3: ESTABLISHING PRIORITIES AND Education. DEVELOPINGEA PLAN

A Way to Begin

There are so many aspects of Jewish education which urgently need attention that it was difficult for the commissioners to decide where to begin. Several issues needed to be resolved for the Commission's plan of action: What area of education should provide the focus for the Commission's work? What implementation strategy would be most likely to succeed? Should work begin locally or continentally? Who would implement the plan?

Focusing the Work of the Commission

Commissioners identified 23 specific areas of education, each of which would be important enough in itself to warrant the attention of a special commission. (See Table 2.) The question was how to select those that would have the most significant impact and be most likely to effect substantial change in the field of Jewish education. The 23 areas were analyzed in terms of this question.

TABLE 2: Areas Suggested for the Commission's Agenda

- The early childhood age group 1.
- The elementary school age group
 The high school age group
 The college age group

- Young adults
 The family
- 7. Adults
- 8. The retired and the elderly
- 9. The supplementary school
- 10. The day school
- **11. Informal education**
- 12. Israel experience programs
- 13. Integrated programs of formal and informal education
- 14. The Hebrew language, with special initial emphasis on the leadership of the Jewish community
- 15. Curriculum and methods
- 16. The use of the media and technology (computers, videos, etc.)) for Jewish education
- 17. The shortage of qualified personnel for Jewish education
- 18. The Community == its leadership and its structures -as major agents for change in any area
- 19. Assistance with tuition
- 20. The physical plant (buildings, laboratories, gymnasia)
- 21. A knowledge base for Jewish education (research of various kinds: evaluations and impact studies,
 - assessment of needs, client surveys, etc.)
- 22. Innovation in Jewish education
- 23. Additional funding for Jewish education

Relate Graphically to text § 2 page 24.

Clearly, it would not make sense for the commissioners to concentrate on a particular educational setting, since each of these touch only a segment of the Jewish population. Similarly, the commissioners were reluctant to focus on a specific age group, since all ages are important. Attention was particularly drawn to the five overall problems that affect the entire system -- sporadic participation, deficiencies in educational content, lack of reliable data an undekceoped profession of Jewish education, for inadequate community support prover t

Upon analysis, it became clear that the most fundamental problems facing Jewish education are an undeveloped profession of Jewish education and inadequate community support.

There is a shortage of well-trained and dedicated educators for every area of Jewish education. They are needed in order to motivate and engage children and their parents, to create the necessary educational materials and methods, and to design and carry out a wide variety of research studies.

However, only if there is a fundamental change in the nature of community support for Jewish education is it likely that large numbers of talented young people will be attracted to careers in Jewish education. Only if community leaders will give Jewish education the high priority it deserves on the local and national agenda will the resources necessary for a program of major improvement be obtained. Only if the climate in the community is supportive of Jewish education will qualified teaching personnel be attracted to its new career opportunities.

Here then was the key to developing a comprehensive plam. The Commission's work would focus on these two necessary conditions for change and improvement:

011

- o Personnel -- developing.<u>a genuine</u> profession of Jewish education
- o The community -- recruiting leadership, securing funding, and developing appropriate structures.

These two areas would touch apon all of the others. They could therefor be considered the "building blocks" of Jewish education, upon which major improvement of the entire Jewish educational system rests.

Developing a Comprehensive Approach

There have been noteworthy attempts in the past to deal with the serious shortage of qualified educational personnel. Efforts have been made to raise salaries and to recruit students for training programs; however, dealing with single elements has not met with success. Indeed, talented people will not be recruited to training programs, unless these lead to attractive positions. Reasonable salaries will not solve the problem of retention unless there are prospects for advancement and growth.

In fact, the commissioners <u>seliced that</u> any plan developed by them would have to be comprehensive and devoted simultaneously to recruiting and training large numbers of qualified educators as well as to building career opportunities and offering reasonable salaries and benefits. The Commission's plan would not meet with success if it addressed only one of these elements; they must be addressed simultaneously. ī.

The commissioners also realized that personnel and the community were interrelated, each being dependent on the other for success. For Jewish education to attract talented and dedicated Jews to the field, these individuals must believe that the Jewish community will give them the resources necessary to make the difference.

At the same time the community will only be mobilized for the cause of Jewish education if it believes that a highly qualified profession of Jewish educators is being developed.

As work with the "building blocks" proceeds, it will provide the foundation for improvements in programmatic areas -- schools, JCCs, summer camps, Israel experience programs, curriculum development, and the sophisticated use of the electronic media. With large numbers of talented and well-trained educators entering the field, new and creative approaches in these areas will be developed.

Short-Range and Long-Range Strategies

Because of the vast scope of the field of Jewish education (30,000 educators, thousands of educational institutions) it would be difficult to bring about across-the-board changes throughout North America within a short time period. Moreover, education takes place locally, in communities and in institutions. Thus both a short-range and long-range strategy would need to be developed and they would include both local and continental components.

The short-range plan would concentrate on creating local models through which the Jewish community could learn what works best in Jewish education. It would demonstrate in a small group of communities what could happen if sufficient numbers of outstanding personnel are recruited and trained, if their efforts are supported by the community and its leadership, and if the necessary funds are secured to maintain such an effort over a period of several years.

The long-range plan would focus on establishing a North American infrastructure for recruiting and training increasing numbers of qualified personnel. This would involve working with training institutions to expand their faculties and facilities, to develop innovative training programs, and to establish extensive on-the-job training programs.

The plan would also call for a major effort in the community to take the steps that would raise Jewish education to the top of the

communal agenda and create a better environment -- a better climate -- for Jewish education.

Implementing the Plan

The core of the Commission's plan would be to infuse Jewish education with a new vitality by recruiting large numbers of talented, dedicated, and well-trained educators. These educators must be able-to work in a congenial environment, sustained by a Jewish community that recognizes Jewish education as the most effective means for perpetuating Jewish identity and creating a commitment to Jewish values and behavior.

To accomplish this objective, an entity would have to be created to ensure the enactment of the many phases of the Commission's plan. A research capability would also have to be established to provide reliable data on work being done and monitor the impact of various activities.

The ultimate goal would be to bring about across the board improvement in as many aspects of Jewish education as possible for all segments of the Jewish community.

CHAPTER 4: A BLUEPRINT FOR THE FUTURE

A series of concrete steDS were worked out by the Commission as a blueprint to achieve the objectives of its overall plan. These steps would assure that the plan would be more than a list of worthy goals; that t and would set in motion a process that could bring about tangible resuits over a period of time.

The plan includes the following elements:

- I. Building a Profession of Jewish Education
- II. Modilizing Community Support
- III. Establishing Lead Communitiess
- IV. Developing a Research Capability
- V. Creating the Councill for Initiativessim Jewish Education

I: Building a Profession of Jewish Education

Profession building will be accomplished by taking steps in the areas of *Qizchan* with recruitment, developing new sources of personnel, training, improve-

<u>Reeruitment</u>

A major marketing study will be conducted to identify those segments of the Jewish population in which there are potential candidates for careers in Jewish education, and to determine what motivations or incentives would be most likely to attract gifted people to the field. Thus, for instance, while it is obvious that equitable salary levels are an important motivating factor, there is some evidence that empowering educators to have an increased impact on the lives of students is even more significant.

The marketing study will help determine how to reach the key target groups for recruitment -- graduates of day schools, students participating in Jewish camps, college students studying in Judaica departments, students participating in Israel experience programs, and professionals at mid-caneer who are looking to make career changes.

Based on the results of the marketing study, a major recruitment plan will getlundef way. This may involve visits by educational consultants and trained recruiters to the major colleges and universities that have large Jewish populations. It may also include visits to Jewish summer camps, consultations with participants in work/study programs in Israel, and meetings with participants in community center activities.

An important part of the recruitment plan will be spreading the word through articles, speeches, seminars, and other forms of communications that Jewish education is about to undergo a major transformation. COMP P These efforts will help stimulate the interest of potential candidates in key target groups. Promotional materials (newsletters, brochures, videos, etc.) may be produced to maintain a constant flow of informa-

tion to these groups, thereby creating an awareness of the exciting changes that are taking place in the field.

Developing New Sources of Personnel

There is a reservoir of young Jews who are outstanding academics allu professionals in such fields as education, philosophy; sociology, and psychology who would welcome the opportunity to make a contribution couup to Jewish life for a few years. Such individuals will be recruited as Fellows of Jewish Education, bringing their expertise to the field of Jewish education in areas such as curriculum, teaching methods, and the media. They will serve as consultants to educators and educational institutions, and will help monitor and evaluate specific programs.

LINSERT 2

Another source of talent will be outstanding college students who are specializing in Judaica at colleges and universities, or are graduates of day schools and of Hebrew speaking camps. Although they may be heading for careers in law, medicine, or business and are not planning a lifelong career in education, many such students would be attracted to the idea of joining a Jewish Education Corps. This Will Involve spending several years of service in the Jewish educational system == as teachers in supplementary or day schools and as educators in community centers and other informal programs. The Jewish Education Corps will be similar in some respects to the Peace Corps. Agreements will be made in which these young people commit themselves to a fixed number of teaching hours a week for a set number of years. They will undergo special training and agree to pursue studies in Judaica during this time period, while also continuing their general studies. In exchange for their teaching services, they will receive appropriate remuneration.

Fast-Track Programs will be created for young men and women majoring in Judaica at colleges and universities who are attracted to the new opportunities in Jewish education. Because of their knowledge of Jewish subjects, they can be prepared in a relatively short period of time to assume important educational positions. It is estimated that there are hundreds of potential candidates for such positions who are currently studying Judaica subjects. Unlike the Jewish Education Corps, Fast-Track Programs will prepare students to enter full-time careers in Jewish education. They will steer students toward some of the prime educational positions that will be created as a result of the Commission's plan.

Career-Changers are also a promising source of new personnel for Jewish education. These are individuals in their thirties and forties who are interested in making major career changes to find more personally satisfying and more emotionally rewarding work. People from the corporate world, the legal profession, the arts, and other fields are turning to general education as a way to make a serious impact on the next generation. Those with good Jewish backgrounds represent an important potential for Jewish education. They bring with them a degree of maturity and life experience that can be extremely valuable.

Such individuals will be recruited for Jewish education as part of the Commission's program.

Training

The Commission's plan calls for an expansion of training opportunities in North America. Student bodies and faculties of current training institutions will be enlarged; new training programs for specialized fields and subjects will be developed; leadership training programs will be established; tatel in-service education for practicing educators will be espaceded y to accomplish this, substantial funding will be scented for program development, for additional faculty positions, and for student fellowships. One foundation participating in the Commission's work has already made significant grants to help initiate such efforts.

The important contribution of Israel 18 still one of these areas will be expanded.

The immediate target is to increase the number of graduates of the training institutions from the current level of 100 annually to at least 400. Thus over a 10-year period, significant progress will be made in filling the estimated 5,000 full-time positions in the Jewish educational system with well-trained personnel.

This expansion will require the enlargement of the full-time educational faculty in training institutions. New faculty positions will be filled by recruiting outstanding practitioners in the field, scholars from yeshivot, and academics from universities. Specialized programs will be created to prepare educators for new positions in such fields as informal educartion, early childhood education, family education, and the teaching of Bible, history, Hebrew, and other subjects.

A cadre of leaders will be prepared to assume key positions in Jewish education -- professors of Jewish education, researchers, curriculum developers, teacher trainers, directors of bureaus, heads of community centers, and principals for model and experimental schools. Promissing candidates will be selected at mid-career to participate in tailor-made programs. Other programs will be developed in North America, similar to the Jerusalem Fellows in Israel and the Senior Educators at the Hebrew University in Jerusalem, which have succeeded in recruiting, training, and placing more than 100 educators in leading positions throughout the world.

In-service education throughiseminars and conferences will-be orgamized by the training institutions as well as departments of Judaica at various general universities in North America and in Israel: Financial assistance will be provided to individuals in the Jewish educational system in order to make it possible for them to participate in these new programs. In time, this should become standard practice and basic to the professional growth of all of those who are working full-finde in formal and informal education.

Improvement of Salaries and Benefits

Salaries and benefits for educational personnel must be substantially increased in order to be competitive with other fields attracting talent-

ed Jews today. Unless this problem is addressed, it will be difficult to convince our most gifted young people to devote their lives to Jewissh education. A determination will be made as to appropriate remuneration levels necessary to retain dedicated and experienced educators, and funds will be raised to cover the additional costs. There are a number of communities and institutions which have already taken steps in this direction and can provide helpful models for this processs.

The role of federations in this area will be crucial. Once standards are developed for different salary levels and benefits, local federations will be encouraged to incorporate these in their fundraising targets and allocations. Public reports will be issued periodically on the progress being made in regard to increasing salary and benefits in Jewish education throughout North America.

Career Track Development

A career development program for educators will be created to provide for professional advancement. Front line educators such as teachers will be offered a variety of career path options. At present, the only path of advancement open to teachers is linear -- from teacher to assistant principal to principal. The new options will make it possible for teachers to assume leadership roles without having to move into admimistration. An expert in early childhood education or in teaching the Bible or Hebrew can make as important a contribution to Jewish education as the principal of a school. Appropriate positions will be created to enable such experts to play a larger role in the school system and thus have influence beyond his or her classroom.

The Empowerment of Educators

Gifted educators need to be empowered to have an influence on curriculum, teaching methods, and the educational philosophy of the institutions in which they work. Active programs with be undertaken with $m \equiv 1$ the institutions and agencies involved with Jewish education to develop ways of granting educators the opportunity to be involved in the decision-making process and play a meaningful role in the administration of schools and community centers.

This will require a reorientation of educational policy. Schools will be encouraged to develop incentives for teachers who show special promise in this regard. New positions with appropriate status will be developed for those who have the desire and ability to contribute significantly to the educational direction of their schools. Progress is already being made along these lines: one family foundation involved in the work of the Commission has already developed a program that will provide awards to creative educators who have developed outstanding programs.

Each of these elements will contribute significantly to building a profession of Jewish education. Talented people will be attracted to the profession when they believe they can make a difference, be empowered to help shape the content and methods in their own institutions, receive

we

adequate salaries and benefits, and benecognized as playing a leading role in determining the future of the Jewish people.

II: Mobilizing Community Support

A number of strategies will be developed to increase community support for Jewish education." Efforts will be made to recruit top commumity leaders, to increase funding, and to bring about a fundamental change in the community's attitude toward Jewish education.

ment 4

Recruiting Community Leaders

Top community leaders will be recruited individually to the cause of Jewish education by members of the Commission and other influential personalities who are able to convey the urgency of providing support for Jewish education. The North American Jewish community has demonstrated an unusual capacity to deal with major problems when they are addressed by the very top community leaders.

Efforts will be made to involve lay leaders who are members of the boards of Jewish schools, synagogues, and JCCs in the Commission's plan. Members of local federations will be made aware of the steps that have to be taken in their local communities in order to improve Jewish education.

The goal is clear. As one commissioner observed, a majority of community leaders must rally to the cause of Jewish education. "The chances are," he said, "that in 1980, only a few of these leaders thought Jewish education was the burning issue, many thought it was important, and the rest didn't spend much time thinking about it. In 1990, it may well be that there are significantly more community leaders who think that education is a burning issue, more who think it is important, and fewer who don't give it too much attention. The challenge is that by the year 2000, the vast majority of these community leaders should see Jewish education as the burning issue and the rest should think it is important. When this is achieved," the commissioner concluded, "money will be available to finance the massive program envisioned by the Commission."

Increased Funding for Jewish Education

The revitalization of Jewish education will require a substantial increase in funding -- to raise teachers' salariess and benefits, to provide new positions, to increase the faculty of training institutions, to provide fellowships for students, and to develop new training programs and expand in-service education.

Long-term support for Jewish education win be provided by current ^*M sources? twition income, congregational and organizational budgets, and fundraising, as well as by gradually increasing federation allocations. An exciting new development that holds great promise for the field is the serious entry of strong private foundations into Jewish education. This is unprecedented. A number of foundations, some represented on the Commission, have decided to invest substantial sums in Jewish

1 TW-? Crs mont to deal with the

have already begun to do so. Some will

education and indeed afe alteady doifig so. They have agreet to

support specific elements of the Commission's action plan. Also, many elements of the Commission's action plan. Also, many elements of the Winner at the superior of the Winner at the superior of the Winner at the superior of the superior

infaitiveet, will be encourageth to support key aspects of this plan.

to Wailp svire a o/mal start to new carable

Changing the Community's Attitude toward Jewish Education in North The very creation of the Commission on Jewish Education in North America in 1988 -- which brought together for the first time scholars, community leaders, educators, heads of family foundations, and the leaders of the Orthodox, Conservative, Reconstructionist, and Reform Movements ---signaled the readiness of the Jewish community to join together in a massive effort to reform Jewish education. Over a twoyear period, its deliberations have themselves helped to create a climate in which major change can take place.

A potential base of larger support in communities in North America is evidenced by a number of local commissions on Jewish education// continuity that have been established in the past few years (there are already more than 10 such commissions). The important work being done by the JCC Association through its Commission on Maximizing the Jewish Educational Effectiveness of Community Centers demomstrates the results that can be achieved when community support is galvanized. The regional conferences recently organized by JESNA ---which will culminate in a continental conference =--jis heightening community awareness of the crucial significance of Jewish education to meaningful Jewish continuity. The Commission Areport will inform all segments of the Jewish community that Jewish education will be undergoing a period of genuine revitalization. It will be given widespread distribution so that Jewish leadership throughout the country will be aware that this plan is not just another symbolic gesture or limited endeavor, but is the initiation of a broadscale effort. The report will be made available to members of the boards of congregations and schools, and to leadens of all Jewish religious, educational, social, and communal organizations.

As the plan developed by the Commission gets under way, a continuing flow of information will inform community leaders about the progresss being made. Communications through all available channels will be sustained in the months and years ahead concerning the implementation of the programs.

Seminars and conferences will be organized for community leaders to acquaint them with the many different aspects of the plan that are being carried out. It will be important for them to be aware of the role they can play in helping to build a profession of Jewish education.

The Commission has decided to continue its exts deficet and to meet My bC once a year at when time it will issue an update to inform the Jewish community on the progress of its plan. These annual reports will also be widely distributed to important sectors of the Jewish community.

Council for histication on Jeruide Education

III: Establishing Lead Communities

Many of the activities described above for the building of a profession of Jewish educators and the development of community support will take place on a continental level. However, the plan also calls for intensified local efforts.

Local Laboratories for Jewish Education

Three to five model communities will be established to demonstrate what can happen when there is an infusion of outstanding personnell into the educational system, when the importance of Jewish education is recognized by the community and its leadership, and when the necessary funds are secured to meet additional costs.

These models will be called "Iland Communities," because their acMaxementariwill serve a leadership function for other communities throughout North America. They will become laboratories in which to discover the educational practices and policies that work best. They will become the testing places for "best practices" -- exemplary or excellent programs -- in all fields of Jewish education.

Each of the Lead Communities will engage in the process of redesigning and improving the delivery of Jewish education through a wide array of intensive programs.

Selection of Lead Communities

Getting Statted

Fundamental to the success of the Lead Communities will be the commitment of the community and its key stakeholders to this endeawor. The community must be willing to set high educational standards, raise additional funding for education, involve all or most of its educational institutions in the program, and thereby become a model for the rest of the country. Because the initiative will come from the community itself, this will be a "bottom-up" rather than a "top-dowm" effort.

A number of cities have already expressed their interest, and these and other cities will be considered. The goal will be to choose those that provide the strongest prospects for success. An analysis will be made of the different communities that have offered to participate in the program, and criteria will be developed for the selection of the sites.

Once the Lead Communities are selected, a public announcement will be made so that the Jewish community as a whole will know the program is under way.

Antong'the first steps to be taken in each Lead Community with the ereation git a local planning committee consisting of the leaders of the organized Jewish community, rabbis, educators, and lay leaders in all the organizations involved in Jewish education. They will prepare a report on the state of Jewish education in their community. Based on their findings, a plan of action Will be developed that addresses the

specific educational needs of the community, including recommendations for new programs.

An inventory of best educational practices in North America will be prepared as a guide to Lead Communities (and eventually made available to the Jewish community as a whole). Each local school, community center, summer camp, youth program, and Israel experience program in the Lead Communities will be encouraged to select elements from this inventory. After deciding which of the best practices they will adopt, the community will develop the appropriate training program so that these can be introduced into the relevant institutions. An important function of the local planning group will be to monitor and evaluate these innovations and to study their impact.

The Lead Communities will be a major testing ground for the new sources of personnel that will be developed. They will be a prime target for those participating in the Fellows program as well as the Jewish Education Corps. In fact, while other communities around the country will reap the benefits of these programs, the positive effects will be most apparent in the Lead Communities.

The injection of new personnel into a Lead Community will be made for several purposes: to introduce new programs; to offer new services, such as family education; and to provide experts in areas such as the teaching of Hebrew, the Bible, and Jewish history. By recruiting people from these and other sources, the Lead Communities will be able to effect a major change in the quality of Jewish education. The experience will also provide an opportunity for newly recruited educators to participate in this historic endeavor.

Thus Lead Communities will serve as pilot programs for continental efforts in the areas of recruitment, the improvement of salaries and benefits, the development of ladders of advancement, and generally in the building of a profession.

IV. Developing a Research Capability

A research capability for Jewish education in North America will be developed takeneate the theoretical and practical knowledge base that is indispensable for change and improvement. A comprehensive, longrange research agenda will be outlined by thebesthtnikkefts on fike contifient. It will involve options studies were scholars and practitioners can think together systematically about the goals, the content, and the methods of Jewish education. It will include procedures for the evaluation of each component of the Commission's plan and the gathering of new information concerning the state of Jewish education generally.

The research will be carried out by professional research organizations and by departments at universities, as well as by individual scholars. Research The-results will be disseminated throughout the Jewish community for use in short-term and long-term planning. Data on Lead Communities will be analyzed to ensure that their individual programs are educationally sound and are meeting with success.

V: Establishing the Council for Initiatives in Jewish Education

A new entity, the **Council for Initiatives in Jewish Education**, will be created to see to it that the plan of the Commission is implemented, both on continental and local levels.

The Council will be a significant enterprise but modest in size organizatz a - \hat{f} if tionally. It will not be estublished as a direct service provider rondisi place any existing institutions or organization? Howill instead operate as a catalytic agent, working through the efforts of others -- JESNA, JCC Association, CJF, the institutions of higher Jewish learning, the demominational departments of education? and the professional educational organizations. No existing organization plays this role today in Jewish education.

To carry out its mission, the Council will be a strong advocate on behalf of Jewish education. It will develop comprehensive planning programs and experimental initiatives for the two building blocks -- personnel and community -- to achieve breakthroughs in Jewish education. It will designate the Lead Communities and work with them to initiate their programs.) It will provide a setting in which creanive people in institu-

It will stimulate the development & a research] capability for Jenish "education in North America tions, organizations, and foundations can work together to develop new undertakings in Jewish education.

The Council will be an independent body. Its Board of Trustees will be drawn firom among the leaders of the foundation community, continental lay leaders, outstanding Jewish educators, and leading Jewish scholars. The initial annual operating budget of the Council will cover the cost of staff and facilities to carry out its work.

Spreading the Word: The Diffusion of Innovation

Another major function of the Council will be to set up a process whereby communities around the country will be able to learn, adapt, and replicate the ideas, findings, and results of the Lead Communities. In this phase of the Council's work, continental organizations -- espedally JESNA, JCC Association, CJF, and the denominations -- will play a critical role, since they will provide the means by which this process can be effected.

The Council will encourage these organizations to develop procedures that will accomplish this objective through published reports, seminars, editorial coverage in the Jewish and general media, on-site visits to Lead Communities by community leaders and educators, and eventually through training programs for community leaders around the country.

As Lead Community programs begin to bear fruit, plans will be deweloped by the Council to establish new Lead Communities. At the end of the first five years, it is expected that the initial Lead Communities will have matured and developed a momentum of their own towards a continually improving educational system. By that time, another three or four Lead Communities may be added to the plan. These communities will be able to move forward at a more rapid pace, based on what is learned in the first communities.

The process of adding new communities should be a continuing one, so that in time there will be a growing network of active participants in the program. It also may be possible to establish a new category of Lead Communities that will function as associates of the original communities. This program will thus have a ripple effection and the goes on, be extended into an increasing number of communities throughout North America.

CHAPTER 5: A TIME TO ACT

During the two-year process of working out the details of a blueprint for the future, an underlying question surfaced from time to time as to whether ---in the present environment -- even the most successful achievement in Jewish education could make a fundamental difference in the outlook of a new generation of Jews.

It was clear that there continues to be a core of deeply committed Jews whose very way of life ensures meaningful Jewish continuity from generation to generation; however, the <u>entire</u> thrust of the Commisssion's thinking was directed at the much larger segment of the Jewish population which is finding it increasingly difficult to define its future in terms of Jewish values and behavior.

1

The commissioners realized that there was no way to guarantee that education is going to resolve this issue for the majority of Jews today. But it is also clear that education is the only means by which this goal can be achieved. The same is true in other fields of human endeavor. Thus, while there is no guarantee that the medical profession will find the cure to all diseases, we know that without effective hospitals, welltrained doctors, and systematic medical research, it will not be possible to achieve any progress in health care. Similarly, without effective educational institutions, outstanding educators, and the meaningful presentation of the great ideas of the Jewish tradition, it will not be possible to bring about a deepening involvement of Jews with Judaism. Perhaps the most important question the Commission faced was: How seriously can the Jewish community in North America be committed at this time to such a mission? The Commission case confident that the blueprint is developed was realistic and could, indeed, provide the foundation for a new era in Jewish education. However, results could only be achieved if there was the will and determination to make an enormous investment of resources and energies in the decades ahead. At the conclusion of their deliberations, the commissioners were comvinced that the will is there and that the time to act is now.

As the commissioners evolved their ambitines plan for the future, they hopeful that a became increasingly excited about the wide range of educational possibilities that would arise once the building blocks were firmly established. They foresaw a time when the field would attract some of the most creative Jewish minds of our era, bringing entirely new approaches to education.

One of the most dramatic opportunities for future development discussed during the Commission's meetings is in the area of telecommunications. The anormous success of recent television programs of Jewish content on both public and commercial networks is a clear indication of the vast potential of this new field. The explosion of cable television suggests that one day it may be possible with the flick of a dial to tune in to programs of Jewish dance, music, drama, interviews with Jewish writers and political figures, and to receive daily programs from Israel. Indeed a new "electronic village," as described by one'sf



Vil

the commissioners, will in the near future enable Jews of all ages to interact with many aspects of their Jewish heritage on a continuing basis.

Many other technological developments -- such as the use of computers, video disk technology, multi-media exhibitions -- will provide a framework in which great educators can communicate with vast audiences. This will be particularly significant in regard to that segment of the Jewish population which is not involved in organized Jewish life.

Equally impressive developments will take place in other programmatic areas as the Commission of plan gets under way. The infusion of educational institutions, such as schools and community centers, with new energy and the expansion of educational programs in other institutions such as museums and libraries, will open up new vistas for Jewish education.

The timeliness of this whole endeavor was dramatized by the great upheavals that are taking place on the world stage and in Jewish life -communist dictatorships are being supplanted in Eastern Europe, the U.S. and the U.S.S.R. are moving towards a reduction of armaments and tensions, a great exodus is taking place of Jews from the Soviet Union to Israel.

The Commission's work was not occasioned by any of these historic developments, but is was not immune to their impact. They gave even

<u>5</u>2

the Commission

gneater weight to its purpose, for it is the values and learning central to Jewish education that bind our people together around the globe) and make us sensitive to the repercussions of external events. It is these values and this learning from which Jews in the Soviet Union have been cut off for generations," and fon which they are now thirsting. Njofth American Jewish communities are also awakening to their own need to provide these underpinnings for themselves and their children.

Ultimately, the Commission recognized as it completed its work that the measure of its achievement would be the degree to which its program would enable contemporary Jews to fulfill the biblical injunction: "And these words, which I command thee this day, shall be upon thime heart; and thou shalt teach them diligently unto thy children, and shalt talk of them when thou sittest in thine house, and when thou walkest by the way, and when thou liest down, and when thou risest up."

(Deuteronamy 6:4-9)

APPENDIX A;

MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

<u>Mona Riklis Ackerman</u> (Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Dr. Ackerman is a clinical psychologist and President of the Riklis Family Foundation. She is active in UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York and American Friends of Rechov Sumsum.

<u>Ronald Appleby</u> (Q.C.), Toronto, Ontario -- Mr. Appleby is Chairman of the law firm of Robins, Appleby & Taub, involved mainly in business income tax consultations; he speaks and writes regularly on this subject. He is active in many civic and Jewish causes, including the Toronto Jewish Comgress, Jewish National Fund, Council of Jewish Federations, and United Jewish Appeal.

<u>David Arnow</u> (Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Dr. Arnow is a psychologist, North America*Chair of the New Israel Fund, and Chair of the UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York Subcommittee on Governance.

<u>Mandel L. Berman</u>. Southfield, MI -- Mr. Berman is formerly President of Dreyfus Development, a real estate development company. He is immediate past Chairman of the Skillman Foundation, President of the Council of Jewish Federations, and a past President of the Detroit Federation. He served as Chairman of the American Association of Jewish Education and is Honorary Chairman of JESNA. He is a member of the Board of the Dreyfus Corporation.

Jack Bieler (Rabbi), Silver Spring, MD -- Rabbi Bieler is Coordinator of High School Judaic Studies and Lead Teacher at the Hebrew Academy of Greater Washingtom. He has served as Chairman of the Talmud Department at the Joseph H. Lookstein Upper School of Ramaz, Permanent Scholar-in-Residence of Congregation Kehilath Jeshurun, and is a Jerusalem Fellow.

<u>Charles R. Bronfman</u>. Montreal, Quebec -- Mr. Bronfman is Co-Chairman and Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Seagram Company, Ltd., Chairman of the CRB Foundation, President of UIA Canada, and Honorary Chairman of Canada-Israel Securities, Ltd. He is active in many other civic and Jewish causes.

american

John C. Colman. Glencoe, IL -- Mr. Colman is a private investor and business consultant. He is a member of the Executive Committee of the American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee, President of the Jewish Federation of Metropolitan Chicago, Chairman of the Center for Social Policy Studies in Israel, and is active in a wide variety of Jewish and general institutions.

<u>Maurice S. Corson</u> (Rabbi, D.D.), Columbus, OH -- Rabbi Corson is President of the Wexner Foundation. He was a Director of the Jewish Community Relations Council of Philadelphia, Executive Director of the United Israel Appeal of Canada, and Associate Director of Development for B'nai B'rith International. He is active in many Jewish and civic causes. Prior to entering the field of communal service, Rabbi Corson served as a congregational rabbi in Baltimore, Maryland; Ventnor, New Jersey; and Seattle, Washingtom.

Lester Crown. Chicago, IL -- Mr. Crown is President of Henny Crown and Company, Chairman of the Board of Material Service Corporation, and Executive Vice-President of General Dynamics. He has served as Chairman of the Board of the Jewish Theological Seminary of America.

<u>David Dubin</u>. Tenafly, NJ -- Mr. Dubin is Executive Director of the Jewish Community Center on the Palisades and author of several articles in <u>The Journal of Jewish Communal Serv-</u> ice on Jewish education within Jewish community centers.

<u>Stuart E. Eizenstat</u>. Washington, D.C. -- Mr. Eizenstat practices law in Washington, D.C. and teaches at the Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. He was Director of the Domestic Policy Staff at the White House under the Carter Administration. He is President of the Jewish Community Center of Greater Washington and Honorary Vice President of the American Jewish Committee.

Joshua Elkin (Rabbi, Ed.D.), Newton, MA "- Rabbi Elkin is Headmaster of the Solomon Schechter Day School of Greater Boston, Newton, Massachusetts. He has taught in the Jewish Education concentration of the Hornstein Program in Jewish Communal Service at Brandeis University and is a Jerusalem Fellow.

<u>Eli N. Evans</u>. New York, NY -- Mr. Evans is President of the Charles H. Revson Foundation which supports programs in urban affairs, Jewish and general education, and biomedical research policy. He has written two books on the history of Jews in the American South. <u>Irwin S. Field.</u> Cerritos, CA -- Mr. Field is President of Liberty Vegetable Oil and Director of Luz International, Ltd. He is Vice-Chairman of the Jewish Federation of Los Angeles and a past National Chairman of the United Jewish Appeal, He serves many other national and international organizationsT

Vis formaing)

Max M. Fisher. Detroit, MI -- Mr. Fisher wath Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Jewish Agency for Israel, President of the Council of Jewish Federations, and President of the United Jewish Appeal. He was Chairman of United Brands Company and has been involved with many other corporations and civic and Jewish organizations.

Alfred Gottschalk (Rabbi, Ph.D.), Cincinnati, OH --Dr. Gottschalk is President of the Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion and Professor of Bible and Jewish Religious Thought. He is founder of the School of Jewish Communal Service and Chairman of the Academic Committee of the U.S. Holocaust Memorial Council. He also serves as Vice-President of the World Union for Progressive Judaism. He has written extensively on education and Jewish intellectual history.

<u>Arthur Green</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), Wyncote, PA ---Dr. Green is President of the Reconstructionist Rabbinical College and the author of many books and articles, including <u>Tormented</u> <u>Master: A Life of Rabbi Nahman of Bratslav.</u>

Irving Greenberg (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Rabbi Greenberg is President and co-founder of CLAL: the National Jewish Center for Learning and Leadership. He founded and chaired the Department of Judaic Studies at City College. He has taught and written widely on Jewish thought and religion and is author of The Jewish Way (New Yorka)988).

Joseph S. Gruss. New York, NY -- Mr. Gruss is former head of Gruss & Company. He established the Fund for Jewish Education in New York in association with UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies. He has provided full medical and financial support to Jewish educators, grants to 400 Jewish Day Schools and Yeshivot and to community organizations dedicated to Jewish outreach, and funds for school building renovations. He supports Jewish educators through scholarships for high school and college students.

<u>Rohert I. Hiller</u>. Baltimore, MD =- Mr. Hiller is a consultant to nonprofit organizations and President of the Zamwyl Krieger Fund. He has been Chief Professional Officer of the Council of Jewish Federations and the Jewish Federations in Pittsburgh and Baltimore.
<u>David Hirschhorn</u>. Baltimore, MD -- Mr. Hirschhorm is Vice-President of American Trading and Production Corporation. He is active in national and local Jewish communal affairs, including Jewish education in Baltimore.

<u>Carol.K. Ingall.</u> Providence, RI -- Mrs. Ingall is Executive Director of the Bureau of Jewish Education of Rhode Island and curriculum consultant to the Melton Research Center of the Jewish Theological Seminary of America.

<u>Ludwig Jesselson</u>. New York, NY -= Mr. Jesselson has served as Chairman of Philipp Brothers, Inc., is Chairman of the Board of Governors of Bar Ilan University, and is Chairman of the Board of Yeshiva University.

<u>Henry Koschitzky</u>. Toronto, Ontario -- Mr. Koschitzky, a former Rhodes Scholar, is President of Iko Industries, Ltd. He has served as Chairman of the Board of Jewish Education in Toronto.

<u>Mark Lainer</u>. Encino, CA -- Mr. Lainer is an attorney and real estate developer. He is an officer of the Jewish Federation of Los Angeles and Vice-President of JESNA. He was founding President of Abraham Joshua Heschel Day School, Vice-President of Education at Temple Valley Beth Sholom, Encino, and Chairman of the Bureau of Jewish Education of Los Angeles.

<u>Norman Lamm</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY --Dr. Lamm is President of Yeshiva University, founder of <u>Tradition</u> magazine, and the author of many books, including <u>Torah Umadda</u>: <u>The Encounter of Religious Learning and Worldly Knowledge in</u> <u>the Jewish Tradition</u>. He was a member of the President's Commission on the Holocaust and lectures extensively on Judaism, law, and ethics.

<u>Sara S. Lee</u>. Los Angeles, CA "- Mrs. Lee is Director of the Rhea Hirsch School of Education at Hebrew Union College in Los Angeles and President of the Association of Institutions of Higher Learning in Jewish Education. She is a frequent contributor to conferences and publications on Jewish education.

<u>Sevmour Martin Lipset</u> (Ph.D.), Stanford, CA -- Professor Lipset is the Caroline S.G. Munro Professor of Political Science and Sociology and Senior Fellow at the Hoover Institution at Stanford University. He has been co-editor of <u>Public</u> <u>Opinion</u> and author of many books, including <u>Political Man</u> and <u>The Polities of Unreason</u>. Haskel Lookstein (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Rabbi Lookstein is Principal of Ramaz School and Rabbi of Congregation Kehilath Jeshurun. He teaches at Yeshiva University and has served in leadership roles with the National Rabbinic Cabinet of UJA, the New York Board of Rabbis, the Coalition to Free Soviet Jews, and the UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York.

<u>Robert E. Loup.</u> Denver, CO -- Mr. Loup is a real estate developer. He is life President of the Allied Jewish Federation of Denver, past National Chairman of CLAL, a member of the Board of Governors of the Jewish Agency, and past National Chairman of the United Jewish Appeal.

Morton L. Mandel. Cleveland, OH -- Mr. Mandel is Chairman of the Board of Premier Industrial Corporation. Hejfounded and chaired the Commission on Newish Education in North America. He has been Pressident of the JCC-of Cleveland, the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland, the Council of Jewish Federations, and the JCC Association.

<u>Matthew J. Maryles</u>. New York, NY -- Mr. Maryles is a Managing Director of Oppenheimer & Company, Inc., a New York investment banking firm. He is former President of Yeshiva of Flatbush, Chairman of the Fund for Jewish Education, and an active Board Member of UJA/Federation of Jewish Philamthropies of New York.

Florence Melton, Columbus, OH -= Mrs? Melton is the founder of the R.G. Bardy Corporation, where she serves as Design Consultant. She has served on the Board of Huntingtom National Bank, Columbus, and is an inventor who holds a number of patents. Through her philanthropic efforts, she has initiated numerous innovative projects in Jewish and secular education, including a research project at Ohio State University designed to increase the self-image of juniorizing is school children. She has served on mamy national/education boards.

<u>Donald R. Mintz</u>. New Orleans, LA -- Mr. Mintz is a senior partner of Sessions & Fishman and a Professor at Tulame University Law School. He was President of the Jewish Federation of Greater New Orleans and is the immediate past theory President of Jewish Community Centers Association of North America (formerly JWB).

update

replace

Lester Pollack. New York, NY == Mr. Pollack is a General Partner of Lazard Freres & Company, Chief Executive Officer of Centre Partners, and Senior Managing Director of Corporate Partners. He is President of the JCC Association and Vice-President of UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York.

Charles Ratner. Cleveland, OH -- Mr. Ratner is Executive Vice-President of Forest City Enterprises, Inc. He is Vice-President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland, Chairman of the Cleveland Commission on Jewish Continuity, and Chairman of the Cleveland Jewish Welfare Fund campaign. He is also active in other civic and Jewish organizations.

Esther Leah Ritz. Milwaukee, WI -- Mrs. Ritz has been President of the JCC Association and Vice-President of the Council of Jewish Federations. She is past President of the Milwaukee Jewish Federation and has served on the boards of the Shalom Hartman Institute, JDC, HIAS, UJA, CLAIL, and the Wurzweiller School of Social Work.

<u>Harriet L. Rosenthal.</u> South Orange, NJ -- Mrs. Rosenthal is a Vice-President of the JCC Association. She was a delegate of the National Council of Jewish Women to the Conference of Presidents and serves on the Board of the National Conference on Soviet Jewry.

<u>Alwin I. Schiff</u> (Ph.D.), New York, NY "- Dr. Schiff is Executive Vice-President of the Board of Jewish Education of Greater New York, a much-published author, editor of <u>Jewish</u> <u>Education</u>, former Professor of Jewish Education and head of the Graduate Department of Education at Yeshiva University, and past President of the Council for Jewish Education.

<u>Ismar Schorsch</u> (Rabbi, Ph.D.), New York, NY -- Dr. Schorsch is Chancellor and Professor of Jewish History at the Jewish Theological Seminary of America. He has served as President of the Leo Baeck Institute and has published in the area of European Jewish history.

<u>Daniel S. Shapiro</u>. New York, NY -- Mr. Shapiro is a partner in Schulte, Roth & Zabel. He has served as President of the Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York and Vice-President of the Council of Jewish Federations. Margaret W. Tishman. New York, NY -- Mrs. Tishman was the first President of the Combined UJA/Federation of Jewish Philanthropies of New York from 1986-89. She has served in leadership roles with the Jewish Community Relations Council of New York, the Jewish Theological Seminary, Yeshiva Umiversity, and the Jewish Home and Hospital for the Agedy of * which she is a past Vice Pfestdurnt. She is a past President of the Central Bureau for the Jewish Agemcy. She is a Director of the Jewish Agency for Israel, the American Jewish Joint Distribution Committees the Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society/attd Sgrves of Hvaffous Committees, both-in-New Wofk and iff-Israel

Isadore Twersky (Rabbí, Ph.D.), Cambridge, MA -- Professor Twersky is Nathan Littauer Professor of Hebrew Literature and Philosophy and Director of the Center for Jewish Studies at Harvard University. Author of numerous scholarly books and studies in Jewish philosophy and law, he is also Rabbi of the Talner Bet Midrash in Brookline, Massachusetts.

Bennett Yanowitz. Cleveland, OH "- Mr. Yanowitz is a principal in the firm of Kahn, Kleinman, Yanowitz, and Armson. He is immediate past President of Jewish Education Service of North America (JESNA). He has served as Vice-President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland and Chairman of the National Jewish Community Relations Advisory Council.

APPENDIX B:

STAFF AND CONSULTANTS TO THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

top

Walter Ackerman -- Shane Family Professor of Education of Ben Gurion University of the Negev. He has served as a consultant to the Jewish Education Committee of both the Jewish Agency and the Joint Distribution Committee and as a member of the faculty of the Jerusalem Fellows.

Estelle Alberg -

David Ariel — President and Associate Professor at the Cleveland College of Jewish Studies. Has taught at Weslayam University and is the author of a book on Jewish mysticism.

<u>Isa Aron</u> - Associate Professor of Jewish Education at the Rhea Hirsch School of Education at Hebrew Union College in Los Angeles.

Arveh Davidson --

David Finn ---

<u>Joel Fox</u> - Campaign Director at the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland, where he was previously Director of Social Planning and Research. Involved in planning and initial implementation of the program of Cleveland's Commission on Jewish Continuity.

Seymour Fox ==

<u>Mark Gurvis</u> -- Director of Social Planning and Research at the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland. He is a professional director of Cleveland's Commission on Jewish Continuity.

Annette Hochstein ---

<u>Stephen H. Hoffman</u> -- Executive Vice-President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland.

Michael Inbar ---

Martin S. Kraar -- Executive Vice-President of the Council of Jewish Federation (CJF) since November 1989. Previously served as Executive Vice-President of the Jewish Welfare Federation of Detroit and Director General of the OJF Israel Office.

<u>Virginia F. Levi</u> -- Program Director, Premier Industrial Foundation. Previously Staff Associate to the President, Case Western Reserve University, and Associate Director of Admissions, Oberlin College.

Debra Markovic -- Holds a Master's Degree in Education at the University of Judaism in Los Angeles.

Debbie Meline --

Dena Merriam --

Arthur J. Naparstek -- Professor of Social Work, Mandel School of Applied Social Sciences, Case Western Reserve University, where he previously served as Deam. Has consulted with several Presidential Commissions and Congressional Committees on legislation aimed at improving conditions in America's cities.

Bruce Phillips "- Professor of Jewish Communal Service, Hebrew Union College in Los Angeles.

Joseph Reimer "- Assistant Professor, Hornstein Program in Jewish Communal Service, Brandeis University. Has consulted with several foundations involved in Jewish and general education and done award-winning research in the field of moral development.

Bernard Reisman -

<u>Arthur Rotman</u> -- Executive Vice-President, Jewish Community Centers Association of North America (JCC Association)) and President, World Conference of Jewish Communal Service.

Israel Scheffler --

Carmi Schwartz --

<u>Herman D. Stein</u> -- University Professor and Provost Emeritus, Case Western Reserve University, and Dean Emeritus, Mandel School of Applied Social Sciences. Senior Advisor, Center for Social Policy Studies in Israel. Former Chairman, Professional Advisory Committee, AJDC. <u>Jonathan Woocher</u> -- Executive Vice-President of the Jewish Education Service of North America (JESNA). Formerly Associate Professor in the Benjamin S. Hornstein Program in Jewish Communal Service and Director of the Program in Continuing Education for Jewish Leadership at Brandeiss University.

<u>Henry L. Zikker</u> -- Director of Commission on Jewish Education in North America and Consultant to the Mandel Associated Foundations. Served as Executive Director and Executive Vice-President of the Jewish Community Federation of Cleveland from 1948 to 1975.

APPENDIX C:

PAPERS COMMISSIONED FOR THE COMMISSION ON JEWISH EDUCATION IN NORTH AMERICA

Ackerman, Walter. "The Structure of Jewish Education in North America," 1990.

Aron, Isa. "Towards the Professionalization of Jewish Teaching," 1990.

Aron, Isa, and Bruce Phillips. "Findings of the Los Angeles BJE Teacher Census," 1990 (unpublished).

Davidson, Aryeh. "The Preparation of Jewish Educators in North America: A Research Study," 1990.

Fox, Joel. "Federation-Led Community Planning for Jewish Education, Identity, and Continuity," 1989.

Gallup (Israel). "A Pilot Poll of the Jewish Population of the U.S.A.," May 1990 (unpublished).

Markovic, Debra and Isa Arom. "Studies of Personmell im Jewish Education: A Summary Report Prepared for the Commission on Jewish Education in North Amerika," 1990 (unpublished).

Reimer, Joseph. "The Synagogue as a Context for Jewish Education," 1990.

Reisman, Bernard. "Informal Education in North America," 1990.

Scheffler, Israel and Seymour Fox. "The Relationship between Jewish Education and Jewish Continuity," 1990.

Zueker, Henry L. "Community Organization for Jewish Education ---Leadership, Finance, and Structure," 1989.

APPENDIX D:

SOURCES AND REFERENCES

[Incomplete]

Aviad, Janet, ed. <u>Studies in Jewish Education</u>, vol. 3. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, 1988.

The Board of Jewish Education of Greater New York. <u>Jewish</u> <u>Supplementary Schooling: An Educational System in Need of</u> <u>Change</u>. NY: The Board of Jewish Education, 1988.

Carnegie Forum on Education and the Economy. <u>A Nation</u> <u>Prepared: Teachers for the 21st Century</u>, 1986.

Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. <u>An</u> <u>Imperiled Generation</u>. 1988.

Chazan, Barry, ed. <u>Studies in Jewish Education</u>, vol. 1. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, 1983.

Davis, Moshe. Memorandum on the university teaching of Jewish civillization, July 1988.

Della Pergola, Sergio and Nitza Genuth. "Jewish Education Attained in Diaspora Communities for 1970s." Research Report Number 2. The Institute of Contemporary Jewny: Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1983.

Dubb, Allie. "First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora 1981/2-1982/3: Canada." Research Report Number 5. The Institute of Contemporary Jewry: Hebrew University of Jenusalem, 1987.

Dubb, Allie and Sergio Della Pergola. "First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora 1981/2-1982/3." Research Report Number 4. The Institute of Conbtemporary Jewy, Project for Jewish Educational Statistics, and JESNA: Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1986.

Fishman, Sylvia Barack. Learning About Learning: Insights on Contemporary Jewish Education from Jewish Population Studies. Maurice and Marilyn Cohen Center for Modern Jewish Studies: Brandeis University, December 1987. Fox, Seymour. "Jewish Education," in: <u>The Future of the</u> <u>Jewish Community in North America</u>. D. Sadorsky, ed. Basic Books, 1973.

Fox, Seymour. "The Vitality of Theory in Schwabs' 'Conception of the Practical." <u>Curriculum Theory</u>. 1987.

Genuth, Nitza, Sergio Della Pergola, and Allie Dubb. "First Census of Jewish Schools in the Diaspora 1981/2-1982/3: International Summary." Research Report Number 3. The Institute of Contemporary Jewry: Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1985.

Goodman, Roberta and Ron Reynolds. "Field Notes." Consultation of 17 Jewish educators, members of CAJE, for the Commission on Jewish Education in North America, 1990.

Himmelfarb, Harold S. "Symposium on the Jewish School Teacher: Today and Tomonow." Jewish Education 55:1 (Spring 1987).

Himmelfarb, Harold S. and Sergio Della Pergola. "Enrollment in Jewish Schools in the Diaspora Late 1970s." Research Report Number 1. The Institute of Contemporary Jewry, Project of Jewish Education Statistics: The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, 1982.

Himmelfarb, Harold S. and Sergio Della Pergola (eds.)). Jewish Education Worldwide: Cross-Cultural Perspectives. NY: University Press of America, 1989.

Himmelfarb, Milton and David Singer. <u>American Jewish Year-book</u>, vols. 81-86. NY and Philadelphia: American Jewish Committee and the Jewish Publication Society, 1987-88.

Hochstein, Annette. "Senior Personnel for Jewish Education Progress Report -- December 1986." The Jewish Education Committee of the Jewish Agency, 1986 (unpublished).

The Holmes Group. <u>Tomorrow's Teachers: A Report of the</u> <u>Holmes Group</u>, Michigan: The Holmes Group, 1986.

JESNA. "Budgeting and Financing in Jewish Day Schools, 1984."

JESNA. "Budgeting and Financing in Jewish Supplementary Schools, 1983."

JESNA. "Statistical Highlights of Jewish Schooling in the U.S." <u>Trends</u> 11 (Spring 1986).

JWB. "Directory of Jewish Resident Camps," 1988.

Kosmin, Barry. "Contemporary American Jewry: Implications for Planning." North American Jewish Data Bank, Oceasional Paper 4 (June 1988).

Kosmin, Barry, Paul Ritterband, and Jeffrey Scheckner. "Jewish Population in the United States, 1986." <u>American</u> Jewish Yearbook 1987. vol. 87. NY: American Jewish Committee & Jewish Publication Society, 1987.

Liebman, Naomi. <u>Federation Allocations to Jewish Education</u> <u>1980-84</u>. NW: CJF Statistics Unit, 1985.

Liebman, Naomi. <u>Federation Allocations to Jewish Education</u> <u>1980-86</u>. NY: CJF Statistics Unit, 1986.

National Commission on Excellence in Education. <u>Meeting the</u> <u>Challenge of a Nation at Risk</u>. Cambridge, MA: USA Research, 1984,

National Commission on Excellence in Education. <u>A Nation at</u> <u>Risk: The Full Account</u>. Cambridge, MA: USA Research, 1984.

Reimer, Joseph. "The Great Family Debate: Implications for Jewish Education," 1990.

Rosenak, Michael, ed. <u>Studies in Jewish Education</u>, vol. 2. Jerusalem: The Magnes Press, 1984.

Schiff, Alvin I. <u>Contemporary Jewish Education: Issachar</u> <u>American Style</u>. NJ: Rossel Books, 1988.

Schiff, Alvin I. "Jewish Education at the Crossroads: The State of Jewish Education," 1983. Report prepared for the Joint Program for Jewish Education, in conjunction with CJF, JWB, and JESNA.

Ukeles, Jacob B. "Senior Educator: A Career Option for Jewish Studies Students." The Jewish Education Committee of the Jewish Agency, Publication Number 5, October 1987.

APPENDIX E: CONSULTATIONS AND MEETINGS

The staff of the Commission benefited from the advice of the commissioners and other experts. The experts participated in individual and group consultations. The following is a list of those individuals who generously gave of their time to participate in these consultations:

[Incomplete]

Dr. Robert Abramson		United Synagogue of America
Chaim Botwinick		UJA/Fatteration of Jewish Philanthropics of
		New York
Prof. Steven M. Cohen		Queens College of CUNY
Prof. David Cohn		Michigan State University
Prof. James Coleman		University of Chicago
Prof. Lawnence A. Cremin		Teachers College of Columbia University
Ör. Linda Darling-Hammond		Columbia University
Prof. Moshe Davis		International Center for the University Teaching of
		Jewish Civilization
Mrs. Sylwia Ettenberg		Jewish Theological Seminary of America
Dr. Paul Flexner	••	JESNA
Rabbi Paul Friedman	<i>=</i> =	United Synagogue of America
Alan Hoffman		The Hebrew University, Jerusalem
Dr. Steve Huberman		Jewish Federation Council of Greater Los Angeles
Dr. Leora Isaacs		JESNA
Mitchell Jaffe	-	JCC Association
Dr. Barry Kosmin		North American Jewish Data Bank
Prof. Hank Levin	=.	Stanford University
Dr. Zeev Mankowitz		Jerusalem Fellows
Prof. Daniel Pekarsky		University of Wisconsin
Arthur Rotman	=-	JCC Association
Leonard Rubin		JCC Association
Jeffrey Scheckner	z.,	CJF
Prof. Israel Scheffler	=_	Harvard University
Prof. Donald Schon	=	Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Prof. Theodore Sizer		Brown University
		r.

The following meetings were held in the United States and Israel:

- II. September 28, 1988, Jemsalam, Educators' Forum: Walter 'Ackenman, Barry Chazan, Seymour Fox, Annette Hochstein, Alan Hoffman, Barry Holtz, Avraham Infeld, Debbie Meline, David Resnick.
- 2. October 14, 1988, Boston CJP, Research Forum: Jack Bieler, Josh Elkin, Seymour Fox, Annette Hochstein, Sara Lee, Debbie Meline, Art Neparstek, Alvin Schiff, Barry Schrage, Jonathan Woocher.
- October 27, 1988, Jenusdem, Educators' Forum: Walter Ackerman, Barry Chazan, Sol Greenfield, Sam Heilman, Barry Holtz, Avraham Infeld, Jonathan Kestenbaum, Menachem Revivi, David Resnick, Don Scher.
- 4. Decomber 4-5, 1989, CAJE, Cleveliand: CAJE participants to write field notes -- Harlene Appelman, Ephraim Buchwald, Lynda Cohen, Lavey Darby, Elliot Dorph, Seymour Fox, Marvell Ginsburg, Robert Goodman, Jamet Harris, Charles Herman, Jo Kay, Earl Lefkowitz, Lemmy Matamky, Joseph Reimer, Ron Keynolds, Lifsa Schacter, Bobi Stern, Joy Wasserman, Gary Wexler, Ron Wolfson, Lois Zachary.
- December 4-5, 1989, Cleveland, Ressearch Romm: Hanan Alexander, Isa Aaron, Jack Bieler, Arych Davidson, Sharon Feinman-Nemser, Alan Hoffman, Barry Holtz, Michael Inbar, Alvin Schiff, Eliot Spack, Jonathan Woocher.

The following consultations took place:

- 1. Marsch 2, 1989: Sylvia Fishman, Art Naparstek, Joseph Reimer, Susan Shevitz, Larry Sternberg.
- 2. August 15, 1989, CADE, Seattle: Hanan Alexander, Mark Gurvis, Betsy Katz, Ron Reynolds, Elliot Spack.

APPENDIX F: ORDER FORM

[To be completed]

..

INSERT4 p.39

II. Mobilizing community support

A number of strategies will be developed to increase community support for Jewish education. Their aim's the to recruite top community leaders to the cause of Jewish education: raise Jewish education to the top of the communal agenda; create a positive environment for Jewish education; and provide substantially increased funding from federations, private family foundations and other sources.